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Preface
The Public Accounts of Alberta are prepared in accordance with the Financial Administration Act
and the Fiscal Planning and Transparency Act. The Public Accounts consist of the annual report of
the Government of Alberta and the annual reports of each of the 21 ministries.
The annual report of the Government of Alberta contains ministers’ accountability statements, the
consolidated financial statements of the province and the Measuring Up report, which compares
actual performance results to desired results set out in the government’s strategic plan.
This annual report of the Ministry of Municipal Affairs contains the minister’s accountability
statement, the financial information of the ministry and a comparison of actual performance
results to desired results set out in the ministry business plan. This ministry annual report
also includes:

•

the financial statements of entities making up the ministry including the Department of
Municipal Affairs, and provincial agencies for which the minister is responsible;

•

other financial information as required by the Financial Administration Act and Fiscal Planning
and Transparency Act, as separate reports, to the extent that the ministry has anything to
report; and

•

financial information relating to trust funds.
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Minister’s Accountability Statement
The ministry's annual report for the year ended March 31, 2020, was prepared under my direction
in accordance with the Fiscal Planning and Transparency Act and the government’s accounting
policies. All of the government's policy decisions as at July 6, 2020 with material economic or fiscal
implications of which I am aware have been considered in the preparation of this report.
[Original signed by]
Kaycee Madu, QC
Minister of Municipal Affairs
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Message from the Minister
It is impossible for me to reflect on the past year without
contemplating current events. I am, of course, referring to
the COVID-19 pandemic. This has been an unprecedented
time for our province, and I am proud of Albertans and the
countless ways they and their communities have come
together to tackle this emergency head-on. I’m also proud of
the way Municipal Affairs has risen to the challenge.
Our ability, at the provincial and municipal level, to deal
with the diverse and complex impacts of a pandemic and
continue to meet the needs of Albertans is a testament to
the excellent work carried out by my ministry over the
previous fiscal year.
Over those months, we strengthened the foundation of good
local governance, reduced red tape, enhanced public safety,
and invested in the infrastructure and systems essential to our daily lives.
This shared commitment to building strong communities, strategic planning, and hard work is
covered in detail in the Municipal Affairs 2019-20 Annual Report.
Our ministry has a wide and diverse range of responsibilities, and I am pleased with the progress
we have made and the milestones we’ve reached together with our many partners.
While I encourage you to read further to learn more about these shared achievements, I am pleased
to highlight some of that work.
Three activities especially stand out in my mind. The ministry revised the Government of Alberta
business continuity plan, and conducted an emergency management exercise in 2019 that involved
an influenza pandemic with prolonged business disruption. This specific exercise improved our
readiness to put that plan into action as we responded to the COVID-19 emergency. Finally, the
ministry, in conjunction with Alberta Health and our ministry partners, began early preparation
and planning through focused sessions of the Assistant Deputy Ministers’ and Deputy Ministers’
public safety committees. With a quick and efficient response co-ordinated by the Provincial
Operations Centre, our government has been able to focus on keeping Albertans safe and essential
services running.
Public safety is always important ongoing work for this ministry, with updating of building codes
and safety standards, and licensing of homebuilders. Recent work to reduce red tape and regulatory
burden improved municipalities’ and industry’s ability to carry out their respective duties. This
efficiency has served us well during the provincial state of public health emergency.
The past year has also seen many local governments finalize their intermunicipal collaboration
frameworks and advance shared plans to improve regional planning and service delivery. In times
like these, we depend on our friends and neighbours even more, and it is a reminder of how
meeting common needs together has tremendous value.
Our ministry’s support to public libraries over the past year has also been of particular benefit
during the pandemic. Investments made in internet access and the provision of digital content, such
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as ebooks and audio books to public libraries, has provided Albertans with sources of
entertainment, learning, and comfort during the required isolation.
Building upon the achievements detailed in this report, I am confident we will remain undaunted by
the challenges ahead as we draw upon our strength, agility, and resilience.
We know Alberta’s success lies in healthy, sustainable municipalities, and the pandemic has
reminded us we are all in this together.
[Original signed by]
Kaycee Madu, QC
Minister of Municipal Affairs
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Management’s Responsibility for Reporting
The Ministry of Municipal Affairs includes the Department of Municipal Affairs and the Safety Codes
Council. The ministry also includes the Special Areas Board and seven improvement districts, which
are accountable to the minister. An eighth improvement district, the Kananaskis Improvement
District, is administered by the Ministry of Environment and Parks.
The Department of Municipal Affairs consists of the Municipal Assessment and Grants Division, the
Municipal Services Division, the Technical and Corporate Services Division, the Alberta Emergency
Management Agency, the Municipal Government Board, the New Home Buyer Protection Board, the
Surface Rights Board, and the Land Compensation Board.
The executives of the individual entities within the ministry have the primary responsibility and
accountability for the respective entities. Collectively, the executives ensure the ministry complies
with all relevant legislation, regulations, and policies.
Ministry business plans, annual reports, performance results, and the supporting management
information are integral to the government’s fiscal and strategic plan, annual report, quarterly
reports, and other financial and performance reporting.
Responsibility for the integrity and objectivity of the accompanying ministry financial information
and performance results for the ministry rests with the Minister of Municipal Affairs. Under the
direction of the Minister, I oversee the preparation of the ministry’s annual report, including the
financial information and performance results. The financial information and the performance
results, of necessity, include amounts based on estimates and judgments. The financial information
is prepared using the government’s stated accounting policies, which are based on Canadian public
sector accounting standards. The performance measures are prepared in accordance with the
following criteria:

•

Reliability – information used in applying performance measure methodologies agrees with the
underlying source data for the current and prior years’ results.

•
•

Understandability – the performance measure methodologies and results are presented clearly.

•

Completeness – outcomes, performance measures and related targets match those included in
the ministry’s Budget 2019.

Comparability – the methodologies for performance measure preparation are applied
consistently for the current and prior years’ results.

As deputy minister, I am responsible for, in addition to program responsibilities, the ministry’s
financial administration and reporting functions. The ministry maintains systems of financial
management and internal control that give consideration to costs, benefits, and risks that are
designed to:

•

provide reasonable assurance that transactions are properly authorized, executed in
accordance with prescribed legislation and regulations, and properly recorded so as to maintain
accountability of public money;

•

provide information to manage and report on performance;

•

safeguard the assets and properties of the province under ministry administration;
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•

provide Executive Council, the President of Treasury Board and Minister of Finance, and the
Minister of Municipal Affairs the information needed to fulfill their responsibilities; and

•

facilitate preparation of ministry business plans and annual reports required under the Fiscal
Planning and Transparency Act.

In fulfilling my responsibilities for the ministry, I have relied, as necessary, on the executives of the
individual entities within the ministry.
[Original signed by]
Paul Wynnyk
Deputy Minister of Municipal Affairs
July 6, 2020
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Ministry Overview
Ministry of Municipal Affairs
Municipal Affairs assists municipalities in providing well-managed, accountable local government
to Albertans. The ministry also fosters stronger and safer communities across the province, and
enables local governments to facilitate Alberta’s economic prosperity.
The ministry consists of the Department of Municipal Affairs and the Safety Codes Council. The
ministry also includes the Special Areas Board and seven improvement districts, which are
accountable to the minister.
The Department of Municipal Affairs consists of the Municipal Assessment and Grants Division, the
Municipal Services Division, the Technical and Corporate Services Division, the Alberta Emergency
Management Agency, and four quasi-judicial boards – the Municipal Government Board, the New
Home Buyer Protection Board, the Surface Rights Board, and the Land Compensation Board.
Department of Municipal Affairs

Municipal Assessment and Grants Division

The Municipal Assessment and Grants Division administers municipal financial components, such
as provincial and federal grant programs directed at Alberta municipalities, the property
assessment system, and education property tax requisitions.
This division develops the policies and procedures for property assessment; reviews and audits
municipal property assessments; and prepares designated industrial property assessments,
comprised of linear and non-linear properties, for municipalities.
The division also administers the Municipal Sustainability Initiative and Federal Gas Tax Fund,
along with other grant programs; develops new grant programs such as the Local Government
Fiscal Framework; administers property tax programs; prepares equalized assessments for each
municipality; and administers the education property tax requisitioning program on behalf of the
province.

Municipal Services Division

The Municipal Services Division supports municipalities in meeting their mandate to provide
accountable and effective local government to the residents of Alberta. The division provides
support services and advice to municipalities in line with the ministry’s Municipal Sustainability
Strategy; manages the ministry’s primary legislation governing municipalities, including the
Municipal Government Act, the Local Authorities Election Act, and the Special Areas Act, and their
associated regulations; leads policy initiatives relating to municipal-provincial relations; and coordinates the ministry’s stakeholder relations with key municipal associations at major conferences
and regional meetings.
The division includes the Public Library Services Branch, which manages the Libraries Act, supports
the province-wide Public Library Network in the provision of library services and provides
operating funding to municipal and regional library system boards. Funding enables municipal and
regional libraries to share physical and electronic library resources across the province, with the
goal of equitable library access for all Alberta residents, including print-disabled Albertans and
Indigenous populations.

Technical and Corporate Services

The Technical and Corporate Services Division oversees a system of safety codes and standards,
provides guidance and advice to safety system partners, administers the Residential Protection
Program, and provides corporate support to the Department of Municipal Affairs.
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The division administers the Safety Codes Act, which establishes codes, standards, and
administrative processes in 10 disciplines: 1) building (including energy efficiency in buildings); 2)
fire; 3) plumbing; 4) gas; 5) electrical; 6) elevators; 7) amusement rides; 8) passenger ropeways
(e.g. ski lifts); 9) pressure equipment; and 10) barrier-free design.
To support the safety codes system, the division oversees:

•

the Safety Codes Council, which accredits municipalities, corporations, and agencies to
administer the Safety Codes Act and certifies safety codes officers;

•

the Alberta Boilers Safety Association;

•
•

the Alberta Elevating Devices and Amusement Rides Safety Association; and
the Petroleum Tank Management Association of Alberta.

The division supports safety codes system partners to carry out their responsibilities by providing
guidance and advice, including advising municipalities on safety code interpretations, and fire
departments on fire services. The division also works with government departments,
municipalities, Indigenous communities, and other stakeholders to:

•
•
•

promote fire and injury prevention;
support effective community risk-management; and
support volunteer search and rescue organizations by offering funding such as training grants.

The Residential Protection Program is responsible for overseeing and enforcing the New Home
Buyer Protection Act, which establishes regulatory requirements for mandatory new home
warranties and builder licensing.
The Business Planning and Integration area provides corporate support and helps the ministry
achieve its outcomes by providing information management; legislative and administrative
services; and strategic planning, reporting, and policy services.

Alberta Emergency Management Agency

The Alberta Emergency Management Agency works with emergency management partners to
provide a province-wide emergency management system that protects Albertans, their property,
and the environment against hazards. This includes co-ordinating emergency or disaster response
and recovery activities, and providing direct assistance to local authorities when required. The
Alberta Emergency Management Agency provides strategic policy direction and leadership through
the co-ordination of emergency management programs that include aspects of mitigation,
prevention, preparation, response, and recovery.
The Alberta Emergency Management Agency supports the continuous improvement of Alberta’s
emergency management system and assists with the development of sustainable emergency
management capabilities; emergency social services; emergency 911 support; and amateur
emergency radio operators in Alberta. The agency also collaborates with provincial, territorial,
federal, and international stakeholders to promote a comprehensive approach to emergency
management that enhances the safety of all Albertans.
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Quasi-judicial Boards
Municipal Government Board
The Municipal Government Board is an independent and impartial quasi-judicial tribunal that
conducts hearings on matters specified under the Municipal Government Act, including, land
planning, assessment complaints, and any other matter referred to it by the Minister of Municipal
Affairs or Lieutenant Governor in Council. Land-planning issues include subdivision appeals,
annexation recommendations, and intermunicipal disputes. Assessment complaints relate to
equalized assessment and designated industrial property (e.g., major plants and linear property
such as oil and gas wells, pipelines, railways, and power generation plants).
The board also supports assessment review boards across the province by assigning members to
hear and make decisions about municipal assessment complaints. Another function of the board is
to provide training and certification for assessment review board clerks and board members.
Members of the Municipal Government Board have extensive appraisal, assessment, legal, and landplanning expertise, which ensures all stakeholders receive fair, timely, and well-reasoned decisions.
New Home Buyer Protection Board
The New Home Buyer Protection Board – established under the New Home Buyer Protection Act –
hears appeals of decisions issued by the Residential Protection Program regarding: owner-builder
authorizations; hardship exemptions; status determinations; compliance orders; administrative
penalties; and builder licensing.
Surface Rights Board
The Surface Rights Board is a quasi-judicial administrative tribunal – established by the Surface
Rights Act – that conducts hearings on matters specified under the Act. These matters include right
of entry to the owner’s land; determination of compensation payable to the landowner for the
entry; and review of annual compensation, damages, and rental recovery in the event that an
operator fails to make payment.
The Surface Rights Board has an effective alternative dispute resolution program.
Land Compensation Board
The Land Compensation Board is a quasi-judicial board – established by the Expropriation Act – that
conducts hearings to determine whether expropriation should proceed when there is an objection
and where the expropriating authority is not the province or a municipality. For all expropriations
where there is no agreement between the parties, the board fixes compensation payable to
landowners and tenants.
Support Services

Financial Services

Financial Services is responsible for co-ordinating the budget, forecast, and reporting for the
ministry. Its responsibilities also include oversight and guidance on the financial internal controls,
expenditure officers, and contracting.

Human Resource Services

Human Resource Services is a resource provided by the Public Service Commission that plans,
develops, and delivers the department’s strategic human resource programs, as well as day-to-day
human resource services. Its responsibilities include promoting strategic human resource planning
in alignment with business goals and objectives, supporting the attraction and engagement of highcalibre staff, and building employee capacity to achieve business plan goals.
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Legal Services

Legal Services is a resource provided by the Ministry of Justice and Solicitor General that provides
legal services to the department’s divisions and associated boards. The branch’s responsibilities
include participating in special projects, reviewing legislation and regulations, offering legal advice
and written opinions, and preparing and reviewing legal documents.

Communications

The Communications Branch is a resource provided by Communications and Public Engagement in
the Ministry of Treasury Board and Finance. The branch provides strategic communications advice,
consulting services, and planning and communications support to the minister, deputy minister,
and ministry staff to communicate effectively with stakeholders, the media, and Albertans. The
branch also provides issues management, writing and editing, and media relations services.
Other Entities

The Safety Codes Council

The Safety Codes Council is a corporation established under the Safety Codes Act. The council’s
responsibilities include:

•

working with industry, municipalities, and other stakeholders through technical sub-councils to
review codes and standards and advise the minister on safety codes policy;

•

accreditation activities, including accrediting municipalities and corporations to administer the
Safety Codes Act in their jurisdictions – and accrediting agencies that can provide safety codes
officers to municipalities and corporations under contract;

•

overseeing permits and inspections in unaccredited municipalities through the Alberta Safety
Codes Authority;

•

certification activities, including training and certifying safety codes officers who enforce the
Act, and certifying master electricians; and

•

administering an appeals process for decisions made under the Act.

Special Areas Board

The Special Areas Board is appointed by the Lieutenant Governor in Council and is responsible for
the administration of 2.5 million acres of public land in southeast Alberta and the provision of
municipal services to residents of this rural region. The Special Areas Board applies landstewardship policies that are particularly suited to the sustainability of public lands in this
ecologically fragile part of the province.

Improvement Districts

Municipal Affairs provides limited municipal services in seven improvement districts, including:
Waterton Lakes National Park; Banff National Park; Jasper National Park; Elk Island National Park;
Wood Buffalo National Park; Willmore Wilderness Park; and Improvement District No. 349 (located
in northeastern Alberta). The Government of Alberta, through Municipal Affairs, manages all local
government functions – including the levy and collection of taxes – for the improvement districts,
unless a local council has been elected. An eighth improvement district, the Kananaskis
Improvement District, is administered by the Ministry of Environment and Parks.
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Delegated Administrative Organizations
Alberta Boilers Safety Association
The Alberta Boilers Safety Association is delegated to administer and deliver safety programs
related to boilers, pressure vessels, and pressure piping systems in Alberta. The association’s safety
codes officers review and register designs, conduct inspections, and issue permits. The association
also certifies pressure welders, inspectors, and power engineers for the operation of power or
heating boilers.
Alberta Elevating Devices and Amusement Rides Safety Association
The Alberta Elevating Devices and Amusement Rides Safety Association is delegated to administer
and deliver safety programs related to elevating devices, amusement rides, and passenger
ropeways (such as ski lifts). The association’s safety codes officers review and register designs,
conduct inspections, and issue permits.
Petroleum Tank Management Association of Alberta
The Petroleum Tank Management Association of Alberta is delegated to administer safety programs
related to petroleum storage tanks in Alberta. The association’s safety codes officers administer the
fire code for the registration, construction, operation, alteration, and removal of petroleum tanks.
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Executive Summary
In 2019‑20, the Ministry of Municipal Affairs delivered on the commitments in its 2019‑23 business
plan, and continued its day‑to‑day operations to support Albertans, Alberta municipalities, and
other stakeholders. The work of the ministry progressed as expected through the first three
quarters of the 2019-20 fiscal year. In the fourth quarter, a worldwide pandemic of coronavirus
disease 2019 (COVID-19) rose to the forefront, impacting Albertans, the economy, and the work of
governments at all levels. The response by governments across the world has been unprecedented,
and the disruption of ‘business as usual,’ profound.
Municipal Affairs’ efforts to address the COVID-19 pandemic included:

•

activating the Provincial Operations Centre to support Alberta Health as it leads the public
health emergency response;

•

establishing Alberta’s Pandemic Response Planning Team to address “whole-of-society” impacts
with focus areas on Albertans, industry, and the economy;

•

amending the Emergency Management Act in spring 2020 to provide greater clarity and
improved co-ordination between local and provincial pandemic response efforts and extend the
duration of local states of emergency to reduce the number of times a community would be
required to declare during a prolonged event; and

•

finding ways that local governments can continue to effectively govern and operate in a way
that adheres to public health guidelines and directives, while also ensuring an appropriate level
of transparency and access for the public, and identifying several legislated requirements that
can be deferred so local governments can focus on providing critical services to Albertans.

Progress was made on major initiatives and projects identified in the ministry’s 2019‑23 business
plan, including:

•

continuing to work with municipalities to advance greater intermunicipal collaboration in
regional planning and service delivery;

•
•
•

providing predictable, long-term infrastructure funding for municipalities;

•

supporting municipalities as they continue to strengthen municipal accountability and
transparency through the Municipal Accountability Program, the municipal inspection process,
and the introduction of a new annual Alberta Municipalities Measurement Index.

continuing to implement centralized industrial property assessment;
an ongoing review of programs and services to ensure the best possible outcomes are being
achieved for Albertans and businesses – including reducing red tape, regulatory burdens, and
unnecessary processes in order to encourage economic growth and job creation; and

Red Tape Reduction
In 2019-20, Municipal Affairs turned its focus to reducing red tape to ensure the ministry and the
province’s local governments are well-positioned to help deliver on the Government of Alberta’s
plan to reignite the economy, support job creators, and get Albertans working again.
Key work included the following:

•

Implementing a red tape reduction plan to ensure the ministry’s current and new regulations
are free of unnecessary red tape, as required by the Red Tape Reduction Act.

Municipal Affairs | Annual Report 2019–2020

15

Results Analysis

•

Enabling municipalities to foster economic growth by ensuring they have the tools to do so,
including facilitating pre-approved industrial zones and allowing municipalities to offer multiyear property tax incentives.

•

Streamlining regulatory requirements in municipal legislation and regulation that are
hampering administrative efficiencies for municipalities, to allow municipalities to be more
responsive to the needs of their residents and businesses.

•

Streamlining the Municipal Sustainability Initiative’s Operating program. Spending plans are no
longer required up front to receive payment of the operating allocations. Instead, municipalities
and Metis Settlements only need to report on how they used the funding.

Grant programs and municipal funding continued to be important elements of the ministry’s work.
In 2019-20, Municipal Affairs provided Alberta communities with funding through several different
programs, including:

•

$642 million in capital funding through the Municipal Sustainability Initiative Capital program,
including $347 million from the Basic Municipal Transportation Grant component;

•

$29 million in operational funding through the Municipal Sustainability Initiative Operating
program;

•

$11.9 million in funding through the Alberta Community Partnership program to support
municipalities with intermunicipal initiatives and capacity building;

•

$244 million in Federal Gas Tax Fund core funding, plus an additional $229.5 million in top-up
funding for a total of $473.5 million;

•
•

$8.7 million through the Small Communities fund; and
$41.7 million to 167 municipalities through the Grants in Place of Taxes program.

The ministry continued to implement centralized industrial property assessment. The transition is
in its third year and is expected to be completed in 2021. The benefits of centralized assessment are
being realized in incremental steps through improved efficiency, consistency, and fairness in
property assessments.
In advance of an assessment model review that is expected to reduce assessed values of shallow gas
wells, the ministry supported municipalities to reduce 2019 property taxes on shallow gas wells
and related pipelines by 35 per cent, which was offset with an education tax credit. This provided
urgently needed short-term relief to this sector, which supports jobs and investment in Alberta
communities.
Managing a safety system that ensures all Albertans are safe in their homes and communities is
another key element of Municipal Affairs’ business. This year, the ministry focused on reducing the
regulatory burden in the safety codes system without compromising public safety. For example, in
February 2020, Alberta worked with the National Research Council to develop and issue a
province-wide variance to allow for mass-timber building construction up to 12 storeys in height –
twice the height allowed by the current national and provincial building codes. This allowed
Alberta’s builders to construct taller mass-timber buildings, using upcoming national code
provisions, two construction seasons faster than they would under the automatic code adoption
process.
Making sure Alberta is ready for emergencies is another of the ministry’s objectives. It does this by:

•

working with and supporting communities as they improve emergency preparedness at a
community level;

16

Municipal Affairs | Annual Report 2019–2020

Results Analysis

•
•

continuing to train regionally-based All-Hazard Incident Management Teams;

•

assisting communities and Albertans to recover from disasters by administering disaster
financial assistance, providing disaster recovery co-ordination, and co-ordinating Government
of Alberta disaster expenditures;

•

strengthening the current business continuity and consequence management programs and
leading in the development of a provincial hazard and risk assessment and disaster resilience
strategy; and

•

ensuring the Provincial Operations Centre monitors the province 24-7 and is ready to facilitate
a government-wide response to emergencies and disasters.

providing online and in-person emergency management training to municipalities and through
public awareness campaigns;

The ministry’s four independent and impartial quasi-judicial tribunals (the Municipal Government
Board; the Surface Rights Board; the Land Compensation Board; and the New Home Buyer
Protection Board) continued to adjudicate on matters relating to land rights and property
ownership.
Going forward, it is expected that the government’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic will
continue to be at the forefront for at least the first half of the 2020-21 fiscal year.
Municipal Affairs will also continue to make progress on the outcomes identified in its 2020-23
business plan:

•

Albertans live in viable municipalities and communities with fiscally responsible, collaborative,
and accountable local governments.

•
•

Alberta’s economic prosperity is facilitated by local governments.

•
•

Alberta is emergency-ready and resilient.

Albertans are protected with safe buildings, homes, and communities.
Albertans receive fair, timely, and well-reasoned decisions from the ministry’s quasi-judicial
boards.
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Discussion and Analysis of Results
Outcome One: Albertans live in viable municipalities and communities with fiscally
responsible, collaborative, and accountable local governments

Key Objectives
1.1

Work with municipalities to strengthen regional planning and service delivery through
a number of regional governance mechanisms, such as intermunicipal collaboration
frameworks and growth management boards.

Municipalities are facing many of the same external pressures as the Government of Alberta,
including the need to do more with less in the current fiscal climate. Local governments must take a
hard look at whether residents are receiving the best value for property tax dollars, and review
programs and services to find efficiencies and create financial sustainability.
Municipal Affairs continues to work with municipalities and advocate for greater intermunicipal
collaboration in regional planning and service delivery. Through shared regional service delivery
and co-operation, municipalities are capable of delivering sustainable and high-quality services to
their residents by leveraging economies of scale to improve efficiency. Through regional planning
initiatives, growth along municipal boundaries can be co-ordinated and planned in a manner that
encourages sustainable communities, protects high-quality agricultural land, and supports orderly
growth and development. Regional service delivery and planning ensures neighbouring
communities are working together to receive the positive economic and social benefits that come
with growth.
To support collaboration, Municipal Affairs continues to support the implementation of
intermunicipal collaboration frameworks and the development of growth management boards for
Alberta’s two largest regions. Through these initiatives, strong relationships between communities
will continue to develop, ensuring efficient planning and use of resources, and helping Alberta’s
municipalities remain sustainable.

Growth Management Boards/Edmonton Growth Management Board/Calgary
Growth Management Board
Growth Management Board Formation and History
Updates to the Municipal Government Act in 2017 made growth management boards mandatory for
the Calgary and Edmonton regions. The formation and structure of the regional boards are set out
in the Calgary Metropolitan Region Board Regulation and the Edmonton Metropolitan Region Board
Regulation, both approved in 2017. The Edmonton Metropolitan Region Board Regulation came
into force in October 2017, and the Calgary Metropolitan Region Board Regulation came into force
in January 2018. The Municipal Government Act also enables two or more municipalities to
voluntarily form a growth management board, although there are no voluntary growth
management boards in Alberta at this time.
Prior to the establishment of the boards, there were a significant number of intermunicipal disputes
regarding how best to allow development in the regions. Disputes would often result in appeals to
the Municipal Government Board, which would create significant delays in development and costs
for each municipality involved. Depending on the complexity of the development under appeal, the
timeline to resolve a dispute varied from six months to one year, and could cost in excess of $1
million for participating municipalities.

18
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The boards guide collaborative and strategic planning for ongoing growth in Alberta’s metropolitan
regions, and are intended to provide a forum for long-term planning and problem-solving to ensure
intermunicipal disputes can be avoided or handled efficiently. The membership of the boards
includes the core municipality (Calgary or Edmonton), all adjacent rural municipalities, and all
urban municipalities in the region with more than 5,000 residents. This results in 13 voting
member municipalities in Edmonton and 10 in Calgary. As outlined in the regulations, two-thirds of
member municipalities that represent at least two-thirds of the affected population must support
decisions.
The growth management boards’ mandates focus on:

•
•

environmentally responsible land-use planning, growth management, and efficient use of land;

•
•

promoting the economic well-being and competitiveness of the region; and

developing policies regarding the co-ordination of regional infrastructure investment and
service delivery;
developing policies outlining how the board will engage with the public.

Ongoing Work for the Boards
To meet their objectives, each growth management board is required to develop a long-term
growth plan and a five-year metropolitan servicing plan, both of which need to be approved by the
Minister of Municipal Affairs. The boards are also required to develop a regional evaluation
framework as a way to objectively determine whether the proposed land-use plans of municipal
members are in alignment with the regional plan.
The Edmonton Metropolitan Region Board received ministerial approval for its growth plan and
regional evaluation framework at the same time as government approval of the regulation.
Members of this board have taken the opportunity to expand beyond the required growth plan and
have begun development of a regional agriculture master plan and an integrated regional
transportation master plan, both intended to complement the growth and servicing plans.
The Calgary Metropolitan Region Board is required to have a long-term growth and servicing plan
in place by January 2021. Before the Calgary Metropolitan Region Board Regulation came into
effect, the board made the decision to prepare an interim growth plan and regional evaluation
framework prior to the development and approval of the long-term growth and servicing plans. In
December 2018, the interim plans were approved and the board has begun the work to develop a
more thorough long-term growth plan and supporting servicing plan.
The Government of Alberta continues to monitor the progress of both boards, to ensure they
remain effective vehicles for economic development and growth in both the Edmonton and Calgary
regions.
Ministry Support for the Boards (Financial)
Under the Alberta Community Partnership, operating funding to the growth management boards is
gradually being reduced to allow the boards time to consider and implement other funding
mechanisms. The regulations enable each growth management board to requisition operating
funding from their members to reduce the reliance on provincial funding. In 2018-19, the province
provided $3.75 million funding to each board, reflecting prepayment of two years of operating
funding: $2 million for 2019-20, and $1.75 million for 2020-21. This arrangement demonstrates
provincial support and provides predictable financial capacity for the growth management boards
to plan for growth and deliver on their mandates.

Municipal Affairs | Annual Report 2019–2020

19

Results Analysis

Ministry Support for the Boards (Operational)
In addition to financial support for the boards, the Assistant Deputy Minister of the Technical and
Corporate Services Division of Municipal Affairs sits as a non-voting member on each board. The
Government of Alberta representative serves as a liaison between the boards and the province.

Intermunicipal Collaboration Frameworks

The Municipal Government Act includes specific requirements for municipalities outside of the
metropolitan regions to create intermunicipal collaboration frameworks and intermunicipal
development plans. This requirement reflects the high priority the government continues to place
on co-ordinated approaches to service delivery and planning.
The legislation describes the purpose of intermunicipal collaboration frameworks as:

•

providing for the integrated and strategic planning, delivery, and funding of intermunicipal
services;

•

providing stewardship of service resources; and

•

ensuring municipalities contribute funding to services that benefit their residents.

Changes that simplified the requirements for intermunicipal collaboration frameworks, and
streamlined the arbitration process where municipalities cannot agree on a framework were made
as part of the Red Tape Reduction Implementation Act and came into effect on December 5, 2019.
The changes also provided an option for municipalities to not adopt an intermunicipal development
plan as long as both parties agree that one is not required. The intent of these adjustments was to
make it easier for municipalities to reach agreement on shared services.
The amendments focus intermunicipal collaboration framework negotiations on services benefiting
residents in more than one of the municipalities. The intermunicipal collaboration framework must
describe these services, identify which municipality is responsible for providing which service, and
outline how the services will be delivered and funded.
The ministry continued to provide support to municipalities formalizing their intermunicipal
collaboration frameworks and intermunicipal development plans. In most cases, this work was to
have been completed by April 1, 2020; however, the completion date was changed to April 1, 2021,
in recognition of the challenges municipalities were facing in spring 2020 due to the public health
emergency related to the COVID-19 outbreak.
Over the past several years, municipalities have been negotiating their intermunicipal collaboration
frameworks and reaching agreements, which will support the co-ordinated and cost-effective
delivery of shared services to residents and businesses going forward. As of March 31, 2020, 276
groups of regional municipal neighbours have notified the ministry that they have completed their
intermunicipal collaboration frameworks.
Funding has been provided to municipalities through the Alberta Community Partnership program
to support the development of intermunicipal collaboration frameworks and intermunicipal
development plans in two ways:

•

Under the Co-operative Processes stream, funding can be used to support one-half of the costs
of a mediator or facilitator to help negotiate service agreements pertaining to intermunicipal
collaboration frameworks and/or intermunicipal development plans.

•

Under the Intermunicipal Collaboration component, funding can be used to support the full cost
of laying the groundwork for creating intermunicipal collaboration frameworks and/or
intermunicipal development plans.
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Collaborative Governance Initiative

The Collaborative Governance Initiative was developed in 2008 based on feedback and inquiries
from municipalities. The initiative offers proactive support to local governments to explore ways to
build better relationships, and improve communication and conflict management internally –
within municipal administrations, between administration and council, between a municipality and
the public, or between municipalities. Through this program, municipalities are encouraged to
develop new ways to manage issues – both internal and external. If support is needed, the
ministry’s intermunicipal relations team will assist municipalities in making funding applications
under the Co-operative Processes stream of the Alberta Community Partnership program.
The new requirements for municipalities to negotiate intermunicipal collaboration frameworks and
intermunicipal development plans has provided opportunities for local dialogue that in some cases
has strengthened intermunicipal relationships. However, where municipalities had limited
relationships with their neighbours or those relationships were previously strained, negotiations
around intermunicipal collaboration frameworks and intermunicipal development plans have been
a challenge. The Collaborative Governance Initiative has helped these municipalities come to terms
with some of the factors that have strained their relationship in the past and set the ground rules
for their discussions going forward.
Eligible projects include:

•

the development of protocols for working more collaboratively;

•
•

implementation of previously developed protocols; and
negotiation of service agreements related to an intermunicipal collaboration framework or
intermunicipal development plan.

In 2019-20, the ministry provided $50,000 in financial support toward one collaborative
governance project involving two municipalities (the Village of Donnelly and the Municipal District
of Spirit River). The project involves intermunicipal collaboration framework and intermunicipal
development plan negotiations. The funding will help the two municipalities to develop internal
and intermunicipal protocols, and to negotiate intermunicipal collaboration frameworks and
intermunicipal development plans.

Intermunicipal Dispute Resolution Initiative

The dispute resolution service encourages mediation or other dispute resolution alternatives to
resolve issues without resorting to an outside authority. Typically, issues resolved through
mediation concern annexations, land‑use planning, cost‑sharing, and the need for improved
intermunicipal or internal relationships. This approach saves municipalities time and resources,
and helps avoid legal proceedings.
The service began over 20 years ago in response to an identified need for proactive and selfdirected alternatives to resolving intermunicipal land-use and annexation disputes, which were
previously channeled through the Municipal Government Board. At the same time, the Municipal
Government Act was amended to require municipalities to attempt mediation for these disputes.
The dispute resolution service has been supported by an advisory committee composed of
municipal associations, the Alberta Arbitration and Mediation Society, and the Canadian Bar
Association. Since the service was introduced, it has supported 133 mediations with an overall
success rate of 89 per cent.
With the increased complexity and demands on municipal governance and services, the scope of the
dispute resolution initiative has expanded over the years to include supports for:
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•
•

internal conflict resolution between council, staff, or the public;

•
•

education and advisory programs to build local dispute resolution capacity; and

supports for the local development of proactive protocols;
supports to build local negotiation capacity on shared services and intermunicipal
development.

Recent discussions between municipal neighbours to develop their intermunicipal collaboration
frameworks and intermunicipal development plans have in some cases brought long-standing
disagreements to a head. In these cases, the dispute resolution initiative has provided advice to the
disputing municipalities about processes and mediation supports that can help them move forward.
When in-depth support is needed, the ministry will help municipalities make funding applications
through the Mediation Stream of the Mediation and Co-operative Processes component of the
Alberta Community Partnership program. Municipalities will hire private-sector mediators and,
when appropriate, the ministry may cover one-third of the funding for a mediation. The ministry
maintains a roster of private-sector mediators with the assistance of representatives from the
municipal associations and the Alberta Arbitration and Mediation Society. This roster gives
municipalities access to a list of mediators with relevant training, experience, and an interest in
intermunicipal mediation. In 2019-20, the ministry provided $15,000 in mediation funding in
support of one request for mediation assistance involving intermunicipal collaboration
frameworks.

Regional Services Commissions

Regional services commissions are a long-standing and successful form of governance for the
delivery of regional services on behalf of the member authorities. Regional services commissions
have their own distinct legal status and operate independently from the member municipalities,
providing their own administration and operations. The board of directors of each commission
provides governance and oversight; these boards are comprised of councillors from the member
authorities.
As a commission, municipal authorities work collaboratively with each other to deliver effective
and accessible services that are responsive to the needs of their communities. These authorities
may include municipalities, First Nations, Metis Settlements, and armed forces bases. Regional
services commissions can deliver one or more services. Examples of services provided by regional
services commissions include water, wastewater, solid waste management, property assessment,
emergency services, land-use planning, and transit.
In many cases, the intermunicipal services identified by municipalities in their intermunicipal
collaboration frameworks are delivered through regional services commissions.
Seventy-five regional service commissions operate within Alberta. Two new regional services
commissions were established in 2020, both operating in southern Alberta: the Ridge Regional
Safety Services Commission, which provides peace and bylaw enforcement services to its four
municipal members, and the Chief Mountain Regional Solid Waste Services Commission, which
provides waste management to its 11 member municipalities.
Regional services commissions require ministry approval for specific functions, including: passing
or revising board of director appointment bylaws, disposals of assets, debt limit extensions, and
provision of services outside the members’ boundaries. The ministry approved 15 such requests in
2019-20. As municipalities continue to seek efficiencies in service delivery for their residents, it is
expected regional services commissions will continue to be an important regional option.
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Alberta Community Partnership

The Alberta Community Partnership grant program continues to support municipal regional
collaboration and capacity building initiatives across the province. The budget for the 2019-20
Alberta Community Partnership program was $16.5 million, with grants supporting projects that
fall under five component streams:

1.
2.
3.

Intermunicipal Collaboration

4.
5.

Municipal Internship

Municipal Restructuring
Mediation and Co-operative Processes
Strategic Initiatives

Alberta Community Partnership Component Streams by Percentage of Funding 2019-20

Municipal Restructuring
27%

Mediation and Cooperative
Processes
1%

Municipal Internship
8%

Intermunicipal
Collaboration
62%

Strategic Initiatives
2%

Intermunicipal Collaboration

The Intermunicipal Collaboration component of the Alberta Community Partnership grant program
provides competitive grants to municipal partnerships pursuing regional approaches to service
delivery. In order to be eligible, projects must focus on supporting regional land-use and servicedelivery planning – specifically, development of intermunicipal collaboration frameworks and
intermunicipal development plans.
In 2019-20, the Intermunicipal Collaboration component provided grant funds totaling
approximately $714,000 to support 15 municipalities in the development of new or updated
intermunicipal development plans and intermunicipal collaboration frameworks. Approximately
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$6.6 million went to support 117 municipalities as they developed regional land-use and service
delivery arrangements.
Examples of projects:

•

The Town of Whitecourt – in partnership with Woodlands County – received $125,000 to
conduct a geothermal development feasibility study.

•

Lac La Biche County – in partnership with the Heart Lake First Nation – received $200,000 to
conduct an access road feasibility study.

•

The Fishing Lake Metis Settlement – in partnership with the Buffalo Lake Metis Settlement –
received $177,800 to develop an emergency services delivery framework and related asset
management plan.

•

Sturgeon County – in partnership with the City of St.
Albert – received $125,000 to develop a transportation
network improvement strategy.

The Alberta Community
Partnership supported nearly
140 municipalities across
Alberta to collaborate on 46
projects of regional significance.
More than 115 municipalities
across Alberta benefited from an
Alberta Community Partnership
grant in 2019-20, either as grant
recipients or as formal partners
on joint initiatives.

•

The Town of Olds – in partnership with the towns of
Carstairs, Didsbury and Sundre; the Village of Cremona;
and Mountain View County – received $200,000 to
develop a parks, recreation, and culture master plan.

•

The Summer Village of Silver Sands – in partnership with
the cities of Spruce Grove and St. Albert; the towns of
Gibbons, Morinville, Onoway, and Stony Plain; Alberta
Beach; the summer villages of South View, Sunrise Beach,
West Cove, and Yellowstone; and the counties of Lac Ste.
Anne, Parkland, and Sturgeon – received $200,000 to
develop a Sturgeon River watershed quality management framework that may include
restoration strategies, land-use policy analysis, and water quality assessment tools.

Municipal Restructuring

The Municipal Restructuring component* of the Alberta Community Partnership program provides
grants to municipalities undertaking viability reviews or restructuring activities, such as
dissolution or amalgamation.
In 2019-20, $120,000 was provided to the Town of Manning for an infrastructure study in support
of a viability review; approximately $3 million was provided for transitional and infrastructure
funding relating to the dissolution of the villages of Ferintosh and Gadsby, and the Town of Granum;
and $100,000 was provided for a regional governance study involving the Town of Fairview and the
Municipal District of Fairview.
* Further information on this component is provided in the Municipal Sustainability
Strategy/Viability Reviews and Regional Governance Studies and Amalgamation sections under Key
Strategy 1.4 (pages 33-35).

Mediation and Co-operative Processes

The Mediation and Co-operative Processes component provides grants to municipalities to access
dispute resolution services, develop pre-emptive co-operation protocols and procedures, or to
engage third-party mediators or facilitators to assist with intermunicipal collaborative framework
negotiations, or mediations.
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In 2019-20, $65,000 was provided to support intermunicipal collaboration framework and
intermunicipal development plan negotiations.

Municipal Internship

The Municipal Internship component provides grants to municipalities and planning services
agencies to host land-use planner, finance officer, or municipal administrator internships.
The ministry provided $998,290 in grant funding to help host municipalities cover the costs of
hosting 12 administrator interns, eight finance officer interns, and five land‑use planner interns in
2019-20.

Strategic Initiatives

On occasion, the ministry has an opportunity to support projects of strategic significance that fall
outside the scope of the other four funding components, but align with ministry and provincial
priorities. Strategic Initiatives provides grants for these special projects that do not fall within the
four program components.
One project was approved, which addressed public health and safety through the remediation of an
asbestos site in the former Village of Gadsby, and at the Stettler Waste Management Authority –
Village of Gadsby Transfer Site Burn Pit.
1.2

Support municipalities in continuing to strengthen municipal accountability and
transparency through the Municipal Accountability Program, the municipal inspection
process, and the introduction of a new annual Alberta Municipalities Measurement
Index.

Municipal Affairs is committed to helping to ensure Albertans live in viable municipalities and
communities with fiscally responsible, collaborative, accountable local governments. To achieve
this, Municipal Affairs plays an important role in assisting and supporting municipalities in Alberta
through various programs to foster capacity building, transparency and accountability, which are
essential elements for responsible local government.
The Municipal Government Act, which provides the legislative framework for local government in
Alberta, has numerous requirements that may at times seem difficult to manage for municipalities,
given the diversity of responsibilities, authorities and requirements. Municipalities are also bound
by other statutes and corresponding regulations. Compliance with these statutes and regulations is
essential to good governance; the successful operation of a municipality; and the viability, safety,
and well-being of a community. Ministry initiatives designed to help municipalities successfully
meet the challenges involved in responding to this wide range of legislative needs include the
Municipal Accountability Program, and the inspection process.
Straightforward public access to information detailing the performance of municipalities is
important to strengthening accountability and transparency for municipal governments and
Albertans. Municipal Affairs has developed the Alberta Municipal Measurement Index to support
public accountability and transparency, and to provide one-window access to important
information regarding Alberta’s municipalities. The index will enable all Albertans to view and
compare financial and statistical information about their communities. The development of the
index builds upon the Municipal Indicators Program, which is a series of performance
measurements developed by Municipal Affairs to monitor governance, finances, and community
practices to determine emerging risks for individual municipalities.
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Municipal Accountability Program

The objective of the Municipal Accountability Program is to
build municipal administrative capacity and help
municipalities in their compliance with mandatory
requirements of legislation.
While in‑depth inspections identify significant issues of
concern, the Municipal Accountability Program is designed to
address minor legislative compliance issues, and ensure they
are dealt with quickly and efficiently. This program aims to
mitigate any issues that, if left unaddressed, could have the
potential to put the municipality into an in‑depth inspection
process.

As part of the government’s
commitment to reducing
legislative burden, the Municipal
Accountability Program was
reviewed. Findings from the
review have directly contributed
to the red tape reduction
initiative, and have resulted in
amendments to the Municipal
Government Act that came into
force on January 1, 2020.

In 2019, participation in the Municipal Accountability Program was mandatory for municipalities
with populations of 5,000 or less, which includes 245 municipalities, or 72 per cent of all
municipalities in Alberta. The program is not intended for cities, improvement districts, special
areas, or unincorporated communities. The program is cyclical, with eligible municipalities being
reviewed once in a four-year period. In 2019, 61 reviews were conducted, as shown in the following
graph.
2019 Municipal Accountability Program Reviews by Municipality Type
Municipal Districts
11

Summer Villages
13

Towns
17
Villages
20
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In 2019, there were 13 major requirement categories reviewed, each with a varying number of
specific topics that totaled 70 topics as shown in the graph below.
2019 Municipal Accountability Program Sections and Topics
15
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In total, the 2019 report included a review of over 200 legislative requirements distributed within
the 70 topics covered.
Of the 61 reviews completed in 2019, the number of non-compliant gaps identified varied from as
low as two out of 70 (97 per cent compliant) to a high of 33 out of 70 (53 per cent compliant), as
shown in the following graph.
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Beyond achieving the program objectives, the Municipal Accountability Program has helped to:

•

highlight the excellent work municipalities are doing;

•
•
•

educate municipalities about recent legislative amendments and responsibilities;

•

identify trends and areas where the ministry can offer additional training and support in the
future.

enhance public confidence that municipalities are complying with legislation;
provide chief administrative officers an additional opportunity to receive advisory support
from the ministry; and

Municipal Inspections
Inspections are ordered by the minister when, in the
minister’s opinion, significant governance or management
concerns exist within a municipality. Inspections are
undertaken as a result of:

•
•
•

the minister’s initiative;

•

a sufficient petition submitted to the minister.

a request from council;

Of the 46 reviews completed in
2018, 37 per cent (17) have
addressed all legislative gaps
identified and completed the
Municipal Accountability
Program process.

a request from a member of a regional services commission; or

Before initiating a full inspection, the ministry will typically conduct a preliminary review, and if
there is indication of significant concerns, the minister will order an inspection. Typically,
inspectors are contracted through the Government of Alberta procurement process and must be
appointed by ministerial order.
Over the past five years, 40 inspection requests were received, with the lowest number of requests
being in 2019, which follows the introduction of the Municipal Accountability Program.
While one inspection request was received, the Minister of Municipal Affairs did not order any indepth inspections in 2019-20.

Alberta Municipal Measurement Index and Municipal Indicators

New in 2019-20, the Municipal Measurement Index is a web-based application that makes it easy
for Albertans to look at information about their communities. Albertans will be able to access,
explore, and compare financial and statistical information for all of Alberta’s 338 municipalities.
The index will include several years of financial information, and will be updated annually with
financial and statistical information provided by municipalities through their Financial Information
Returns and Statistical Information Returns.
Municipalities will receive an “index value” based on population, tax base, and geographic size that
can be used to sort and compare similar municipalities. Examples of a few of the available
visualizations within the application include property tax rates, property tax burden, major revenue
and expense categories, equalized assessment values, and debt values.
Municipal Affairs is expected to release the interactive Municipal Measurement Index dashboard –
which will be available at Alberta.ca – in 2020-21.
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Performance Measure 1.a:
Percentage of municipalities deemed to be not at risk based on financial and
governance risk indicators
Prior Years’ Results
2015-16

Not
Available

2017-18
(2016)

2016-17

Not
Available

91%

2018-19
(2017)

93%

2019-20
Target
(2018)

2019-20
Actual
(2018)

90%

94%

The Municipal Government Act requires that municipalities submit to the ministry a copy of their
audited financial statements and financial information return no later than May 1 for the year in
which the documents were prepared. At the time of publication of this report, only the 2018
financial reporting would have been submitted into the ministry.
The percentage of municipalities deemed to be not at risk based on financial and governance risk
indicators for 2018 is 94 per cent. This result exceeds the 90 per cent target.
Twenty municipalities were deemed to be at risk. Of these 20 municipalities, 11 had at least one
legislative ministerial action taken against them, and three had
The Minister of Municipal
more than two ministerial interventions. No municipality
Affairs has not ordered an
received either a “going concern” or a “denial of opinion” note
inspection since the inception
from the auditor for their 2018 financial statements, which
of the Municipal Accountability
means no major concerns were identified with the audits of any
municipalities. The remaining nine municipalities were flagged
Program in 2018. This is
because they triggered three or four non-critical indicators.
significant as in 2016-17,
Municipal Affairs spent

Overall, municipalities performed slightly better than the 2017
$466,000 on inspections, and
reporting year. The number of municipalities that triggered
$80,000 in 2017-18.
critical indicators or non-critical indicators generally decreased,
except for the non-critical indicators regarding tax collection
and infrastructure. The current year target was set conservatively, based on historical results, as it
is still a relatively new performance measure. Going forward, the difference between target and
actual result is expected to narrow as more data becomes available.
1.3

Work collaboratively with municipalities and industry to improve the consistency and
efficiency of the property assessment system by completing the transition to the
centralized model for designated industrial property assessment and modernizing the
assessment models for regulated properties.

Accuracy, Equitability, Predictability, and Transparency in Alberta’s Assessment
and Property Tax System
Municipal Affairs promotes a provincial assessment and property tax system that is accurate,
equitable, predictable, and transparent. The ministry:

•

administers and maintains the assessment and property tax system in Alberta that generates
approximately $954 billion in equalized property assessment and $9.9 billion in total taxes;

•

assesses designated industrial property, including linear properties, on a cost-recovery basis;
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•
•

develops and maintains provincial assessment and property tax policy;

•
•

provides models used to value regulated industrial property;

•
•

maintains a database of all property assessments in the province; and

collaborates with municipalities and industry to make recommendations for setting assessment
standards through legislation;
monitors assessment performance and compliance with policies and legislation, and
recommends corrective action;
supports the property assessment complaints and appeals system.

A key aspect of improving consistency, efficiency, and fairness in property assessment and taxation
is implementing programs needed to support objectives, reviewing current models and processes,
and consulting with stakeholders.

Designated Industrial Property Assessment

During the review of the Municipal Government Act, stakeholders identified the need for improved
consistency, fairness, and transparency in the application of property assessment legislation, as
well as the need for operational efficiencies and economies of scale in the assessment of oil and gas
sector properties. In January 2018, the modernized Municipal Government Act transferred the
responsibility for the assessment of designated industrial properties from municipalities to the
provincial assessor within Municipal Affairs. The transition to a fully centralized assessment for
these properties is expected to be completed in 2021.
The benefits of centralized assessment are being realized through continued, incremental
improvements in consistency, fairness, and transparency in the application of legislation, as well as
operational efficiencies and economies of scale that can be achieved under a single provincial
assessment jurisdiction. Many property owners provided positive comments to the team about the
benefits of contacting a central office rather than multiple municipalities.
As a transitional measure, the province entered into contracts with a number of municipalities to
use a hybrid assessment model, which employs municipal and contracted assessors to prepare
some assessments on behalf of the province. In addition to this arrangement, ministry staff
collaborated with municipalities to transfer large sets of historical data into provincial systems.
These steps helped initiate the transfer of duties and functions from municipalities to the province
by establishing an inventory of data and ensuring a consistent application of assessment
methodology from the beginning of the annual assessment process.
At the end of 2019-20, 168 out of 227 municipalities (74 per cent), representing 51 per cent of the
designated industrial assessment base have been integrated. Over the next two years, the
remaining municipalities will be integrated into the provincial assessor’s office within Municipal
Affairs.
In 2019-20, Municipal Affairs completed 602,651 designated industrial property assessments for
1,382 assessed persons (companies) for a total of approximately $171 billion in assessment value.
The assessment decreased by $1.5 billion from the 2018-19 assessment of $172.4 billion, which
yielded approximately $2.1 billion in municipal property taxes and $285 million in education
property tax for the province.
The assessment of designated industrial property is conducted on a full cost-recovery basis. The
costs are recovered by the province through a requisition tax rate set by the minister and charged
by municipalities to designated industrial property owners on their tax notice. These funds are then
submitted to the province to cover program costs, including preparing and defending assessments
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before assessment review boards. Every property owner in Alberta may contact the assessor to
discuss their assessment, and if the concerns are not resolved, they may file a complaint with the
appropriate assessment review board. To assist municipalities with the new process, the
department provided online learning sessions, guiding documents, and ongoing support.
Looking forward, Municipal Affairs will continue to develop and implement processes based on best
practices, as well as learned experiences from the collective industrial assessment field in Alberta.
As it is fully implemented, the centralized industrial assessment model is expected to promote
consistency and equity for industrial taxpayers and lower administrative costs for municipalities.
The ministry remains committed to working collaboratively with municipalities and other
stakeholders to complete the transition to a centralized model.

Assessment Model Reviews

The Minister’s Guidelines – published annually – set the rates, assessment year modifiers, and
procedures used in the assessment process for all regulated property in Alberta. Regulated
property includes linear property (wells, pipelines, electric power systems, telecommunications,
cable, and railway), machinery and equipment (including items such as separators and
compressors), and farm land. Assessment year modifiers are factors that bring the rates in the
guidelines to the current year. They are similar to a consumer price index.
Periodically, the rates in the Minister’s Guidelines are reviewed using a cost-modelling process
where contracted engineering firms survey construction contractors. Stakeholders and staff work
with the contracted engineering firms to discuss issues with the existing rules and procedures and
develop options for improvement. Continuing in the 2019-20 fiscal year, technical working groups –
that included industry and assessment subject matter experts – reviewed the machinery and
equipment, pipeline, and well models.
Broader stakeholder engagement with both municipalities and industry began in early 2020 to
continue the work of the assessment model review. It is expected this work will result in revised
assessment models for the 2021 municipal taxation year for wells, pipelines, and machinery and
equipment.

Auditing for Assessment Quality

The Assessment Quality Minister’s Guidelines set out the requirements for municipalities to report
information to the province for the annual assessment audit and equalization process. In 2019-20,
340 of 342 (99.5 per cent) of municipalities were in compliance with all legislated quality
standards, with all municipalities reporting and declaring the required information by the
legislated date.
As with previous years, the ministry completed annual audits of all Alberta municipalities by
measuring and comparing property assessments against market value to determine assessment
levels. These assessment levels are used to complete the equalized assessment, ensuring education
property tax requisitions and assessment-based grants are fairly allocated. In addition to annual
audits, the ministry conducted detailed audits – a more comprehensive quality review of a
municipality’s assessment program – of 11 municipalities.
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Shallow Gas Tax Relief Initiative 2019

In July 2019, in order to support the shallow gas industry, the
Government of Alberta announced the Shallow Gas Tax Relief
Initiative – a one-time undertaking to assist the industry
through a challenging period. The industry faced severe
challenges, partially due to an outdated assessment model
that did not reflect the value of older, lower-productivity
assets. The tax relief provided through the initiative helped
shallow gas companies continue to operate and, in turn,
sustain jobs in local communities.

Through the Shallow Gas Tax
Relief Initiative, almost
$20 million was provided to
159 shallow gas companies.
This allowed for significant cost
savings and enabled numerous
companies to continue to
operate through challenging
times.

The initiative reduced total property tax on qualifying
properties by 35 per cent for the 2019 tax year. Qualifying properties covered approximately
70,000 wells and 58,000 pipelines, providing a total of $19.8 million in savings to energy producers.
The Government of Alberta included a full reimbursement on lost municipal tax revenue as part of
the initiative for all participating municipalities. This reimbursement was provided through a credit
on the education tax requisition due from impacted municipalities for the 2019 tax year. The credit
did not result in any overall reduction in funding for Alberta’s education system.
The wells and pipelines covered were located across 73 municipalities. The majority of shallow gas
properties were concentrated in 15 municipalities that provided 95 per cent of the total tax relief
provided through the initiative.
Municipal Affairs worked with participating municipalities to administer the tax relief to qualifying
companies. Subsequently, the ministry worked with Alberta Education to transfer the education tax
credits required so that municipalities were compensated for any lost tax revenue.
For taxation year 2020, the property assessments of 70,000 shallow gas wells and associated
pipelines were reduced by 35 per cent as an interim measure while the ongoing review of the
property assessment models is completed. Changes to the assessment system as a result of the
review are expected to come into effect for the 2021 property tax year.

Updated Regulations

Municipal Affairs updated regulations to support the Municipal Government Act, policy changes, and
ongoing business. The following regulations were extended or developed in 2019-20:

•
•

The Well Drilling Equipment Tax Regulation was extended until December 31, 2020.
The Matters Relating to Assessment and Taxation Regulation was updated to exclude cannabis
from the definition of farming operations, enabling municipalities to tax cannabis production
facilities in the same manner as other commercial operations.

1.4

Work collaboratively with municipalities and municipal associations in continuing to
offer and develop tools and programs to support well-managed, accountable, and
sustainable municipalities.

Floodway Development Regulation

Municipalities have the authority under the Municipal Government Act to make local land-use
decisions, including in floodways. While the province has the authority under the Municipal
Government Act to create regulations to control development within provincially mapped
floodways, to date no regulation has been implemented. In the absence of any provincial regulation,
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land-development decisions continue to be governed by each municipality’s land-use bylaw, as
outlined in the Municipal Government Act.

Municipal Sustainability Strategy/Viability Reviews

The viability review process, enabled through the Municipal Government Act, provides a framework
to evaluate the viability of a municipality encountering significant challenges. The process can
result in implementing an action plan to address viability issues, or alternatively, a vote of local
electors that could lead to a municipal dissolution. Through dissolution, the municipal corporation
no longer exists and the community becomes part of a neighbouring municipality.
A viability review is a collaborative process that includes the municipality under review, the
municipality that would absorb the dissolved municipality, the municipal associations, and the
ministry. These reviews look at a municipality’s governance, finances, infrastructure, and services
in order to determine what changes are required for the community to remain viable. The review
compares how these factors would change if the municipality were to dissolve. In order to provide
an accurate picture of the municipality’s infrastructure status, each viability review is typically
preceded by a comprehensive infrastructure study funded through the Municipal Restructuring
component of the Alberta Community Partnership.
Viability reviews can be initiated in three ways:

1.
2.

At the request of a municipal council.

3.

At the discretion of the minister if there is evidence that a municipality is facing significant
challenges.

Upon receipt of a sufficient petition from a municipality’s electors.

Two viability reviews were completed in 2019-20: for the Town of Granum, and the Village of
Gadsby. In both cases, the ministry expedited the reviews in response to losses of council quorum
due to councillor resignations. The lack of quorum also resulted in the minister deferring byelections until the outcome of the viability reviews were known, and appointing an official
administrator to act as the municipal councils for the two municipalities in the interim. Elector
votes were held in both municipalities in November 2019, and in both cases, the majority of the
electors voted to dissolve. The Government of Alberta approved the dissolutions for both
communities effective February 1, 2020. Granum is now a hamlet in the Municipal District of
Willow Creek, and Gadsby is a hamlet in the County of Stettler.
Following a viability review and vote of the electors in 2018-19, the Government of Alberta
approved the dissolution of the Village of Ferintosh to become a hamlet in Camrose County, which
came into effect January 1, 2020.
Work on other viability reviews initiated in 2018-19 for the villages of Bawlf, Cereal, and Dewberry
continued in 2019-20. Viability review reports, public information sessions, and elector votes
(where applicable) are expected to be completed for all three communities later in 2020.
In 2019-20, two new viability reviews were approved, for the Town of Manning and the Village of
Wabamun. Infrastructure studies have been initiated for both communities, supported by funding
from the Alberta Community Partnership - Restructuring Study Stream. Public information sessions
were held in each community in early 2020 to inform residents and business owners about the
process and to receive input.
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Outcome of Viability Reviews Initiated from 2010 to 2019

5 Voted to Remain Continue as a
Municipality
19%

5 In Progress
19%

5 Stopped Before Vote Continue as a
Municipality
19%
11 Voted to Dissolve - Became
Part of Surrounding Municipality
43%

Regional Governance Studies and Amalgamation

The Municipal Government Act provides a process for amalgamation, which occurs when two or
more municipalities join together to become one municipality. Municipalities may explore
amalgamation if they believe they can operate more effectively or efficiently together rather than
separately.
The Alberta Community Partnership Restructuring Study Stream provides funding to municipalities
that want to explore options that may lead to some form of municipal restructuring. In 2019-20,
$100,000 was provided for one new collaborative project between the town and municipal district
of Fairview.

Ongoing Advice, Resources, and Training

The 2019-20 fiscal year marked the seventh year of the ministry’s Regional Training Initiative, a
partnership with the Local Government Administration Association and the Alberta Rural Municipal
Administrators’ Association.
The 2019-20 sessions focused on informing municipalities of recent changes to the Local
Authorities Election Act, including new responsibilities of the election commissioner and a number
of topics requested by stakeholders. Stakeholder topics included support for effectively preparing
for municipal accountability reviews, bylaw and policy development, information on the support
provided to municipalities from the ministry’s library services area, and a review of the municipal
financial and statistical reporting requirements.
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The ministry is in the process of reviewing and updating the format, delivery methods, and content
of the regional training sessions to ensure they continue to
meet the needs of stakeholders, while also being consistent
The Regional Training Initiative
with both provincial and municipal efforts to restrain
was piloted in 2013 in response
spending.
Session content is evolving to focus on a smaller number of
topics to allow for more in-depth and technical discussions as
opposed to high-level overviews. Alternative delivery
methods, such as webinars, will be piloted to complement the
in-person sessions and increase the initiative’s reach to
remote communities at a nominal cost. With the exception of
2017, where sessions were expanded and dedicated to
addressing the Municipal Government Act amendments,
attendance numbers in 2019 were relatively consistent with
previous years.

to concerns from small
communities regarding a lack of
training choices.

Since the first full year of
implementation, the initiative has
hosted 38 sessions for over
1,800 participants.
An average of 150 municipalities
are represented at sessions
annually.

As demonstrated in the chart below, regional training sessions continue to be viewed by municipal
administrative officials as meaningful opportunities to increase knowledge and connect with
department staff. Surveys from the participants show consistent demand for continuing the
initiative.
Regional Training Participation
750

622

500

280

266

240

250

229

153

145

131

0
2016

2017

2018

2019

Year
Participants

Municipalities

Additional training provided to municipalities throughout the year included:

•

on-site sessions regarding the roles and responsibilities of councils and their administrators;
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•

various training
sessions for municipal
administrations;

•

training on election
procedures; and

•

tax and assessment
training for
administrators in
partnership with the
Alberta Government
Finance Officers
Association.

Respondents Interested in Attending
Future Regional Training Sessions
100%

100%

97%

97%

97%

95%

Training sessions are also
provided at administrative
conferences such as the
Society of Local
90%
Government Managers
2016
2017
2018
2019
annual conference. In
2019-20, over 190 municipal officials or staff participated in the additional training sessions offered
by the ministry.

Advisory Support

Advisory support is provided to municipalities on the topics of municipal governance,
administration, elections, planning, finance, and tax and assessment. In fall 2018, a new system was
developed for tracking advisory support through calls and emails. This system allows for an
accurate record to be kept of the volume, nature, and source of the requests for support, and
ultimately provides valuable insight about the assistance municipalities request from the ministry.
This will inform the development of future training and resource support.
The new system began tracking advisory calls on January 1, 2019, and has logged an average of 445
advisory contacts per quarter, for a total of about 1,700 calls in 2019.
Beginning in the 2020-21 annual report, sufficient information will be available to provide yearover-year data on the volume of advisory support provided to municipalities.
In addition to general support through telephone and email inquiries, the ministry also provides
direct support to municipalities with unique needs, such as new chief administrative officers, to
ensure they have the support needed to successfully fulfil their duties. In 2019, the ministry visited
14 municipalities with new chief administrative officers.
1.5

Provide funding to municipalities to help them meet their strategic long-term
infrastructure needs and review the fiscal framework for municipal capital funding.

Municipal Sustainability Initiative

Since the inception of the Municipal Sustainability Initiative
program in 2007, it has directly helped municipalities make
significant investments in local infrastructure that promotes
economic development, creates jobs, and meets the needs of
the Albertans who depend on it every day. The program
balances accountability and transparency with significant
municipal autonomy to determine local priorities. Examples
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Thirty-seven per cent of
municipalities funded road
construction and upgrades with
Municipal Sustainability Initiative
capital funding in 2019.
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of program funded infrastructure include light-rail transit lines and vehicles to support public
transit; library buildings to support learning activities; wastewater pumping facilities and lift
stations that provide wastewater removal for residents; and storm water retention ponds to
protect municipalities from flooding.
In 2019-20, the ministry provided $671 million in funding to municipalities through the program,
including $347 million from the Basic Municipal Transportation Grant component, and $29 million
under the Municipal Sustainability Initiative Operating component.
Since 2007, Alberta’s municipalities have been allocated over $11.9 billion in Municipal
Sustainability Initiative funding (including the Basic Municipal Transportation Grant). Modest
reductions to this funding are planned for the next two years in consideration of Alberta’s overall
fiscal situation, and the need to be prudent in managing provincial spending. Alberta has
traditionally provided more capital funding to municipalities than other provinces, and these
reductions bring the province closer to the provincial average, as recommended by the MacKinnon
Panel.
Municipal Sustainability Initiative Capital Funding
Municipal Sustainability Initiative funding for capital projects was $642 million in 2019-20
(including $347 million from the Basic Municipal Transportation Grant component). This funding
supported a range of local infrastructure projects including:

•

roads;

•
•
•
•
•

bridges;

•

other municipal infrastructure.

public transit services, vehicles, and facilities;
recreation, parks, sports, and community facilities;
water, wastewater, and storm water systems;
disaster and emergency services and facilities; and

Capital Funding for Local Infrastructure Projects* 2019-20
Recreation, Parks, Sports and Community
Facilities
27%

Water, Wastewater and Stormwater
8%
Public Transit Vehicles and Facilities
10%

Fire, Police and Other Emergency
Services
7%
Roads, Bridges and Related
Facilities
37%
Other Municipal Infrastructure
11%

*This chart includes project funds applied in the 2019-20 fiscal year for completed projects, and
accepted projects that are not complete.
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In 2019-20, municipalities committed $582 million of capital funding for 602
accepted projects. Some of the projects were:
• constructing a certified LEED Gold transit storage facility capable of housing in excess of 450
compressed natural gas buses in the City of Calgary;

•

rehabilitating and upgrading the atrium lighting system with a solar photovoltaic system in the
Edmonton Convention Centre in the City of Edmonton;

•

constructing a new water reservoir with a capacity of 8,300 cubic metres in the Town of Sylvan
Lake;

•

building a new fire hall in the Town of Taber that will decrease emergency response time within
the community by approximately five minutes;

•

replacing a wooden bridge in Clearwater County with a new steel substructure and additional
guardrails for increased safety;

•

constructing a new 5,000 square foot recreation centre in the Fishing Lake Metis Settlement to
support the numerous social programs and events held in the community;

•

installing fibre optic infrastructure to provide broadband internet access to businesses and
residents throughout the Village of Arrowwood;

•

upgrading the water treatment plant monitoring hardware and software in the Village of
Cremona to remain compliant with Alberta Environment and Parks standards; and

•

purchasing portable firefighting equipment and structure protection sprinkler systems in the
Summer Village of Burnstick Lake to protect the community from wildfires.

Municipal Sustainability Initiative Operating Funding
The Municipal Sustainability Initiative provided $29.1 million
in operating grant funding to Alberta municipalities and Metis
Settlements in 2019-20. This funding supports capacitybuilding activities to improve efficiency and effectiveness,
municipal services, planning activities, and contributions to
non-profit organizations. Of the budgeted $30 million, $0.9
million was transferred to capital funding at the request of
municipalities.

Funds are allocated to projects supporting four main
government-wide objectives – 1) municipal viability and longterm sustainability; 2) maintenance of safe, healthy, and
vibrant communities; 3) the development and maintenance of
core municipal infrastructure; and 4) capacity building.

To reduce red tape, the
Municipal Sustainability Initiative
Operating program was
streamlined in 2019. Front-end
applications including spending
plans are no longer required to
receive payment of the operating
allocations. Municipalities and
Metis Settlements only need to
report on how they used the
funding.

Local Government Fiscal Framework

Beginning in 2022-23, the Municipal Sustainability Initiative will be replaced with the new, longterm funding framework set out in the Local Government Fiscal Framework Act, which was enacted
in 2019. This legislation fulfills the government’s commitment to provide predictable, long-term
infrastructure funding for all municipalities.
Under the new fiscal framework, funding for municipalities will begin at $860 million in 2022-23,
including $455 million in combined funding for Calgary and Edmonton and $405 million in
combined funding for all other municipalities, Metis Settlements, and the Townsite of Redwood
Meadows. Funding levels in subsequent years will vary in accordance with changes in provincial
revenues. Municipal capital funding will grow or decline based on half the rate of change in
provincial revenue, with a three-year lag period for greater predictability.
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This framework will enable Alberta communities to share in benefits of the province’s future
economic growth, and the risks of future declines in provincial revenue. The Local Government
Fiscal Framework Act assures municipalities they will continue to receive stable and predictable
infrastructure funding every year, and this framework will be sustainable over the long-term. This
will translate into greater certainty in municipal capital planning, and more efficient development
of infrastructure to support economic development and employment across the province.
In 2020-21, Municipal Affairs will engage municipalities in developing further details of the new
funding framework, including the design of the program and a formula for funding allocation.

One-window Grant Management System

To support fiscal accountability, information about the Municipal Sustainability Initiative is
available on the Government of Alberta website (https://www.alberta.ca/municipal-sustainabilityinitiative.aspx). This includes a summary of grant amounts by municipality and program. A list of
provincial grants available to municipalities is maintained on the Municipal Grants Web Portal. The
portal provides summaries – by municipality and provincial constituency – of grant funding
received in the prior fiscal year, as well as a summary report demonstrating how municipalities
used provincial funding.
In response to municipal requests for a simplified way to access grant information, the ministry is
developing a one-window grant management system for all of its municipal grant programs. This
system currently includes the Alberta Community Partnership, Federal Gas Tax Fund, and Small
Communities Fund, and will eventually include the Municipal Sustainability Initiative and Grants in
Place of Taxes programs. More than 350 users (municipalities, Metis Settlements, and the Townsite
of Redwood Meadows) access the system for submitting grant applications, reporting on grants
received, and accessing key financial information.

Federal Programs
Federal Gas Tax Fund
The Federal Gas Tax Fund is a municipal infrastructure program fully funded by the federal
government but administered by third parties. The program provides up-front, predictable longterm funding to help address local infrastructure priorities. In Alberta, Municipal Affairs
administers the current program, which is a 10-year extension (2014-2024) to the previous Gas
Tax Fund. The program is administered through a bilateral agreement between Alberta and Canada.
The province reports financial activities annually and outcomes every five years to the federal
government.
In 2019-20, the Federal Gas Tax Fund provided a total of $473.5 million to municipalities to help
build and revitalize their local public infrastructure, while creating jobs and long-term prosperity.
This included $244 million in core funding, plus an additional $229.5 million in one-time top-up
funding. In 2019-20, Alberta municipalities committed $276.7 million of Federal Gas Tax Fund
funding for 348 new municipal infrastructure projects.
Eligible project categories include:

•
•
•

roads and bridges;

•

wastewater;

•

solid waste;

public transit;
drinking water;
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•
•
•

community energy systems;

•
•
•
•

disaster mitigation;

sport, recreational, cultural, and tourism infrastructure;
capacity building;
brownfield redevelopment;
broadband connectivity; and
local and regional airports.

In 2019-20, Municipal Affairs continued to refine the Federal Gas Tax Fund online application and
the Grant Information Management System database, the online tools developed to manage the
Federal Gas Tax Fund program. The online system, available through Municipal Affairs MA Connect
online portal, provides municipalities a modern interface to create and submit new project
applications, manage current projects, and submit annual financial reporting.
Small Communities Fund
Under the federal New Building Canada Fund – Small Communities Fund agreement, initiated
March 2015, Alberta and Canada each committed $94 million to fund infrastructure projects that
benefit communities with populations fewer than 100,000. Approved projects are generally funded
on a one-third cost-sharing basis, with the federal, provincial, and municipal governments all
providing equal amounts toward eligible project costs. Fifty-six projects were approved under the
Small Communities Fund in July 2015, with provincial funding allocated over five years starting in
2015-16 ($8.7 million was allocated to these projects in 2019-20).
Since 2015-16, 21 projects have been completed, including the following three projects completed
in 2019-20:

•

Municipal District of Greenview (Hamlet of Grande Cache Water Treatment Plant Upgrade)

•
•

Village of Consort (Replacement of Water and Wastewater Pipelines along 49 and 52 Avenue)
Village of Marwayne (Underground Infrastructure Renewal)

Investing in Canada Infrastructure Program (ICIP)
The Government of Canada introduced the Investing in Canada Infrastructure Program in 2018-19.
This program continues Canada’s support for provinces and territories by investing in
infrastructure projects that support three key federal goals: 1) create long-term economic growth;
2) support a low-carbon, green economy; and 3) build inclusive communities. The Investing in
Canada Infrastructure Program will provide $81 billion nationwide over 11 years; Alberta has been
allocated $3.4 billion for distribution through four main funding streams:

1.
2.
3.
4.

Public Transit ($2.1 billion)
Green Infrastructure ($1.0 billion)
Community, Culture, and Recreation Infrastructure ($141 million)
Rural and Northern communities ($160 million)

Alberta Infrastructure is responsible for identifying eligible projects for this program’s funding,
while several Alberta ministries have been designated as funding partners under the individual
funding streams. Municipal Affairs is the partner ministry for municipal projects under the
Community, Culture, and Recreation Infrastructure; Rural and Northern Communities; and Green
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Infrastructure funding streams, where Municipal Sustainability Initiative funding is used as the
matching funding contribution.
Since the launch of this program in 2018, over 700 project applications were submitted to the
province for funding consideration. As one of the partner ministries, Municipal Affairs reviewed 62
municipal project proposals, and projects that met eligibility criteria were recommended to Alberta
Infrastructure for prioritization. In January 2020, the province endorsed 74 eligible Investing in
Canada Infrastructure Program projects, including 29 projects that Municipal Affairs will
administer, including guiding the 29 applicants to complete federal application requirements with
the goal of federal approval in 2020. Municipal Affairs will then administer and deliver federal
funding to those federally approved projects.
1.6

Enhance Albertans’ access to public library resources by continuing to provide
operating grants and invest in the province-wide library network.

Public libraries help support strong and healthy communities in the province by giving Albertans a
place to go to connect to the world of information, borrow a novel, learn a second language, access
high-speed internet, and so much more.
The Government of Alberta promotes a provincial Public
Library Network to provide all Albertans with:

•

access to library resources, including interlibrary loan
service and delivery;

•

SuperNet connections for facilitating library operations and
enabling high-speed internet to patrons; and

•

electronic resources including ebooks and audiobooks.

Municipal Affairs works to strengthen municipal and regional
library systems to provide Albertans with equitable access to
public library services.

Provincial Funding

In 2019-20, the Government of Alberta provided $30 million in
public library operating grant funding to public library boards,
distributed on a per capita basis. In addition, $700,000 was
provided to support on-reserve and on-settlement access to
public library programs and services. Funding for public
libraries remained stable between 2018-19 and 2019-20.

Approximately 10 per cent of
Albertans have some form of
print disability, defined as
mobility, cognitive, and visual
impairments. However, only
about five to seven per cent of
published materials are
available in accessible formats.
Alberta is a founding member
of the National Network for
Equitable Library Service
(NNELS), which can change
books to accessible formats on
demand for people with print
disabilities (15,500 books are
currently in accessible formats).
NNELS has been recognized
internationally for its work
providing library services and
working with publishers to
make books accessible.

The direct result of this funding is public libraries are able to
provide more equitable access to public library services for all
Albertans. Without provincial funding, some existing libraries would most likely have to reduce
their hours of operation and/or scale back programs or materials currently provided to their users.

Response to COVID-19 Pandemic

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, public libraries closed their physical locations to patrons on March
17, 2020, as part of a public health order. Public libraries responded quickly with innovative
solutions to providing service. This included promoting and investing more in e-content (including
ebooks and audiobooks), creating online programming (such as virtual story time), promoting
online learning platforms and offering curbside pick-up of library material. Libraries will be
providing new ways of service as the pandemic and recovery continues throughout 2020.
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Electronic Resources

One of the ways the ministry partners with public library stakeholders is by enhancing the
availability and scope of electronic resources in libraries. These investments help public libraries to
better meet local needs; widen the range, quantity, and quality of library resources available to
residents of all parts of the province; and help ensure equitable access to resources for all
Albertans.
In 2019-20, the ministry, in partnership with the Book Publishers Association of Alberta, continued
to support the Read Alberta eBooks initiative, which makes nearly 2,000 Alberta-published ebooks
available to readers across the province. This resource includes the Prairie Indigenous eBooks
Collection. This is a collection of 237 books written by Indigenous authors and published in Alberta,
Saskatchewan, and Manitoba. In partnership with the National Network for Equitable Library
Service, these new materials have been converted to accessible formats, which opens up library
materials to Albertans with disabilities.
The ministry also continued to fund existing e-resources including:

•
•
•

Zinio, which makes e-magazines available to Albertans;

•

Pronunciator, which allows Albertans the opportunity to learn new languages.

audiobooks through Recorded Books;
PressReader, which provides international newspapers and magazines electronically to public
libraries; and

These e-resources continue to enhance the diversity of products provided to Albertans through
public libraries.
Managing SuperNet service and functionality for the Alberta Public Library Network is an
increasingly important part of the ministry’s work to extend equitable access and expand available
resources. The ministry subsidizes SuperNet use for all libraries in the Public Library Network and
continually monitors SuperNet usage. SuperNet usage patterns, and the underpinning technologies,
are reviewed and enhanced on an ongoing basis in order to optimize present and future bandwidth
needs for libraries.

Public Library Services for the Print-Disabled

The ministry supported access for the print-disabled by providing $225,000 in combined funding to
the Centre for Equitable Library Access and the National Network for Equitable Library Service to
produce more books with accessible formats that benefit Albertans through public library
collections. In addition, the ministry provided $50,000 funding to the National Network for
Equitable Library Service to hire three University of Alberta library students to help increase its
capacity to convert traditionally formatted books to accessible formats.

Public Library Services for Indigenous Communities

Indigenous people on First Nations reserves and Metis Settlements have been underserved in terms
of public library services. Beginning in 2016-17, the ministry took action to enhance access to
library services by providing $700,000 annually to three large urban libraries and six regional
library systems to remove financial barriers and improve access to library services for Indigenous
communities.
As a result of this funding, and the work of the ministry with key provincial library network
stakeholders, there are now a number of new Indigenous outreach services available at locations
such as Alexis Nakota Sioux Nation, Cold Lake First Nation, Elizabeth Metis Settlement, Enoch Cree
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Nation, Goodfish Lake First Nation, Heart Lake First Nation, Maskwacîs, Saddle Lake Cree Nation,
and Sunchild First Nation School.
Since 2016, more than 6,500 people have signed up for a new library card through this program. In
September 2019, Maskwacîs Public Library celebrated its grand opening. This library provides a
direct local point of access to library services for residents of the Samson Cree Nation, Ermineskin
Cree Nation, Louis Bull Tribe and the Montana First Nation.
People living on reserves and Metis Settlements now have access to public libraries and the public
library network throughout Alberta at the same level as municipal residents.

Resource Sharing

Alberta’s 322 public libraries share resources in order to
benefit all Albertans. The supports to do this are provided
through electronic software, physical delivery of material by
interlibrary loan, and a policy framework to govern these
services.
In 2019-20, Municipal Affairs staff concluded extensive
consultation with library stakeholders on interlibrary loan
service in Alberta. Municipal Affairs staff then prepared to
implement a new plan for the service, including new software
and a revised structure for delivery between libraries. This
revised structure will improve the efficiency and costeffectiveness of the Alberta interlibrary loan system.

Maskwacîs Public Library
celebrated its grand opening
on September 20, 2019. Over
6,500 residents of Maskwacîs
and other Indigenous
communities in Alberta have a
public library card and can
access all the resources in the
Alberta Public Library Network.

Enhancing the Governance and Management of Public Library Service

To support good governance and management of public library service, the ministry provides
library boards with advisory services, training sessions on library planning and policy
development, and other support materials used to develop sound management and operational
practices.
In 2019-20, the ministry delivered board basics sessions to 127 library board trustees, representing
63 library boards, in nine locations throughout the province. Staff also made presentations to
stakeholders on subjects such as the implementation of the Public Library Network, ebooks and
e-content in library collections, providing service to patrons with print disabilities, and improving
services to Indigenous communities. Provincial library consultants also provided board advice,
strategy sessions, and service workshops through in-person visits with local library boards.

Minister’s Awards for Excellence in Public Library Service

The Minister’s Awards for Excellence in Public Library Service program was launched in 2010, with
the goal of recognizing public libraries with innovative programs, services, or technologies as
centres of excellence. This annual awards program is a way to identify, acknowledge, and
encourage best practices, and to share ideas that can be replicated by libraries across Alberta. The
program is open to all public library boards in the province.
Due to the timing of the provincial election, The Minister’s Awards for Excellence in Public Library
Service were not awarded in 2019. Applicants who submitted for 2019 are being considered for the
2020 awards.
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Other Ministry Activities in Support of Outcome One

Grants in Place of Taxes

As Government of Alberta property is exempt from municipal taxation, municipalities may be given
a grant in place of taxes – not to exceed the value of the property taxes – on eligible properties the
Crown has an interest in within the municipality. The payment acknowledges that the Government
of Alberta benefits from municipal services such as roads, snow clearing, transit, and emergency
services. Examples of eligible properties include provincial buildings, courthouses, correctional
institutions, and grazing reserves.
The overall Grants in Place of Taxes program budget was reduced in 2019-20 and following years.
For 2019-20, the majority of the applications (tax notices) were paid at 75 per cent of the eligible
amount, and it is expected that as of 2020-21, applications will be paid at 50 per cent of the eligible
amount. Despite the province’s difficult economic situation, continuing to provide Grants in Place of
Taxes payments demonstrates an acknowledgement of the vital services provided by municipalities
in communities where Crown properties are located. In 2019-20, $41.7 million was provided for
167 municipalities on behalf of more than 5,000 Crown properties.

Equalized Assessment and Education Property Tax

Each year, the ministry, under the authority of the Minister of Municipal Affairs, prepares equalized
assessments for each municipality in the province. Equalized assessments are the basis for
requisitioning provincial education property tax and other requisitions from municipalities. The
equalization of municipal property assessments is determined by adjusting each municipality’s
taxable assessment to a common level, as prescribed by regulation.
Equalized assessment is a process that levels the playing field for municipalities, so property tax
requisitions and grants can be fairly allocated. Just as property owners pay taxes in proportion to
the value of the property they own, municipalities are required to contribute to the provincial
education and other requisitions based on the proportion of assessment within their jurisdictions.
Equalized assessments are used to determine the specific contributions to be made by each
municipality, and they are also used in formulas for provincial grants to municipalities.
Intermunicipal fairness and equity is important when requisitioning property taxes from
municipalities or calculating grants. In this regard, it is usually necessary to make some
adjustments in the assessment base figures that each municipality reports to the province before
those assessments are used to determine each municipality’s contribution to a regional or
provincial program, or its equitable share of grant dollars. These adjustments are made through the
equalized assessment process.
Alberta’s Municipal Government Act requires most properties be assessed at market value. Ideally,
all properties would be assessed at 100 per cent of market value. However, in practice, assessments
may vary from market value. Municipal assessors estimate the market values of both sold and
unsold properties by applying a technique called mass appraisal. Using common data and standard
methodology, this technique enables an assessor to value a large group of properties in a short
period of time. Mass appraisal is a practice used widely in the assessment of property, but it does
not necessarily result in a value at 100 per cent of market value. This variation is recognized by
legislation, which specifies an acceptable range (95 to 105 per cent) within which a group of
properties can be assessed below or above market value.
Because this range may occur, equalization is used to adjust each municipality’s assessments to 100
per cent of market value. The equalization process removes the variations in assessment levels to
make the assessment bases more comparable among municipalities. The process produces a set of
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adjusted, or equalized, assessments that can then be used to distribute requisitions, or allocate
grants, among municipalities in a fair and equitable manner.
The official 2020 provincial equalized assessment was about $954 billion, which is an increase of
about $4.7 billion (0.49 per cent) from 2019. This slight increase was a result of small growth in
residential (0.87 per cent), a small decline in non-residential (-1.19 per cent), and growth in
machinery and equipment equalized assessment (2.81 per cent). Of particular note was the City of
Calgary’s small growth in residential equalized assessment, but a decrease of about 11 per cent in
their non-residential equalized assessment. This decline is consistent with known assessment
decreases in Calgary’s downtown core. Calgary’s non-residential equalized assessment accounts for
almost 24 per cent of the total non-residential equalized assessment in Alberta.
Education property taxes provide a stable source of funding for the kindergarten-to-Grade-12
education system. The Government of Alberta determines the total amount of education property
tax to be collected. The ministry supports the provincial education property tax system by
calculating the annual education property tax requisition for each municipality. Municipalities
collect the education property taxes on behalf of the provincial government and remit the funds to
the Alberta School Foundation Fund or the opted-out separate school boards. All education
property taxes are then pooled by the provincial government and distributed to public and separate
school boards based on an equal, per-student funding formula.

Provincial Education Requisition Credit and Designated Industrial Requisition
Credit Programs

To support municipalities as they address unpaid property taxes in relation to oil and gas
properties, the Government of Alberta launched the Provincial Education Requisition Credit
program in November 2017. Municipal Affairs facilitates this program by accepting and reviewing
applications from municipalities. Recommendations are then made to Alberta Education to provide
successful applicants with an education property tax credit equal to the uncollectable education
property taxes on delinquent oil and gas properties. As education property tax requisitions must be
paid by the municipality to the province regardless of any tax arrears, this created revenue
challenges for some municipalities and an opportunity for the province to provide assistance.
Municipal stakeholders have continued to react positively to the Provincial Education Requisition
Credit program. For the 2019-20 year, 36 municipalities applied to the program, for a total claim of
$6.16 million. The program was extended for two additional years and is expected to operate until
2021-22.
The government also introduced the Designated Industrial Requisition Credit program to support
municipalities as they address unpaid designated industrial property tax requisitions.
As part of the government’s commitment to red tape reduction, the intake processes for both
programs were combined in 2019-20, resulting in less administration and duplication of work by
municipalities that apply.

Education Property Tax Deferral

In response to the significant economic challenges faced due to the COVID-19 pandemic, a sixmonth deferral of 2020 non-residential education property tax was announced in March 2020.
Municipalities were asked to defer the education portion of the tax bill, or provide an equivalent
combined municipal and education tax deferral. The intent of the deferral is to keep businesses
viable so they can continue to meet payroll obligations and employ as many Albertans as possible.
Municipalities were encouraged to develop similar programs to defer the municipal portion of
business property taxes to further support local businesses.
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Extending Legislated Timelines for Municipalities

Understanding the difficulty to manage and govern while still complying with the recommendations
of the Chief Medical Officer of Health, the ministry approved extending specific dates and timelines
that are legislated for municipalities, including deadlines for submission of financial information
and sending assessment notices. Providing additional time to meet certain legislated requirements
assists both taxpayers and municipalities as they address the ongoing challenges of COVID-19.

Community Revitalization Levy

The Community Revitalization Levy is a program that allows municipalities to borrow against
future property tax revenues to cover infrastructure costs aimed at development in an
economically blighted area. The levies are authorized under the Municipal Government Act, and five
currently exist in Alberta: Calgary’s Rivers District; Edmonton’s Belvedere, The Quarters, and
Capital City Downtown; and Cochrane South-Central area.
Because the Community Revitalization Levy program utilizes education property tax revenue as a
catalyst for development, the Government of Alberta has an interest in ensuring the continued
success of this program. As such, Community Revitalization Levy regulations expire every 10 years
in order to prompt a review of their ongoing relevance and necessity. The regulations related to the
establishment of Edmonton’s Belvedere and Quarters Community Revitalization levies expire on
December 31, 2020; and information gathered through their review in 2020 will inform
recommendations regarding their renewals.

Municipal Cannabis Transition Program

Cannabis legalization occurred in Canada on October 17, 2018, and Alberta’s approach to
legalization has four policy objectives:

1.
2.
3.

Keeping cannabis out of the hands of children.

4.

Limiting the illegal market for cannabis.

Promoting safety on roads, in workplaces and public spaces.
Promoting public health.

Municipalities are playing a role in helping the province achieve these objectives by establishing
policing priorities and administrative functions, such as bylaw development and business licensing.
The Government of Alberta’s Municipal Cannabis Transition Program, announced on October 15,
2018, provided $11.15 million to the 52 Alberta municipalities with populations over 5,000 that
pay for their own policing. These municipalities were targeted because enforcement costs were
expected to be the highest in larger municipalities and, given their size, where cannabis retail stores
would most likely be located. The primary objective of the two-year program was to support
eligible municipalities in addressing additional enforcement and administrative costs related to the
legalization of cannabis in Alberta. This funding supported a range of priorities including:

•
•
•
•

incremental staffing;

•

municipal administration training and capacity building; and

•

municipal bylaw development and enforcement.

education and outreach;
studies and research;
advertising and communications;
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Of the $11.15 million provided under the program, $7.63 million was disbursed in the first year.
Forty-five per cent of that total was used for municipal enforcement (policing), and 55 per cent was
applied to municipal administration.
Engagement with municipalities regarding cannabis-related enforcement costs was completed in
2019. Based on the information provided by stakeholders, and the reported use of funding under
the Municipal Cannabis Transition Program, most of the costs related to cannabis legalization have
been on bylaw development and communication of information about cannabis. Results showed
many municipalities do not have significant ongoing costs related to cannabis enforcement, and the
Municipal Cannabis Transition Program ended as scheduled on December 31, 2019.

Asset Management

Municipal Affairs continues to encourage municipalities to develop and maintain asset management
processes that maximize the value and usefulness of infrastructure assets over their whole lifecycle.
This proactive approach helps municipalities make informed decisions in the delivery of
sustainable services, managing risks, and attaining value for money spent. As part of an annual
process, the ministry surveyed municipalities about their experiences with asset management, to
monitor progress and to identify potential gaps and areas where more support was needed. Fiftyfive per cent of municipalities responded to the 2019-20 survey (140 urban and 51 rural). The
results showed that although formal asset management practices are still developing for many
municipalities, greater implementation of asset management practices occurred over recent years.
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Outcome Two: Alberta’s economic prosperity is facilitated by local governments

Red Tape Reduction

The Ministry of Municipal Affairs is committed to the ongoing review of programs and services to
ensure that the best possible outcomes are being achieved for Albertans. As part of this ongoing
review, the ministry is committed to reducing red tape to make life easier for hard-working
Albertans and businesses. This includes reducing regulatory burden and unnecessary processes to
encourage economic growth and job creation; and make Alberta one of the freest and fastest
moving economies in the world.

Key Objectives
2.1

Streamline regulatory requirements in municipal legislation and regulation that are
hampering administrative efficiencies for municipalities. The proposed amendments
will allow municipalities to be more responsive to the needs of their residents and
businesses.

Bill 25: the Red Tape Reduction Implementation Act, 2019

In November 2019, the Alberta Legislature passed Bill 25, which provided changes to 11 pieces of
legislation including the Municipal Government Act. These changes were intended to streamline
overburdened processes that hampered administrative efficiencies for municipalities, and include
the following:

•

Simplifying and streamlining intermunicipal collaboration framework agreement provisions to
provide municipalities with more flexibility for creating mutually beneficial agreements. This
included removing a number of process requirements to provide municipalities with more
flexibility to include only content that makes sense for their unique circumstances, and aligning
with the existing arbitration process in the Arbitration Act.

•

Removing the requirement for municipalities to complete intermunicipal development plans
where there is mutual agreement between municipalities that an intermunicipal development
plan is not necessary.

•

Amending various sections of the Municipal Government Act to allow for use of electronic
methods for sending assessment notices, tax notices, and school support declaration forms.

•

Removing requirements for certain bylaws to be passed annually by a council if the content of
those bylaws is standard and remains unchanged from the previous year. This includes
supplementary property tax bylaws, business tax bylaws, and supplementary business tax
bylaws.

•

Increasing the maximum number of days for a council to hold a by-election if a vacancy is
created from 90 to 120 days, to provide more time to plan and hold the by-election.

•

Removing 60-day public posting requirements for City Charters Regulation amendments that
have no material change, such as minor clarifications or updates to terminology.

•

General clarification and streamlining of various Municipal Government Act provisions for
efficiency, simplicity, and accuracy.

In 2019-20, the ministry made progress toward streamlining processes to reduce the
administrative burden on municipalities, including:
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•

reducing red tape for the Municipal Sustainability Initiative Operating Program for
municipalities and Metis Settlements, which means spending plans are no longer required up
front to receive payment of the operating allocations; instead, municipalities and Metis
Settlements only need to report on how they used the funding;

•

streamlining the administrative process for the Designated Industrial Requisition Credit
program by combining its application process with the Provincial Education Requisition Credit
program; this cuts red tape for municipalities by reducing the amount of paperwork they need
to complete; and

•

promoting the use of ePost for assessment roll delivery within the province, which supports
industry and municipalities that want to opt out of traditional mail delivery. Using ePost
provides cost-savings to government, and automates and expedites assessment roll delivery.

Future Red Tape Reduction Initiatives

Ongoing and future activities for this Key Strategy include the following:

•

The ministry continues to review all aspects of its programs and processes to eliminate
unnecessary regulatory burden.

•

The ministry is examining the possibility of streamlining provisions relating to Regional
Services Commissions. Legislative and/or regulatory changes relating to these areas could
move forward as early as spring 2020.

•

An upcoming detailed review of the Municipal Government Act and its associated regulations
from a red tape reduction perspective. It is anticipated that more legislative and regulatory
amendments to further streamline processes for municipalities, businesses, and the general
public will be brought forward in fall 2020 and in 2021.

•

Exploring the idea of an online portal for data exchange for designated industrial property
assessment to improve efficiency and support the sharing of information between the
government and taxpayers.

2.2

Enable municipalities to foster economic growth by ensuring they have the tools to do
so, including facilitating pre-approved industrial zones and allowing municipalities to
offer multi-year property tax incentives.

Pre-Approved Industrial Zones

Municipal governments play a key role in establishing competitive economic investment
environments and attracting and facilitating economic development in Alberta. Pre-approved
industrial zones will provide another tool for municipalities to leverage to provide investors and
decision-makers with the certainty necessary to make large capital investments in Alberta.
A pre-approved industrial zone is an area designated for industrial development that has received
advanced approval by regulators for a variety of interrelated industrial activities. While provincial
regulators provide many of the regulatory approvals required for industrial activities, municipal
governments are responsible for creating a framework for orderly development through statutory
plans, such as area structure plans and land-use bylaws. Pre-approved industrial zones will enable
local governments to identify areas that are well-suited for development, and to work efficiently
and collaboratively with provincial regulators to support long-term investment and development in
that area.
In February 2020, Municipal Affairs convened a working group with various Government of Alberta
departments and representatives from the Alberta Industrial Heartland Association and the
Northeast Capital Industrial Association. The working group will explore opportunities and barriers
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to pre-approved industrial zones, and will recommend process improvements and potential
legislative changes to ensure municipalities and industry have the necessary tools to facilitate
industrial development.

Property Tax Incentives

On June 28, 2019, Bill 7, the Municipal Government (Property Tax Incentives) Amendment Act
received royal assent. Bill 7 amended the Municipal Government Act to provide municipalities with
the tools necessary to attract investment and facilitate development by giving them the authority to
offer multi-year property tax incentives to business and industry.
In December of 2019, further amendments through Bill 29, the Municipal Government (Machinery
and Equipment Tax Incentives) Amendment Act expanded the property tax incentives authorities to
include machinery and equipment.
Prior to the introduction of these authorities, municipalities could cancel or refund all or a portion
of a property tax, or defer the collection of a tax, in a specific year. Municipalities could also provide
multi-year tax incentives to encourage redevelopment of brownfield properties. The legislation
expanded the existing authorities to include explicit multi-year incentive powers for broader
economic development purposes.
The property tax incentive is only available for the municipally levied property tax, and cannot be
applied to the provincial education property tax requisition, a local improvement area, a special tax,
or other form of property taxation. The Municipal Government Act limits the maximum length of a
property tax incentive to 15 years, with an option for renewal; however, municipalities are
provided the ability to tailor the length and scope of their incentives within those bounds.
The legislation provides municipalities with a significant amount of flexibility for implementing a
program to meet the unique needs of their community. Should they choose to offer property tax
incentives, councils are required to pass a single bylaw that outlines how the program will operate.
The bylaw must:

•
•
•
•

provide the criteria for a property to qualify;
establish the process for submission and consideration;
provide a period of time in which the incentive may be in place; and
establish who is responsible for reviewing and approving incentive applications.

A property tax incentive bylaw is subject to advertising requirements of the Municipal Government
Act, including the requirement for a public hearing.
By expressly enabling property tax incentives for economic development purposes, the province is
sending a clear message to municipalities, investors, and Albertans that Alberta is open for
business. The ability to offer incentives for a 15-year maximum – and option for renewal – ensures
Alberta municipalities have the ability to provide one of the most generous property tax
exemptions in Canada. Municipalities in British Columbia have the authority to offer property tax
incentives for revitalization purposes for a period of up to 10 years, and Saskatchewan
municipalities are provided the authority to offer five-year property tax incentives with an option
for renewal.

50

Municipal Affairs | Annual Report 2019–2020

Results Analysis

2.3

Develop and deliver on a red tape reduction plan to make sure the ministry’s current
and new regulations are free of unnecessary red tape, as required by the Red Tape
Reduction Act.

Municipal Affairs is cutting unnecessary red tape by one-third over four years to reduce costs,
speed up approvals, and make life better for Albertans. The ministry established a 2020 ministry
Red Tape Reduction plan with information on the key initiatives targeted for completion in the
2020 calendar year. The plan includes a description of each initiative, its goals, and the projected
impacts. Based on this work, the ministry expects to bring forward legislative and regulatory
amendments on a consistent basis over the next two to three years.
In addition to completing a baseline count of all the regulatory requirements in the ministry’s
statutes, regulations, policies, forms and guidelines, Municipal Affairs also launched several red
tape reduction initiatives:

Bill 25, the Red Tape Reduction Implementation Act

Bill 25, the Red Tape Reduction Implementation Act, included numerous amendments to the
Municipal Government Act, as well as the repeal of the Intermunicipal Collaborative Framework
Regulation. Further legislative and/or regulatory amendments are anticipated for spring and fall
2020, and into 2021.

Alberta Public Libraries

Municipal Affairs provided several opportunities for Alberta public library stakeholders to provide
input on potential red tape strategies, including an online survey and in-person engagement
sessions.

911 Grant Program

In early 2020, the 911 Grant Program was streamlined so that 911 call centres will have less
paperwork and fewer reports when reporting on their program expenditures. The decrease in
administrative labour allows the 911 call centres to focus their efforts on providing service to
Albertans in need of emergency assistance. For the 911 Grant Program, this will increase the staff
capacity to directly support 911 services through initiatives such as the development of the Alberta
911 Standards, enhancements to 911 service across Alberta, and 911 public education.

Jurisdiction-Wide Safety Code Variances

Variances provide an alternative option to meeting code requirements while achieving an
equivalent or greater level of safety to the code. Variances are especially useful when new
technology emerges faster than code cycles can adopt it. As of August 9, 2019, municipalities and
corporations accredited to administer the Safety Codes Act can issue code variances covering their
entire jurisdiction. This reduces the time and cost associated with requiring common variances to
be issued repeatedly.

Oil and Gas Equipment Safety Verification

Municipal Affairs issued a variance to the Gas Code Regulation on July 30, 2019, that provided an
additional option for oil and gas corporations to meet code requirements. Corporations can now
use a professional engineer to verify the safety of their equipment using the professional
association’s authentication standard. This change maintained safety standards while reducing
considerable time and cost that industry estimates to be up to $20 million initially, and then $2.5
million annually.

Recertification for Alternatively Powered Vehicles

Effective August 7, 2019, vehicles altered to be powered by a different fuel (for example, a
gasoline-powered vehicle converted to run on propane) are no longer required to be recertified
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every three years. This reduced unnecessary time and cost associated with recertification without
compromising safety.

Operational Changes at the Safety Codes Council

In 2019-20, the Safety Codes Council was actively involved in reducing red tape, including
eliminating unnecessary requirements and streamlining systems impeding industry partners,
municipalities, safety codes officers, and its students. For example, the Safety Codes Council:
• made student tax receipts available online;

•
•

simplified the online exam process;

•
•

reduced the documentation required for variances registered with the council; and

streamlined the training and certification of fire safety codes officers;
improved the Alberta Safety Codes Authority agency payment system.

Performance Measure 2.a:
Number of regulatory requirements reduced across the ministry
2019-20
Target

2019-20
Actual

5% (1,114)

11.1% (2,472)

The 2019-20 5% reduction target was achieved. As of March 30, 2020, Municipal Affairs had
eliminated 2,472 of the 22,263 regulatory requirements that make up its baseline total. This meant
a regulatory requirement reduction of 11.1% had been achieved.
For 2019-20, Municipal Affairs exceeded its 5% regulatory requirement reduction target by 122%
and almost reached its 2020-21 target of reducing the ministry’s baseline count by 12%.
Reaching the 2020-21 target early will enable the ministry to focus on opportunities to reduce red
tape – including at an administrative level – that may not result in a significant reduction to the
number of regulatory requirements but may still allow for programs and services to be accessed
more efficiently and effectively.
The Government of Alberta is committed to reducing regulatory burden by one-third. A reduction
in the number of regulatory requirements demonstrates a reduction in the overall regulatory
burden imposed on Albertans.
Municipal Affairs has reviewed all statutes; regulations; and associated policies, forms, and guides
to establish a baseline count of the number of regulatory requirements needed for citizens,
businesses, and/or government to comply with statutes and regulations, or access government
services. Establishing this baseline will allow the ministry to track the percentage of regulatory
requirements it reduces.
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Regulatory requirements are found in regulatory instruments, such as legislation, regulations,
policies, and forms. Regulatory requirements are defined as an obligation for stakeholders to
complete an action or provide information to access government services or programs, carry out
business, or pursue legislated privileges. The number of regulatory requirements with which
citizens, business, and government must comply is one way to measure the overall regulatory
burden imposed by government.
Reduction in Regulatory Burden by Fiscal Year
40%

33%
30%

20%
20%

11%

12%

10%
5%

0%
2019-20

2020-21

2021-22
Target
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Outcome Three: Albertans are protected with safe buildings, homes, and communities

Key Objectives
3.1

Align the safety codes system to a quality assurance framework that enables partners
to act autonomously while holding them accountable.

Implementing the quality assurance framework

In 2019-20, Municipal Affairs continued implementing the quality assurance framework, providing
clearer direction and stronger oversight while shifting service delivery to safety codes system
partners. The quality assurance framework enables the ministry to monitor the performance of the
safety codes system and identify continuous improvement opportunities, including red tape
reduction.
In March 2019, Municipal Affairs completed one foundational component of the quality assurance
framework – a comprehensive profile of the safety codes system, including an evaluation of
efficiency, effectiveness, and sustainable service delivery. The profile identified opportunities to
strengthen the system, and the ministry has worked with the Safety Codes Council to prioritize and
initiate this work by:

•

working with the Safety Codes Council to increase communication with stakeholders about
system outcomes, expectations, and roles to ensure a common understanding of roles and
responsibilities;

•
•

developing a plan for regular systematic performance reviews of the Safety Codes Council;

•

supporting the Safety Codes Council as it considered opportunities to facilitate risk-based
permitting and inspection. This initiative is reducing red tape in the construction permitting
process, while maintaining safety by recognizing different activities pose different levels of risk.

working with the Safety Codes Council to begin development of tools to evaluate the council’s
accreditation activities, including new metrics to monitor the performance of the accredited
partners to ensure they are meeting organizational and system outcomes; and

New performance metrics

To get a more complete understanding of where Alberta’s safety system is succeeding and where it
can be improved, Municipal Affairs developed three new performance metrics to illustrate the
overall safety of buildings and associated systems. Buildings and associated systems include all
safety disciplines under the Safety Codes Act: building, fire, electrical, gas, plumbing, private sewage,
pressure equipment, elevating devices, amusement rides, and passenger ropeways. The metrics
report on what is directly within the department’s control, as well as what the department may
indirectly influence.
These new metrics have already resulted in a better understanding of the ministry’s available data;
however, a primary limitation is the timeliness of fire reports, which affects the ministry’s ability to
draw conclusions from the results. The 2019 statistics are expected to be more complete when the
next annual report is issued and will be updated at that time. The ministry is considering how to
address data limitations so results can better inform its work without unnecessarily burdening
system partners with cumbersome reporting requirements.
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Performance Measure 3.a:
Number of injuries and fatalities caused by structural or mechanical failure of
buildings and associated systems per 100,000 population in Alberta
Prior Years’ Results
2015-16

Not
Available

2016-17

Not
Available

2017-18

Not
Available

2019-20
Target

2019-20
Actual

2018-19

Not
Available

0.91

0.80

In 2019-20, there were fewer injuries and fatalities than the ministry’s target. There were 34 injury
and fatality incidents reported in 2019 with a total population of 4,271,759, which translates to 0.8
combined injuries and fatalities per 100,000 population in Alberta.
This figure directly measures the ministry’s performance in its mandate of risk mitigation by
reporting on incidents in which risk was not mitigated. Injuries and fatalities resulting from
structural or mechanical failure of buildings and associated systems most likely result from a gap in
a safety code.
The number of incidents has been relatively stable year-over-year, with 35 incidents in 2018 and
34 in 2019. This stability, along with the low absolute number of incidents, reflects the minimal
amount of injuries and fatalities within the department’s control to reduce. The majority of injuries
and fatalities captured in this measure are a result of fires, representing 19 of the 34 total incidents
across all disciplines in 2019.
Performance Indicator 3.b:
Number of injuries and fatalities involving buildings or associated systems not caused
by structural or mechanical failure per 100,000 population in Alberta
Prior Years’ Results
2015

6.03

2016

6.20

2017

7.11

2019
2018

5.12

4.05

In 2019, there were 173 injuries or fatalities identified that were not caused by structural or
mechanical failures. This is down considerably from the 215 incidents in 2018 and the 296
incidents in 2017. While the majority of injuries and fatalities recorded are the result of fire, the low
numbers from the fire discipline could be due to underreporting.
This figure provides a more complete illustration of safety in the system, as it includes injuries and
fatalities. These injuries and fatalities are in most cases the result of human behaviour, including
tripping on an escalator, falling off a ski-hill T-bar, or burns caused by an accidental fire attributed
to inattentiveness.
When reviewed in combination with performance measure 3.a., the ministry can conclude that the
vast majority of injuries and fatalities in the safety system are due to human error. These results
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point to opportunities to engage with cross-ministry and system stakeholders to influence safety.
For example, the numbers reflect 12 hospitalizations related to carbon monoxide poisoning. By
examining the causes further, the ministry can plan the focus of future carbon monoxide awareness
campaigns.
Performance Indicator 3.c:
Number of fire reports not caused by structural or mechanical failure of buildings and
associated systems, per 100,000 population in Alberta
Prior Years’ Results
2015

124.09

2016

404.51*

2019

2017

2018

104.04

116.63

87.83

*The 2016 fire number includes the Wood Buffalo wildfire. When these wildfires are excluded, the number of fire
reports per 100,000 population is 103.11.

The 2019 result, which represents a 26 per cent reduction in fire reports over the previous year, is
the lowest value reported in the last five years.
Overall, the per-capita number of fires not related to structural or mechanical failure (excluding
fires related to the Wood Buffalo wildfire) has decreased every year since 2015, except for an
increase in 2018. As noted above, this is likely due to underreporting, and the department expects
fires to continue to be reported throughout the year.
Together, performance indicators 3.b and 3.c capture incidents outside of the ministry’s control but
that staff can influence by working with cross-ministry and system stakeholders to mitigate
emerging issues. As fire report numbers are finalized, the ministry can analyze trends in all
performance metrics, and use the results to better inform ministry decisions. For example, the
ministry may identify changes to propose at the national code development tables, work with
partners to clarify enforcement policy, or target the focus or audience of fire prevention and safety
awareness campaigns.

Accountability of safety system partners

In line with Government of Alberta direction to review all programs, services, and spending in
order to reduce red tape – and MacKinnon Report recommendations to review agencies, boards,
and commissions – the ministry has begun reviewing all four organizations with responsibilities
under the Safety Codes Act.
In 2019-20, the ministry initiated a transfer of authority for the safe management of petroleum
storage tanks from the Petroleum Tank Management Association of Alberta to the Alberta Safety
Codes Authority, a branch of the Safety Codes Council. This move will consolidate service delivery
for unaccredited municipalities into one organization to reduce red tape by decreasing wait times,
and improve the quality of inspections. The Safety Codes Council and the ministry are also using the
transition as an opportunity to review administration of storage tank safety. For example, as an
early result of the review, the council will eliminate the tank registry, as this duplicates the tracking
function already served by permits. The transition of responsibility will be completed in the 202021 fiscal year.
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A review of the Alberta Elevating Devices and Amusement Rides Safety Association is also
underway, and reviews of the Safety Codes Council and Alberta Boilers Safety Association will
follow.
3.2

Represent Alberta and its interests during the development of national and
international codes for potential adoption in Alberta.

New focus on broader code development

With the introduction of timely code adoption, Municipal Affairs and its partners (including the
Safety Codes Council) are no longer spending time reviewing each new code after publication by
national or international development bodies. As a result, the ministry’s technical experts have
shifted to participating more actively in influencing code development at a national and
international level to ensure safety codes better reflect Alberta’s needs. This encourages labour
mobility and the reduction of trade barriers through more uniform code standards, as Alberta will
not require as many province-specific variations from the national codes.
Alberta chairs the Provincial and Territorial Policy Advisory
Committee on Codes, which was established to promote
harmonized codes and provide provincial and territorial input
on the development of the national codes from the National
Research Council (building, fire, energy efficiency, plumbing,
farm buildings). This year, the committee drafted a
Reconciliation Agreement on Construction Codes to support
the Canadian Free Trade Agreement. Once ratified, the
reconciliation agreement will reduce trade barriers and
strengthen Alberta’s influence in code development by:

•

providing safety codes to the public for free online (now in
effect);

•

bringing national codes into force in each province and
territory within a specific period of time;

•

reducing or eliminating province- or territory-specific
variations to the national codes; and

•

transforming the existing national code system so
provinces and territories approve code updates at the
national development tables, rather than making
recommendations through the policy committee.

Alberta has already made
progress on several items in
the Reconciliation Agreement
on Construction Codes:
Alberta’s building, fire, and
energy efficiency safety codes
have been available online for
free since April 2019.
Under timely code adoption,
Alberta’s building, fire, energy
efficiency, and plumbing codes
automatically come into force
within one year of being
published.
Alberta is exploring ways to
reduce or eliminate provincespecific variations to national
codes to further reduce red
tape and trade barriers.

The agreement has been endorsed by the Regulatory
Reconciliation and Cooperation Table, which is the working
group for the Canadian Free Trade Agreement. Provincial and territorial governments are seeking
review and signature in 2020.
Alberta participates in a similar forum – the National Public Safety Advisory Committee –
established to advise the Standards Council of Canada, which publishes codes in other safety
disciplines. Much like Provincial and Territorial Policy Advisory Committee on Codes, this forum
aims to ensure codes are satisfying provincial and territorial concerns; codes are being successfully
harmonized; barriers are reduced for trade, investment, and labour; and best practices are shared
amongst provinces and territories.
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Finally, Alberta participates on the Provincial Territorial Advisory Committee, which sets
overarching policy for the two codes committees above, and builds consensus in the safety codes
systems. It currently serves as the working group for the Regulatory Reconciliation and
Cooperation Table under the Canadian Free Trade Agreement.
This year, the ministry has addressed costs associated with representing Alberta at these national
meetings by only having staff attend a select number of events in person, while most other
meetings are attended via teleconference.

New codes adopted in multiple disciplines

As part of Municipal Affairs’ ongoing work to release comprehensive, modern safety codes that
reflect the standards developed through national committee participation, several new codes were
adopted and declared in force on April 1, 2019:

•
•

National Building Code – 2019 Alberta Edition

•

National Energy Code for Buildings – 2017 Edition

National Fire Code – 2019 Alberta Edition

Alberta’s emphasis on contributing to codes at the national level reduces the process of making any
Alberta-specific modifications to the codes. This makes the process of publishing Alberta editions of
the codes faster, more efficient and in some disciplines free of charge.
3.3

Reduce provincial trade barriers in safety codes.

Reduction of barriers through the Canadian Free Trade Agreement

As mentioned in 3.2, the Provincial and Territorial Policy Advisory Committee on Codes has
reached consensus on a draft agreement on construction codes (building, fire, plumbing, and
energy), including making codes freely available, introducing timely code adoption, and
harmonizing codes (i.e. reducing province-specific code variations). The Regulatory Reconciliation
and Cooperation Table has endorsed the draft agreement, which is now under review by each
provincial and territorial government for signature in 2020. As not all codes are produced through
the National Research Council, Municipal Affairs will work to reduce red tape by harmonizing as
many other code requirements as possible in other safety disciplines, such as elevating devices and
pressure equipment.

Reduction of trade barriers for mass-timber construction

As part of its red-tape reduction initiatives, Alberta repealed a section of the Safety Codes Act that
restricted the construction of wood buildings to a maximum of six storeys and duplicated a
provision of the current building code. This section of the Act was introduced to allow six-storey
wood construction before it was introduced in the code, and to prevent municipalities from
prohibiting it once it was allowed. As the next editions of the national building and fire codes will
allow for wood building construction taller than six storeys, this section would have unintentionally
limited Alberta’s builders to six storeys.
With the legislative change complete, Alberta issued a variance that allows builders to make early
use of the national mass-timber construction standards that will be included in the next national
building and fire codes. This allows Alberta’s builders to construct mass-timber buildings of up to
12 storeys two construction seasons faster than under the automatic code adoption process of
upcoming national code provisions. This supports the mandates of several government
departments by reducing red tape and helping industry create jobs in both the forestry and
construction sectors.
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3.4

Hold residential builders accountable to construction standards for quality and code
compliance.

Organizational changes and a new name

Following the New Home Buyer Protection Office’s introduction of builder licensing, the ministry
reorganized the area to more efficiently administer the New Home Buyer Protection Act and
associated regulations. As part of these changes, the new home warranty program and the builder
licensing program were combined and renamed the Residential Protection Program.

Residential Protection Program review

Mandatory new home warranty was introduced in Alberta
under the New Home Buyer Protection Act in 2014. To evaluate
the Residential Protection Program’s effectiveness in
enhancing consumer protection and residential builder
performance, Municipal Affairs initiated a strategic review of
the program in 2019. The review process has been informed
through feedback from homeowners, the Government of
Alberta’s Cut Red Tape website (https://www.alberta.ca/cutred-tape.aspx), and consultation with industry and system
partners through the Residential Protection Program Advisory
Group. Ministry staff are working with Treasury Board and
Finance and Service Alberta to ensure awareness and
alignment across departments involved in oversight of new
home warranty and consumer protection.
The program began to implement operational changes in 201920, including improving turnaround times for builder licence
applications and owner-builder authorizations. Policy,
legislative, and regulatory changes will occur in 2020-21.

The changing nature of home warranty and
residential builder compliance

During the first years of mandatory new home warranty,
Municipal Affairs’ compliance actions focused on the
administrative requirements, such as ensuring all new homes
had home warranty coverage. The need for administrative
compliance activity decreased as municipalities, industry, and
professionals better understood the new policies and
procedures. This year, ministry staff have had more time to
focus on pursuing individual cases that warrant their attention.

Advances in fire protection and
wood-product technology are
leading to taller, larger wood
buildings, while maintaining an
equivalent or greater level of
safety to other building
materials. Mass-timber
construction is safe both
because of the materials used,
and the safety requirements
introduced into the building and
fire codes.
For example: structures built
with mass-timber – a proven
construction technique that
supports Alberta’s forestry
industry – are heavily
engineered and must meet
stringent safety requirements.
The 2009 building and fire
codes improved security
measures to better protect
buildings under construction
from fire.
The 2020 codes will improve
firefighter street access, fire
protection, and construction
site security measures for
12-storey wood construction.

When builder licensing was introduced in 2017, the initial
focus was on the administration of the program, such as
processing licensing applications. As greater information was
collected from builders and case files, staff began focusing less
on administrative tasks and more on using the program to
encourage code compliance. Municipal Affairs now encourages municipalities to contact program
staff when builders refuse to address code compliance issues so that builder licensing can support
their enforcement of the Safety Codes Act.
Both the Residential Protection Program review and the ongoing work in home warranty and
builder licensing align with the quality assurance framework processes being implemented across
the division (see Section 3.1). In 2020-21, the program will continue to focus on achieving system
outcomes, such as safety, and program outcomes, such as consumer protection. The results of the
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review will advise how well the program has been achieving
these outcomes, along with recommendations for improving
performance.

Wood Buffalo Rebuild Compliance Case Study

While new home warranty is
available in all provinces,
Alberta, British Columbia,
Ontario, and Quebec also have
mandatory new home warranty
as an additional layer of
consumer protection.

In March 2018, the Regional Municipality of Wood Buffalo
identified 175 builders who had allowed owners to move into
their homes even though there were outstanding safety code
violations, and the municipality had not granted occupancy
permits. The municipality contacted the Residential Protection
Program, which in turn encouraged those builders to take care of these issues before applying for
their builder licence. This approach yielded excellent results; by August 2019, the number of homes
with outstanding construction issues – as identified by the municipality – had been reduced from
175 to seven (five had not applied for a licence and two have conditional licences that will be reevaluated if they fail to address the issues in a specified timeframe).
3.5

Lower regulatory costs on new housing.

Municipal Affairs was mandated to address the government’s platform commitment to lower
regulatory costs on new housing, which are increasing the price of new homes. Policy, legislative,
and regulatory changes related to the Safety Codes Act, New Home Buyer Protection Act, and
Municipal Government Act and their regulations, are expected to proceed in the next fiscal year.

Risk-based inspections

Municipal Affairs is supporting the Safety Codes Council as it works with municipalities to pursue
risk-based inspections. Risk-based inspections consider the real-world risk in the building process,
such as the experience and track record of the builder or contractor, and the scale and complexity
of the project. Some municipalities have already expressed interest in shifting away from
unnecessary, costly, and time-intensive inspections that provide no additional safety benefit. This
approach to inspections aligns with the safety codes system’s quality assurance framework, and
aims to provide as much flexibility for industry and municipalities as possible without
compromising public safety.

Consultation with stakeholders

In 2019-20, Municipal Affairs met with the Rural Municipalities Association, the Alberta Urban
Municipalities Association, other government departments, and building industry representatives
to discuss regulatory hurdles and opportunities to reduce red tape when building homes. Municipal
Affairs will continue to meet with stakeholders in 2020 to inform further red tape reduction
opportunities.
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Outcome Four: Alberta is emergency-ready and resilient

Key Objectives
Impact of the Novel Coronavirus on the Alberta Emergency Management Agency

On January 30, 2020, the Provincial Operations Centre was elevated due to the global emergence
and spread of the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) that originated in Wuhan, China on December 31,
2019. The purpose of this elevation was to provide cross-governmental communication and
support to Alberta Health, which was the lead department for this event. More information on the
response to the COVID-19 pandemic is found on pages 66-70.
The increased elevation levels significantly disrupted the regular operations of the Alberta
Emergency Management Agency, as the response to COVID-19 required the participation of the
majority of the Alberta Emergency Management Agency staff. This impacted the ability of many of
the areas of the agency to fully complete initiatives, or to report on the progress in a fulsome
manner. Any gaps in reporting, or projects delayed, will be identified in the results analysis.
4.1

Work with and support communities in implementing recent changes to the emergency
management legislative framework to improve emergency preparedness at the
community-level.

Local Authority Emergency Management Regulation

The Local Authority Emergency Management Regulation came into force on January 1, 2020. The
regulation establishes new requirements for local authorities and clarifies several pre-existing
requirements under the Emergency Management Act. The regulation outlines the municipal
governance of emergency management in Alberta; allows for specific training to be prescribed to
municipal elected officials, directors of emergency management, and other municipal staff; and
specifies emergency plan and exercise requirements.
The purpose of the regulation is to establish a minimal level of emergency management capacity
that communities are required to provide for their residents. The regulation also clarifies the
process for pursuing a regional collaboration structure to help municipalities meet their legislated
requirements, while sharing the related administrative responsibilities.
In 2019-20, the ministry continued to work with and support communities to ensure their
compliance with the new regulation. This support is provided by the ministry’s field officers, who
are in contact with communities, provide emergency management-related services and assistance,
and respond to any questions or concerns that arise.
Since the regulation came into force, there has been a heightened awareness of local authorities’
responsibilities for emergency management, which has led several communities across Alberta to
consider regional collaboration. The ministry is assisting many communities, as they move toward
a regional collaboration structure. In 2019-20, a total of eight initiatives entered the planning stage,
but none were finalized by communities before the end of the fiscal year, so none were authorized
by the minister.

Alberta Emergency Plan Review

In 2019-20, the ministry initiated a review of the Alberta Emergency Plan, a required plan under
the Government Emergency Management Regulation. The plan describes the emergency
management system in Alberta and the roles and responsibilities of emergency management
partners. It also sets out the policies, processes, and procedures for the effective and efficient
response and management of disasters and emergencies.
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The current version of the Alberta Emergency Plan was approved in 2015 and, since that time,
Alberta has experienced several significant emergencies and disasters that have changed some of
the structures, processes, and procedures used in the emergency management system. To address
the gap between the current Alberta Emergency Plan and the best practices that have been
implemented since 2015, a review and update of the plan was initiated. The review identified and
updated the gaps between the plan and current practice in order to capture and codify the
enhancements to the emergency management system.
During the 2019-20 fiscal year, the Alberta Emergency Plan was redrafted, and went through an
internal Government of Alberta consultation. Further work on the revision of the Alberta
Emergency Plan was placed on hold in late February due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic
on the Alberta Emergency Management Agency’s operations. The project plan for the Alberta
Emergency Plan revisions was for the new draft to be presented to the Assistant Deputy Ministers’
and Deputy Ministers’ public safety committees for their review and consideration, before moving
forward for final approvals. Given the protracted duration of the pandemic, new timelines for this
initiative have not been determined.

Community Emergency Management Plans

The Emergency Management Act and the Local Authority Emergency Management Regulation
require every local authority in Alberta to have an emergency management plan. Under the
Emergency Management Act, a local authority is considered to be the council of:

•

cities;

•
•
•
•
•

towns;

•
•

Metis Settlements; and

villages;
summer villages;
municipal districts;
specialized municipalities;
improvement districts governed by a council.

By engaging in regular emergency management planning, communities develop effective response
strategies before an emergency or disaster occurs. Ministry field officers support communities by
reviewing community emergency plans and encouraging best practices to promote a consistent
level of emergency management planning across the province.
This year, the ministry developed and implemented a more detailed checklist to guide the review of
community emergency plans, and to ensure communities were provided with consistent and clear
feedback on their plans. The checklists were developed to confirm emergency plans align with the
Emergency Management Act and Local Authority Emergency Management Regulation and to
promote greater consistency across all municipalities.
In 2019-20, field officers reviewed community emergency plans for Alberta communities, including
Metis Settlements, though reporting on this activity is not possible for this Annual Report due to
interruption of regular duties associated with the pandemic.
The ministry also provides emergency management services and advice to First Nation
communities through an agreement with Indigenous Services Canada. This agreement allows the
ministry to provide nearly identical service levels to First Nations communities as all other
municipalities receive from regional field officers. Examples of these services include emergency

62

Municipal Affairs | Annual Report 2019–2020

Results Analysis

plan reviews, emergency management training, emergency exercise participation and coordination, and liaison with the ministry’s Alberta Emergency Management Agency. First Nations
field officers ensure emergency management services are provided in a culturally appropriate
manner. In 2019-20, First Nations field officers also visited First Nations communities to review
their community emergency plans. While First Nations communities are not legally required to
have emergency plans or programs, all Alberta First Nations communities have emergency plans in
place.

The Community Emergency Management Program

The Community Emergency Management Program is a free online tool designed to help develop
local emergency plans and programs. Updated and maintained by the Municipal Affairs, it is
available to all Alberta municipalities, First Nations communities, and through some regional
partnerships. The tool includes a range of resources and information that complement the services
provided by the ministry’s field officers. One of the goals of the program is to promote a
standardized approach to emergency management across all communities. The continued use and
uptake of the Community Emergency Management Program highlights the importance of the
relationships the ministry has developed with Alberta communities through training, feedback, and
support. The budget for the Community Emergency Management Program is $20,000.
The number of communities that have chosen to use the voluntary Community Emergency
Management Program to assist them with their emergency program needs is increasing. In 201920, there were 604 registered users representing 295 municipalities, regional partnerships, and
First Nations communities. This is an increase from 2018-19, in which there were 598 registered
users representing 281 communities.
In the coming year, the Community Emergency Management Program will be updated to align its
information and tools – including a self-assessment and emergency management plan template –
with the amended Emergency Management Act and Local Authority Emergency Management
Regulation, which came into force on January 1, 2020.
Performance Measure 4.a:
Percentage of communities (municipalities, First Nations, and Metis Settlements) that
have been visited by an Alberta Emergency Management Agency field officer and had
their Community Emergency Management Plan reviewed annually
Prior Years’ Results
2017-18

96%

2019-20
Target

2019-20
Actual

90%

N/A*

2018-19

90%

*Results for 2019-20 are not available at the time of publication, due to the ministry’s response to the COVID-19
pandemic. Results will be reported in the ministry’s 2020-21 annual report.

Intergovernmental Collaboration

The Minister of Municipal Affairs is the current provincial co-chair of the Senior Officials
Responsible for Emergency Management, and the Managing Director of the Alberta Emergency
Management Agency is the chair of the Canadian Council of Emergency Management Organizations,
which are bodies with representatives from provincial and territorial emergency management
organizations across Canada. These organizations work to harmonize and improve emergency
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management practices across Canada, advance priority public safety issues, and identify means to
facilitate cross-jurisdictional mutual aid.
In January 2019, the Senior Officials Responsible for Emergency Management endorsed a revised
emergency management strategy for Canada. The strategy looks to strengthen the resilience of
Canadians by 2030, with each provincial and territorial government adopting a whole-of-society
approach to reduce the risk of disaster. Work continues in the Senior Officials Responsible for
Emergency Management forum to develop an action plan to guide the implementation of this
strategy. This work was expected to be provided to Senior Officials Responsible for Emergency
Management by winter 2020 for its review and direction. However, given the protracted duration
of the COVID-19 disruption, new timelines for this review have not been determined.
In March 2020, the ministry entered into a contract for third-party secretariat services for the
Canadian Council of Emergency Management Organizations. The intent of the contract was to
enhance the Canadian Council of Emergency Management Organizations’ capacity to co-ordinate,
collaborate and share information among its provincial and territorial emergency management
organizations, as well as to advocate in a sustained manner on public safety issues of national
importance on the national stage. This establishment of the secretariat has proven timely and
important. As a result of COVID-19, both these organizations have held teleconferences, issued
information requests and shared approaches and lessons learned amongst its members in support
of a co-ordinated and consistent federal, provincial, and territorial response. These co-ordination
efforts have been greatly assisted by the Canadian Council of Emergency Management
Organizations’ newly established third-party secretariat.
In addition to the above, through the expertise of ministry staff that participate on Senior Officials
Responsible for Emergency Management working groups, Alberta continues to provide support,
resources, and guidance to the development of a national Public Safety Broadband Network and the
National Public Alerting System. These national programs are designed to support enhanced
emergency communications such as local 911 services and public emergency alerting.

Public Safety Committees

The ministry chairs the Assistant Deputy Ministers’ and Deputy Ministers’ public safety
Committees. These committees provided leadership and direction during major disasters, such as
the 2013 southern Alberta floods, 2016 Wood Buffalo wildfire, and 2019 northwest Alberta
wildfires. In spring 2020, these committees form a key co-ordination, collaboration, and support
function in the government’s overall COVID-19 response.
In addition to this work, the committees facilitated the cross-governmental review of several
significant evolutions to Alberta’s public safety system, which included reviewing and revising the
Emergency Management Act, creating the Local Authority Emergency Management Regulation, and
developing and implementing the Provincial Emergency Social Services Framework.
The committees are mandated to:

•
•
•

help develop public safety initiatives requiring cross-ministry co-ordination and discussion;
act as the Government of Alberta Business Continuity Program steering committee; and
lead the administrative response to large-scale disasters.

During the northwest Alberta wildfires, the Deputy Ministers’ Public Safety Committee met
regularly to ensure a co-ordinated and collaborative cross-ministry response. The committee
discussed issues such as providing direct wildfire fighting operations, issuing emergency evacuee
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and overall disaster recovery funding, supporting evacuees, and co-ordinating Government of
Alberta communications.
In relation to COVID-19, the government rapidly and fully engaged the committees in preparation
for, and response to, this unprecedented event. The committee’s key activities have included:

•

supporting the Emergency Management Cabinet Committee and individual ministries within
the Government of Alberta whole-of-government response structure;

•
•

providing strategic advice and cross-government direction;

•

generating, reviewing and co-ordinating major COVID-19-related policy decisions.

assisting in cross-government resource and information co-ordination and sharing; and

This work has been conducted through daily committee meetings and other briefings as required,
and the committees remain in place as a standing feature of Alberta’s emergency management and
public safety governance system and as a key feature of the province’s whole-of-government
approach to COVID-19.

Provincial Operations Centre

The ministry operates the Provincial Operations Centre. With an annual budget of $1.3 million, the
centre facilitates the co-ordination of the Government of Alberta response to emergencies and
disasters. The Provincial Operations Centre is staffed 24 hours a day, seven days a week, and is
prepared to respond to requests from municipalities and other Government of Alberta
departments. The centre has four operational levels, which correspond to the level of staffing,
cross-government support, and reporting required for an emergency event.
At Level 1 Routine Operations, the Provincial Operations Centre is staffed by provincial duty
officers, who monitor events throughout the province. When an emergency or disaster event
occurs, the Provincial Operations Centre escalates their activities and reporting, and is staffed by
additional ministry personnel and cross-government representatives, with successive elevation
levels increasing to its highest level, which is Level 4.
The Provincial Operations Centre was elevated to address the northwest Alberta wildfires. These
wildfires were extremely complex and dynamic, and involved several significant incidents
occurring close together. The elevation ran from May 19, 2019, until June 27, 2019 – a total of 39
days, with eight days at Level 2, 24 days at Level 3, and seven days at Level 4. The impact on
communities from the wildfires was significant enough that five municipalities, three First Nations,
and one Metis Settlement declared states of local emergency due to the threat of wildfire to their
communities. Through the duration of the event, neighbouring communities provided support and
accommodation to approximately 18,000 evacuees from impacted areas. During this event, the
Provincial Operations Centre co-ordinated the Government of Alberta’s support to the communities
and people impacted by the wildfires.
Throughout the response to the 2019 Northwest Alberta Wildfires, the ministry implemented
several new practices based on lessons learned from the response to the 2016 Wood Buffalo
wildfire. New practices included:

•
•

developing and implementing a Provincial Operations Centre de-escalation criteria;

•
•

initiating cross-ministry recovery planning in the early stages;

implementing a standard planning process for the development of incident action plans;
developing a process for critical identification and mitigation; and
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•

implementing an enhanced professional development program to better prepare Provincial
Operations Centre staff for future activations.

COVID-19 Pandemic

The novel coronavirus that causes coronavirus disease (COVID-19) is the fifth documented
pandemic since the 1918 flu pandemic. The virus was first reported in Wuhan, China as a cluster of
pneumonia cases in late December 2019. The World Health Organization (WHO) declared the
COVID-19 outbreak a public health emergency of international concern on January 30, 2020, and a
global pandemic on March 11, 2020. On March 16, 2020, the federal government made the decision
to bar non-essential travel to Canada, and around this time, each of the provinces and territories
declared states of emergency, as cases of community transmission were confirmed. Governments
across Canada implemented restrictions to mitigate COVID-19, such as closing non-essential
businesses, daycares, and schools; encouraging social distancing; and employing mandatory selfisolation for travelers. Alberta implemented some of the least restrictive public health orders in
Canada, relying on common sense and personal responsibility to limit the spread of COVID-19.
0F

1F

Early in the 2020-21 fiscal year, the co-ordinated efforts to mitigate the spread of COVID-19 pointed
to early signs of success. Beginning in April 2020, countries that experienced the earliest outbreaks
began to ease COVID-19-related restrictions, as cases of community transmission decreased. In
Canada, many of the provinces and territories introduced a phased approach to reopening, with
some businesses slated for reopening in May 2020. In Alberta, a plan called Alberta’s Relaunch
Strategy was introduced on April 30, 2020. This strategy set the path for gradually lifting
restrictions based on the advice of public health officials.

Impact of COVID-19

The COVID-19 pandemic is not simply a health crisis; it has far-reaching impacts on the economy
and society. In both Alberta and throughout the world, entire commercial, religious, educational,
and sports institutions closed, while many industries experienced significant economic losses,
particularly tourism, retail, and hospitality. Increasing unemployment and the threat of inflation
also impacted countries, with Canada’s unemployment rate rising to 7.80 per cent by the end of
March 2020 .
2F

3F

At the end of the 2019-20 fiscal year, Albertans were facing the most severe economic conditions
since the Great Depression. In March 2020, the price of oil fell to US$29.21 per barrel based on the
West Texas Intermediate; a US$28.94 drop from the previous year. The low price of oil,
compounded by the economic fallout of COVID-19, not only impacted those in the oil and gas sector,
but also those in the agricultural and construction sectors, which saw disruptions in the movement
of goods and services and fluctuating commodity prices. Small and medium-sized businesses faced
challenges, as businesses throughout the province were ordered to close their doors to protect
Albertans. This difficult decision impacted business owners, their employees, and customers and
clients.
7F

From a social perspective, COVID-19 has fundamentally changed the way people live. Physical
distancing and stay-at-home measures have limited social interactions among family and friends,
which can negatively affect mental health. Vulnerable groups have been particularly affected by the
pandemic, as seniors, people experiencing homelessness, and individuals escaping domestic
violence have faced social isolation and barriers to necessary services and support. Misconceptions
and misinformation associated with COVID-19 have also been shown to impact Albertans, including
essential workers and healthcare professionals.
Going forward, the government’s first priority remains the lives and livelihoods of Albertans. As of
June 1, 2020, there were more than 6.2 million confirmed cases of COVID-19 worldwide. The virus
had impacted more than 200 countries, with more than 370,000 deaths. Canada, as of June 1, 2020,
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had 90,516 confirmed cases of COVID-19, with most cases reported in Ontario and Quebec. Alberta
had 400 active cases, with 6,501 Albertans recovered, and 141 reported deaths from the virus.
While the impact of COVID-19 is significant, the Government of Alberta remains committed to
leading the path to recovery, while grappling with the challenges both created and heightened by
the pandemic.

Response to the COVID-19 Pandemic
Provincial Operations Centre
In response to the widespread nature and cascading impacts of COVID-19, the Government of
Alberta formally declared a public health emergency on March 17, 2020 under the Public Health Act.
While the formal declaration occurred on March 17, 2020, government had been monitoring,
planning, and preparing for COVID-19’s impacts prior to this formal declaration.
On January 30, 2020, the Provincial Operations Centre was elevated to Level 2 due to the global
emergence and spread of the novel coronavirus (COVID-19). This elevation was in response to the
pneumonia-like virus outbreak that originated in Wuhan, China on December 31, 2019. The
purpose of this elevation was to provide cross-governmental communication and support to
Alberta Health, which was the lead department for this event. On March 14, 2020 the Provincial
Operations Centre elevated to Level 3, and then, to Level 4 on March 17. The elevation established
consistent information management and distribution processes within the Government of Alberta,
and set the conditions for cross-government co-ordination in the event that an increased risk to
Albertans from COVID-19 materialized.
To support the Government of Alberta and local authorities’ response to the pandemic, two sets of
amendments were proposed to the Emergency Management Act. The first amendments were made
through Bill 9, which allowed for a provincially declared state of emergency to exist at the same
time as a state of local emergency. The next set of amendments, which were in development at the
end of March, were enacted through Bill 13. These changes enabled municipalities to declare a 90day state of local emergency for a pandemic, allow for electronic council meetings to make a
declaration of a state of local emergency, provide clear language that it is an offence to not be
compliant with an order made under an emergency declaration, and update language related to
pandemics in the legislation.
For the duration of the pandemic response, a key priority for the Provincial Operations Centre was
the procurement, prioritization, and distribution of personal protective equipment for all nonhealthcare related stakeholders. This was required due to increased global demand for personal
protective equipment, which stretched regular supply chains and impacted nearly every
stakeholder’s ability to find personal protective equipment. To address this issue, the Provincial
Operations Centre co-ordinated with Alberta Health Services, Alberta Health, and other
Government of Alberta departments, to consolidate the procurement and distribution of personal
protective equipment. While Alberta Health Services was responsible for procurement for the
healthcare system, the Provincial Operations Centre was responsible for Government of Alberta
departments, municipalities, and other stakeholders.
In addition to elevating the Provincial Operations Centre, the ministry co-ordinated and supported
broader planning, preparation, and co-ordination activities including, but not limited to:

•

Following Alberta Health’s lead, focusing Assistant Deputy Ministers’ and the Deputy Ministers’
public safety committees work on COVID-19 planning and preparation, including;

o Early monitoring and reporting on the outbreak, as provided by Alberta Health;
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o On February 11, 2020, convening a Deputy Ministers’ Public Safety Committee meeting
solely focused on planning and preparation;

o The committees’ rapid inclusion into the Government of Alberta’s whole-of-government
response structure;

o A review of key planning documents including:
the Alberta Pandemic Influenza Plan;
the Alberta Pandemic Ethics Framework;
the province’s emergency management legislation;
the province’s emergency management response protocols;
the province’s Business Continuity Plan; and
lessons learned from a cross-government pandemic response emergency exercise that
took place in 2019.
Other planning, preparation, and co-ordination activities around COVID-19, included support for
cross-government emergency operations centres such as Alberta Health’s Emergency Operations
Centre, and the Provincial Emergency Social Services Emergency Coordination Centre. The ministry
also co-ordinated with federal, provincial, and territorial emergency management and public safety
partners through the Senior Officials Responsible for Emergency Management, the Canadian
Council of Emergency Management Organizations, on a bi-lateral basis.
The province continues to actively monitor, assess, and respond to the COVID-19 pandemic, as well
as plan for the recovery.
Pandemic Response Planning Team
On March 14, 2020, the Government of Alberta initiated a cross-government planning team to help
co-ordinate provincial responses to the COVID-19 pandemic. On March 23, 2020, government
formally established the Pandemic Response Planning Team, with the goal of a developing a wholeof-society response to medium- and long-term issues emerging from the pandemic over the next
12-to-18 months.
The Pandemic Response Planning Team complements the work of Alberta Health, Alberta Health
Services, and the Provincial Operations Centre by addressing predominately non-health-related
issues that require cross-ministry collaboration to ensure a whole-of-government response during
the pandemic. The team delivered the outcomes required for the Government of Alberta to support
all Albertans efficiently during the public health emergency, including:
•

identifying the top 18 priority action areas for the pandemic in the health, economy, and social
sectors, and developing a response framework to address the priorities;

•

developing and implementing policies, plans, and products to respond to pandemic-related
issues and events;

•

co-ordinating non-health ministerial orders, regulations and legislation required to support
pandemic-related action by the province;

•

acquiring and distributing non-healthcare-related personal protective equipment for essential
Government of Alberta staff and external stakeholders;
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•

co-ordinating stakeholder engagement activities and communication materials on Alberta’s
Relaunch Strategy;

•

responding to Albertans’ questions and concerns via BizConnect, a resource for Albertans that
provides workplace guidance and supports to help businesses and non-profits affected by
COVID-19 begin to reopen and resume operations safely;

•

enabling the Provincial Operations Centre to focus on other potential hazards, such as wild-fires
and floods; and

•

supporting the Health Emergency Operations Centre on a number of files, such as establishing
isolation facilities, developing plans for vulnerable Albertans, facilitating land border crossings,
and co-ordinating the procurement and distribution of facemasks for Albertans.

Municipal Affairs’ Initiatives
Municipal Affairs played a critical role in facilitating the government’s response to the pandemic
through its expertise in emergency management, and its experience in supporting municipalities as
they have faced past emergencies and disasters.
Municipal Affairs worked to find ways that local governments could continue to effectively govern
and operate in a way that:
•

adhered to public health guidelines and directives;

•

ensured an appropriate level of transparency and access for the public, and

•

enabled local governments to focus on providing critical services to Albertans by identifying
several legislated requirements that could be deferred.

Municipal Affairs provided a six-month education property tax deferral for non-residential
ratepayers to provide additional liquidity, and supported public libraries by encouraging the use of
online library resources.
Ministry staff continued to provide advice, interpretation, and guidance to municipalities on the
administration of safety codes, and established a government and industry working group to
identify ways in which the safety codes system could contribute to economic recovery while
maintaining public safety. As well, Municipal Affairs provided guidance to municipalities and
delegated safety authorities to help minimize the spread of COVID-19, while ensuring necessary
safety services continued.
In order to contribute to the government’s overall pandemic response, the ministry redeployed
staff who were working on non-essential files or who could not work remotely. The ministry also
worked with Alberta Health Services to facilitate quick municipal approvals for temporary changes
in building occupancies, such as converting convention centres into isolation facilities or medical
accommodations.
Other planning, preparation, and co-ordination activities around COVID-19 included support for
cross-government emergency operations centres, such as Alberta Health’s Emergency Operations
Centre and the Provincial Emergency Social Services Emergency Coordination Centre. The ministry
co-ordinated with federal, provincial, and territorial emergency management and public safety
partners through the Senior Officials Responsible for Emergency Management and the Canadian
Council of Emergency Management Organizations on a bilateral basis.
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The province continues to actively monitor, assess, and respond to the COVID-19 pandemic, as well
as plan for the recovery.

Major Event Support Apparatus

The Provincial Operations Centre manages and co-ordinates the deployment of the Major Event
Support Apparatus. This is a vehicle that provides a suite of communications functions and can
provide meeting and planning space for up to 14 people. The vehicle can be used to provide a
command function at sites of emergencies and disasters, and also during community engagement
and outreach events.
During the past year, the Major Event Support Apparatus was deployed to support community
engagement at two locations – “Disaster Alley” in Calgary, and “Get Ready in the Park” in Edmonton
– and training events in Sundre, Vegreville, and St. Albert.
4.2

Improve Alberta’s emergency preparedness and response capability through regional
incident management teams.

All‑Hazard Incident Management Teams

In 2019-20, the ministry continued to train regionally-based all-hazard incident management
teams. These teams bridge an identified gap in the province’s incident management framework and
can deploy immediate support to augment the emergency management capacity of communities
impacted by emergencies or disasters.
Sufficiently trained all-hazard incident management teams build regional capacity to effectively
respond to incidents. During the 2019 northwest Alberta wildfires, regional all-hazard incident
management teams were deployed to the Town of High Level and to Mackenzie County. The postincident assessment for the 2019 northwest Alberta wildfires recognized the vital role played by
the regional all-hazard incident management teams.
Four key outcomes are associated with the development of all-hazard incident management teams:

1.
2.

A new, regionally based capability to assist municipalities in managing complex incidents.

3.

Building deeper relationships and trust among participants and across the provincial public
safety system. This is further enhanced through the use of mentors from existing all-hazard
incident management teams, and other experts, as part of the training program.

4.

The enhanced Incident Command System knowledge and skills greatly assists in facilitating
municipal Unified Command with Alberta Wildfire in a wildland urban interface
environment.

A positive trickle-down impact on municipal emergency management operations through
the training provided to these teams, and by virtue of a deeper understanding of the
Incident Command System gained by participants.

In 2019-20, the northwest, north central, central, and south regional teams, as well as Canada Task
Force 2, participated in all-hazard incident management teams training. This included a full Unified
Command, single-facility exercise between the south region team and Alberta Wildfire in March
2020. Approximately 200 personnel across the five teams will have received the regional all-hazard
incident management team training.
The all-hazard incident management teams are funded through $250,000 in annual conditional
grant funding distributed between the five teams. This funding is a result of conditional grant
agreements between the Government of Alberta and the Town of High Level, the Capital Region
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Emergency Preparedness Program, Red Deer County, the City of Medicine Hat, and the City of Cold
Lake. Funding for all-hazard incident management teams is set to expire March 31, 2024.
4.3

Improve community and individual-level disaster resilience by providing online and
in-person emergency management training to municipalities and through public
awareness campaigns.

Emergency Management Training

The ministry offers a number of emergency management training courses through a variety of
mediums. Courses are delivered in class, online, and through a blend of online and in-class delivery.
The primary training audience for the courses include municipal elected officials, Metis Settlement
officials, improvement district councillors, special area board members, directors of emergency
management, and others with assigned duties in their community emergency plans. The overall
intent of the offered courses is for Albertans who have assigned duties in their community
emergency plans to gain a clear understanding of their roles and responsibilities under Alberta’s
emergency management legislation.
The in-class training courses offered are:

•
•
•

Basic Emergency Management;

•
•

Emergency Social Services; and

Municipal Elected Officials;
Director of Emergency Management;
Scribing for Emergency Management.

These emergency management training courses help communities fulfill legislated requirements
under the Local Authority Emergency Management Regulation, build community capacity, and
improve resilience in Alberta communities.
The ministry’s Alberta Emergency Management Agency is the
Alberta currently has 311
province’s Incident Command System Canada-approved
Incident Command System
authority, having jurisdiction for all Incident Command System
Canada-approved instructors,
training, certification, and compliance for Alberta. Incident
which is nearly 54 per cent of
Command System is a standardized on-site management system
the total number of approved
designed to enable effective, efficient incident management and
instructors across Canada.
is the prescribed command, control, and co-ordination system
for local emergency management agencies by the Managing
Director of the Alberta Emergency Management Agency. The Alberta Emergency Management
Agency offers Incident Command System 100, 200, 300, and 400 courses and advanced positionspecific training for internal and external emergency management stakeholders and Train-theTrainer courses for individuals who successfully apply to be Incident Command System instructors
through Incident Command System Canada. Alberta currently has 311 Incident Command System
Canada-approved instructors, which is nearly 54 per cent of the total number of approved
instructors across Canada.
In 2019-20, the ministry provided online training to 9,620 individuals.
In 2019, the ministry updated three core courses required under Alberta’s emergency management
legislation: the Basic Emergency Management course, the Municipal Elected Officials course, and
the Director of Emergency Management course. The updates included the new requirements under
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the Local Authority Emergency Management Regulation, current emergency management best
practices, and expanded information on Alberta’s disaster history.

Emergency Management Online Training

The ministry offers online versions of some legislated training courses required under the Local
Authority Emergency Management Regulation, including the Basic Emergency Management course,
Municipal Elected Officials course, and Incident Command System 100 course. Other online course
offerings include Exercise Design, Scribing for Emergency Management, and Emergency Social
Services. The online training courses:

•

make emergency management training more accessible to communities, especially those that
are more isolated, where regional collaboration may be more challenging;

•
•

help the ministry serve its core and extended audience, in a cost-effective manner;

•

provide emergency managers an opportunity to refresh their knowledge in course material
they have previously taken in class.

expand access to emergency management education across the province, which fosters
stronger emergency preparedness and resilience practices; and

Several of the ministry’s online courses have also been updated to promote a streamlined, userfriendly, and informative experience.
Since April 1, 2019, 9,620 students completed the Alberta’s Emergency Management Agency online
courses, including Exercise Design 100, Municipal Elected Officials, Emergency Social Services,
Scribing for Emergency Management, Basic Emergency Management, Incident Command System
100, and Incident Command System 200 as displayed in the graphic below:
AEMA Courses Completed April 1, 2019 - March 31, 2020

ICS 100
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ICS 200

736

BEM
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The ministry released new versions of the online Basic Emergency Management and Municipal
Elected Officials courses in summer and fall 2019. Additional updates were made to both courses in
December 2019.
The Local Authority Emergency Management Regulation establishes legislated training
requirements for municipal elected officials, directors of emergency management, and other staff
who play a role in their community emergency plans. In anticipation of the Local Authority
Emergency Management Regulation coming into effect on January 1, 2020, and a subsequent
increase in demand for training, the Alberta Emergency Management Agency implemented an
online individual training audience adjustment strategy to realign its training model with the new
legislative requirements.
In spring 2020, access to online training temporarily opened to a broader audience to ensure
emergency management partners across Alberta, including some federal agencies were getting
access to emergency management courses to meet the increased need for remote training due to
the COVID-19 pandemic.

Emergency Preparedness Week

Emergency Preparedness Week is a national annual event led by Public Safety Canada in the first
week of May that promotes emergency preparedness for all Canadians. Albertans learn more about
how to be prepared during Emergency Preparedness Week through a combination of provincially
and community-led events. Emergency Preparedness Week provides the ministry and stakeholders
the opportunity to connect with emergency management partners and raise their profiles as public
educators and stewards of personal preparedness.
Between April 1, 2019, and March 31, 2020, out of a total of 71,102 page views of the Emergency
Preparedness content on Alberta.ca, 79 per cent of those page views were to access information on
how to build an emergency kit.
Top Three Personal Preparedness Webpage Views
April 1, 2019 - March 31, 2020

Build an Emergency Kit
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Emergency Preparedness
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Each year, the ministry organizes a public event where multiple emergency management
stakeholders gather to connect with the public at a single location and leads the co-ordination of
emergency preparedness messaging and education. Participants include consequence management
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officers and business continuity officers from Government of Alberta departments, as well as select
federal departments. For financial and administrative reasons, a provincially led Emergency
Preparedness Week public event was not held in 2019. This allowed the ministry to focus efforts on
developing new program offerings and to identify new opportunities to connect with the public
about emergency preparedness.
The ministry is planning an Emergency Preparedness Week campaign in spring 2020 that will
provide emergency management partners – including Government of Alberta staff and members of
the public – an opportunity to learn about what they can do to be better prepared for emergencies
and disasters.
In preparation for the Emergency Preparedness Week event, an
In March 2020, the Build an
updated series of emergency preparedness factsheets will be
Emergency Kit page
published on the Government of Alberta website. These sheets
experienced a surge of 42,530
have been formatted for use on mobile devices and are
page-views in response to the
available as printed handouts. The sheets have also been
COVID-19 outbreak.
translated into simplified Chinese, traditional Chinese, Spanish,
Arabic, and Punjabi. The program materials are available for
communities and other emergency management partners to raise personal preparedness literacy
within their communities. The ministry also developed a series of online videos called “Get
Prepared: 60-Second Emergency Tips.” Each video provides preparedness information in a brief
clip intended for social media. Topics include preparing for hazards like tornadoes and wildfires,
responding to power outages, preparing your pets, and tips for building an emergency kit for your
family. Many of these videos will be released ahead of Emergency Preparedness Week in spring
2020 and development of more video content is planned to continue as a year-round initiative.
Building New Partnerships
The ministry collaborates with educational institutions and
other stakeholders throughout the province to improve
emergency preparedness and community resilience, and to
promote the professionalization of emergency management as
a discipline in Alberta.

The Alberta Emergency
Management Agency has
published a series of
emergency preparedness
factsheets, available in English
and French, as well as
simplified Chinese, traditional
Chinese, Spanish, Arabic, and
Punjabi.

These partnerships will boost the quality of courses, seminars,
and conferences that promote community preparedness and
resilience, and help develop the emergency management
profession in Alberta. They will enhance the education of
emergency management students and professionals, as well as
communities and businesses in Alberta. They will also promote
best practices in emergency management related to organizational and community resilience,
prevention and mitigation, preparedness, response, and recovery.

The ministry has been working on a partnership with the Northern Alberta Institute of Technology
to collaborate on training initiatives, and to deliver the Stakeholder Summit. This partnership is
geared toward transparency, accountability, and co-operation to allow stakeholders, institutions,
emergency management professionals, and communities to continue working together in a
collaborative and co-operative manner. The ministry is developing a memorandum of
understanding to formalize its relationship with the Northern Alberta Institute of Technology; and
similar partnership opportunities with other emergency management partners will continue to be
explored. As priorities and capacities shift, it may become more challenging for the ministry’s
programs to service some audiences, and these emerging partnerships will ensure the ministry’s
holistic approach to emergency management continues to get stronger.
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2019 Stakeholder Summit

The Stakeholder Summit is an annual event – usually held outside of the hazard season – that brings
together emergency management partners by providing a platform for strengthening existing
relationships, building new relationships, and offering professional development and informationsharing opportunities to build a more resilient Alberta. It allows emergency management partners
from various communities across Alberta to learn from one another, explore opportunities to
collaborate, and build a more resilient province as a whole outside of the hazard season. The
Stakeholder Summit has grown to become the premier emergency management conference in
Canada since the first summit in 2010.
Due to fiscal pressures and spending restraint initiatives, the 2019 Stakeholder Summit did not take
place. However, the ministry found new ways to engage with emergency management partners
about current trends and innovations in emergency and disaster management, including:

•

the development of an emergency preparedness week information-sharing forum with
emergency management partners across the Government of Alberta;

•

partnering with Alberta Health Services and carya (formerly Calgary Family Services) to host
emergency preparedness training workshops for ministry staff and emergency management
partners; and

•

inviting emergency management partners to provide subject-matter expertise on the updates to
the ministry’s emergency preparedness fact sheets.

To ensure continued professional development and networking opportunities for the emergency
management community, the ministry formed a partnership with the Northern Alberta Institute of
Technology to cohost the 2020 Emergency Management Stakeholder Summit in February 2020.
This partnership has allowed the ministry to refocus its finite resources on other initiatives, while
still providing input to the planning and delivery of a significant event for the emergency
management community in Alberta. The Northern Alberta Institute of Technology has taken on the
responsibility of administering the event and has used this as an opportunity to further move into
emergency management stakeholder engagement and professional development.
4.4

Assist communities and Albertans to recover from disasters by administering disaster
financial assistance, providing disaster recovery co-ordination, and co-ordinating
Government of Alberta disaster expenditures.

Disaster Recovery Program Administration

The Disaster Recovery Program is a provincially funded program intended to assist with
extraordinary and uninsurable losses incurred from a widespread event. Municipalities must apply
for a Disaster Recovery Program on behalf of their residents and should only do so as a last resort
for recovery funding. More information about the Disaster Recovery Program can be found on the
Government of Alberta website (https://www.alberta.ca/disaster-recovery-programs.aspx).
In 2019-20, nine Disaster Recovery Programs were approved to allow financial assistance to be
provided to eligible applicants:

1.
2.

2019 Northwest Alberta Wildfires Disaster Recovery Program

3.
4.
5.

2019 Municipal District of Lesser Slave River Disaster Recovery Program

2019 Central Alberta Floods Disaster Recovery Program
2019 Southern Alberta Floods Disaster Recovery Program
2019 Buffalo Lake Metis Settlement Disaster Recovery Program
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6.
7.
8.

2019 County of Northern Lights Disaster Recovery Program

9.

2018 Mackenzie County Wildfire Disaster Recovery Program (note: there were two
separate MacKenzie County wildfire disaster recovery programs in 2019-20.)

2019 County of Wetaskiwin Disaster Recovery Program
2018 Mackenzie County Wildfire Disaster Recovery Program

To date, Treasury Board and Finance has approved a total budget of $149 million for these disaster
recovery programs. The total budget for the 2019 Northwest Alberta Fires Disaster Recovery
Program is $118.4 million. The total budget for the 2019 Southern Alberta Floods Disaster
Recovery Program, 2019 Central Alberta Floods Disaster Recovery Program, and 2019 Municipal
District of Lesser Slave River Floods Disaster Recovery Program is $29.9 million.
In April 2019, the Chuckegg Creek wildfires impacted many communities in northwestern Alberta,
including damage to many homes, buildings, and traditional lands and sites. Residents from the
Town of High Level, Paddle Prairie Metis Settlement, and the County of Northern Lights were
evacuated. Neighbouring communities, including the City of Grande Prairie, housed and supported
wildfire evacuees from this and other concurrent fire events and evacuations. The ministry
provided guidance for the Disaster Recovery Program process, recovery advice, and direction to the
impacted communities. The ministry also facilitated a working group to support Paddle Prairie
Metis Settlement, which included donations management and debris cleanup through the NGO
Council of Alberta and mental health services through Alberta Health Services. The Town of High
Level, Paddle Prairie Metis Settlement, County of Northern Lights, Mackenzie County, and Municipal
District of Opportunity combined were provided with advances of $9.4 million to offset emergency
operations costs. The City of Grande Prairie and Town of High Prairie also received more than
$1 million in advances to offset the costs of supporting evacuees.
The McMillan wildfires affected Peerless Trout First Nation, the Municipal District of Lesser Slave
River, and the Town of Slave Lake. Residents from Peerless Trout First Nation evacuated to the
Town of Slave Lake, where the town incurred costs for setting up reception centres and assisting
evacuees. The ministry assisted Peerless Trout First Nation through community recovery advice,
Disaster Recovery Program document submission and review, a $232,000 advance to offset costs,
and $472,000 in total disaster recovery program funding. The Town of Slave Lake received a
$112,000 advance to offset the costs of supporting evacuees.
Early damage assessments were conducted in Buffalo Lake Metis Settlement, the Municipal District
of Lesser Slave River, and the Town of Stony Plain, which were all affected by flooding in 2019. The
assessments provided fundamental information on the extent of damage to private dwellings,
businesses, and public infrastructure early on in a disaster to inform the province’s decision
regarding Disaster Recovery Program approvals.
Thirteen Government of Alberta ministries (including Municipal Affairs) were eligible to submit
costs under the disaster recovery programs approved this year.
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Performance Measure 4.b:
Performance Measure: Percentage of residential disaster financial assistance files that
have received 90 per cent of its estimated funding within 90 days of being determined
eligible for disaster financial assistance
Prior Years’ Results
2017-18

100%

2019-20
Target

2019-20
Actual

90%

78%

2018-19

94%

The actual result of 78 per cent is substantially below the 2019-20 target of 90 per cent, and the
previous year’s result of 94 per cent. This 13.3 per cent deviation from the target is partly
attributable to the fact that this performance measure has only been in place four years, and the
ministry is still gathering data to inform trend analysis and target setting. The ministry will review
the 90 per cent target for future years to determine if an adjustment is required. In addition, the
requirements and administration for disaster recovery programs vary according to the size, type,
and complexity of disaster events. In 2019-20, nine disaster recovery programs were approved,
with a total budget of $149 million.
Another contributing factor to the decreased 2019-20 result is the impact of Government of Alberta
hiring restraint policies, which resulted in contract staff not having contracts renewed, and an
inability to fill positions as they became vacant. In response to this constraint, the ministry
prioritized resources and shifted staff to work on finalizing previous years’ disaster recovery
programs, at the expense of direct delivery to current applicants. Closing previous programs allows
funding to municipalities and for legacy costs to be submitted to the Government of Canada for
audit and eventual cost sharing, which would allow the Government of Alberta to recoup a majority
of previously expended funding from the federal government.

2016 Wood Buffalo Wildfire Disaster Recovery Program

In 2019-20, $4.2 million in Government of Alberta ministry costs associated with the 2016 Wood
Buffalo wildfire were provided to Government of Alberta departments, including Municipal Affairs.
To date, $245 million in Government of Alberta ministry costs have been paid for this Disaster
Recovery Program. Program closure, which involves preparation and auditing of all documentation,
is due for submission to Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness Canada in June 2021. Progress
is halted temporarily due to reduced staffing and a two-year extension request for this Disaster
Recovery Program was approved by Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness Canada in March
2020.

2013 Southern Alberta Floods Disaster Recovery Program

In 2019-20, $13.6 million was paid to Government of Alberta ministries, including Municipal
Affairs, for costs associated with the 2013 southern Alberta floods. To date, $836 million has been
paid to ministries for this Disaster Recovery Program. The Government of Alberta projects under
the 2013 Southern Alberta Floods Disaster Recovery Program are expected to be complete by
January 31, 2021. In 2019-20, the Government of Alberta paid $12.8 million directly to
municipalities for costs associated with the 2013 Southern Alberta Disaster Recovery Program. A
further $20.3 million was paid against outstanding advances provided to municipalities.
While progress toward audit preparation has slowed due to reduced staffing, 907 projects ($294.8
million) out of a total 952 ($354.9 million) are paid and will be prepared for audit. Of the 907
projects, 124 projects ($7.9 million) have been audited, and the remaining projects under the 2013
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Southern Alberta Floods Disaster Recovery Program are expected to be complete by January 31,
2021.

Municipal Wildfire Assistance Program

The ministry’s Municipal Wildfire Assistance Program provide assistance to municipalities when
they incur extraordinary costs while fighting wildfires that are outside of the Forest Protection Area
but within a municipality’s jurisdiction. In 2019-20, the ministry approved two programs for fires
in 2018 and 2019:

1. 2019 Buffalo Lake Metis Settlement Municipal Wildfire Assistance Program
2. 2018 Lamont County Municipal Wildfire Assistance Program
To date, Treasury Board and Finance has approved a budget of $1 million for these programs. In the
past year, approximately $15,000 was provided to the two communities. The Municipal Wildfire
Assistance Program shares costs with eligible municipalities on a 75/25 basis, with the province
funding the larger share.

Disaster Financial Assistance Online

Disaster Financial Assistance Online is an application portal that allows Albertans to check whether
they qualify for assistance, apply for assistance, and track the progress of their applications.
Since launching in November 2018, a robust change-control process was established and
implemented. Users can now choose to apply for disaster financial assistance through Disaster
Financial Assistance Online or by submitting a PDF application form, reducing the need for inperson application centres. Disaster Financial Assistance Online has already reduced the need for
additional program application centres by accounting for 27 out of a total 119 applications for
2019-20.
The annual budget for Disaster Financial Assistance Online is approximately $92,000.

Cost-sharing for Disaster Recovery Programs

The Government of Alberta can request to share disaster recovery costs with the federal
government through Disaster Financial Assistance Arrangements by submitting requests to Public
Safety and Emergency Preparedness Canada. In instances where there is uncertainty in the Disaster
Financial Assistance Arrangements or extenuating circumstances in a disaster event, rationales may
be submitted to maximize Alberta’s cost-sharing for Disaster Recovery Program business cases.
The ministry has obtained approval from Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness Canada for a
total of $636 million to support disaster recovery costs from the 2013 southern Alberta floods and
2016 Wood Buffalo wildfire. Another $82 million in business cases related to mould regrowth,
incremental staffing, and psychosocial support is awaiting response from Public Safety and
Emergency Preparedness Canada. Municipal Affairs will be submitting an additional business case
to the federal government for consideration of cost-sharing relating to interim housing during the
2013 southern Alberta floods, through Seniors and Housing, totalling $171 million.
The business cases that are potentially eligible for federal cost-sharing amount to $824 million, and
examples of these business cases include interim housing costs from the 2013 southern Alberta
floods, the 2013 First Nations housing program, and psychosocial programing from the 2016 Wood
Buffalo wildfire.

Provincial Recovery Framework

Work toward a provincial recovery framework is underway. This framework aims to clarify the
function of recovery in the Government of Alberta emergency management system and to explain
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how the province will support the disaster recovery efforts of its emergency management partners.
The intent of the framework is to capture and codify current Government of Alberta practices and
processes. A draft framework will be provided to the Assistant Deputy Ministers’ and Deputy
Ministers’ public safety committees in summer 2020 for their review and consideration.

Provincial Recovery Co-ordination Centre

In the event of an emergency or disaster, the Provincial Recovery Co-ordination Centre co-ordinates
recovery efforts in the province. In 2019-20, the centre co-ordinated all recovery activities related
to the 2019 northwest Alberta wildfires and the flooding in central Alberta. It facilitated working
groups with Indigenous Relations and Paddle Prairie Metis Settlement, and prepared funding
requests totaling $150.8 million in approved funding. The Provincial Recovery Co-ordination Centre
also:

•

acts as the central information sharing and disseminating body with respect to disaster
recovery information;

•

leads the preparation of the Government of Alberta recovery plan and briefings for decisionmakers;

•
•
•

co-ordinates the implementation of recovery-related decisions made by executives;

•
•

provides recovery briefings for all government stakeholders; and

4.5

empowers communities to lead recovery efforts within their jurisdictions;
acts as the central banker for the Government of Alberta and reviews ministry initiatives for
Disaster Recovery Program eligibility;
provides support to the Provincial Operations Centre through an agency representative role.
Improve resilience within the Government of Alberta by strengthening the current
business continuity and consequence management programs and by leading in the
development of a provincial hazard and risk assessment and disaster resilience
strategy.

Emergency Management Exercise

In January 2020, a continuity of operations exercise was conducted at the Provincial Operations
Centre alternate site in order to ensure the ability of the ministry to perform its emergency
response and co-ordination functions in the event of a catastrophic loss of functionality at the
current location. The purpose of the exercise was for participants to discuss and review their roles
and responsibilities in the Provincial Operations Centre, and test the preparedness of an alternate
location. Sixty-eight participants, including ministry staff and other cross-government partners,
participated. The three main outcomes of the exercise were:

•
•

the functionality of the alternate location was validated;

•

the processes used when the Provincial Operations Centre is providing resources – with and
without a community’s direct request – were improved.

participants gained a better understanding of their roles and responsibilities; and

The emergency management exercise for 2020 (EMX20) took place in February 2020 and
simulated a tornado event that affects people and infrastructure in the communities of Calgary, Red
Deer, Edmonton, and Strathcona County. The exercise scenario provided specific challenges and
impacts, including: water disruption, mass fatalities, a hospital closure, power failure, and business
continuity. The exercise was led by Municipal Affairs and required co-operation between:
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•
•
•

the cities of Edmonton, Calgary, and Red Deer;

•

numerous industry partners including EPCOR, Canadian Pacific, and Canadian National
Railways; and

•

other Government of Alberta ministries.

the counties of Red Deer and Strathcona;
Canada Task Force 2;

Government of Alberta Business Continuity Program

In 2019-20, the ministry revised the Government of Alberta Business Continuity Plan. The plan
outlines the framework by which the government manages the continuity of its essential services
during business disruptions, and the operational processes that the Provincial Operations Centre
will follow upon the plan’s activation. Observations from the 2019 Emergency Management
Exercise, which involved an influenza pandemic with prolonged business disruption, both validated
and informed some changes to the plan. Revisions included:

•
•
•

clarification of overall messaging and collaboration efforts;

•

activation of the Cross-Governmental Co-ordination Team for situational awareness.

codification of the Provincial Operations Centre’s business continuity activities;
clarification of Government of Alberta departmental roles and responsibilities (including the
Deputy Minister Council, Assistant Deputy Ministers’ and Deputy Ministers’ public safety
committees, and Government of Alberta business continuity teams and officers); and

The Alberta Emergency Management Agency Business Continuity Plan, formerly part of the
ministry’s Business Continuity Plan, is now a standalone document. The plan was updated in 2019
and tested and validated at a test mini-exercise in February 2020.

Hazard Identification and Risk Assessment Framework

On March 9, 2020, the Deputy Ministers’ Public Safety Committee endorsed the ministry’s Hazard
Identification and Risk Assessment Framework for Alberta. The framework is designed to provide a
foundation for the province’s strategies to mitigate potential consequences of an emergency or
disaster and lessen the impact to Alberta’s economy, communities, and people. The intent of the
Hazard Identification and Risk Assessment Framework is to enable the Government of Alberta to
take a proactive approach toward disaster risk management and risk reduction for Alberta-specific
hazards.
The ministry’s Alberta Emergency Management Agency collaborated with key stakeholders (other
ministries and agencies, boards, and commissions, as appropriate) to develop an acceptable
methodology that conforms to current enterprise risk management parameters and definitions.
Stakeholder engagement sessions were held with Government of Alberta Enterprise Risk
Practitioners and Business Continuity and Consequence Management Officers to confirm the
parameters and scope of the framework.
While Government of Alberta ministries are still responsible for their own internal risk
assessments, the framework helps establish common language, principles, and processes to support
and strengthen the provincial emergency management system. The ministry is drafting an
implementation plan for the framework that will be provided to the Assistant Deputy Ministers’ and
Deputy Ministers’ public safety committees in 2020.
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Following the Deputy Ministers’ Public Safety Committee’s endorsement of the framework in
March, the ministry will be bringing forward a detailed implementation plan related to the
collection of completed risk assessments, hazard profiles, and other related data. The data will be
compiled into a results and recommendation report to be released for use in risk reduction
strategies by Government of Alberta departments. Training sessions on the implementation process
will be held for stakeholders.

Provincial Resilience Strategy

The Provincial Resilience Strategy aims to enhance Alberta’s disaster resilience by reducing risk
and enhancing risk management capacity for dealing with disasters. Internal cross-ministry
strategy development sessions were held in spring 2019 with focused internal stakeholder
consultations to follow. Updates on the draft strategy will be provided to the Assistant Deputy
Ministers’ and Deputy Ministers’ public safety committees.
4.6

Ensure Albertans have access to 911 and emergency public alerting services that are
technologically current and agile.

911 Grant Program

The Alberta 911 Grant Program strives to strengthen and
support the delivery of local 911 services throughout the
province. The program is funded entirely through a monthly
levy applied to cellphones in Alberta. In 2019-20, the ministry
provided $17.1 million in grant funding to 20 Alberta 911 call
centres. This is a 2.7 per cent increase over the last fiscal year,
which is linked to an increase in the number of wireless
device subscriptions Albertans have.

The Canadian Radio-television
Telecommunications
Commission mandated
Canada’s 911 system to upgrade
to Next Generation 911 by
March 30, 2024.

This funding is used by 911 call centres to pay frontline staff, acquire critical software and
technology enhancements, and prepare for the implementation of Next Generation 911. For
example, the 911 centre in Fort McMurray used a portion of their funding for an evacuation site
they can use should there be an issue with their primary location.

Enhancing 911

The Alberta Grant 911 Program strengthens and supports 911 by working with stakeholders across
Canada to enhance 911 services. The program works with communities to establish direct 911
services; provide public education materials and resources; and inform 911 centres about
upcoming changes, costs, and impacts related to Next Generation 911. The 911 Grant Program
procured banners and developed pamphlets in 2019-20 so program staff or local 911 centres could
inform the public about appropriate 911 use.
In 2019-20, the 911 Grant Program collaborated with internal
and external partners, which included:

On average, Albertans make
over 113,000 calls to 911 each
month. Of these calls, 98.8 per
cent are answered within 15
seconds.

•

working to produce updated 911 Grant Program
marketing materials (a pamphlet, presentation banners,
and website) with messaging on the proper use of 911;

•

working with community representatives and the
ministry’s field officers to establish 911 service in unserved communities; and

•

participating in the Canadian NG911 Coalition and Canadian Radio-television
Telecommunications Commission Emergency Services Working Group to develop “frequently
asked questions” documents about estimated costs, operational requirements, and
procurement considerations related to New Generation 911.
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Consultation regarding the upcoming expiry of regulations under the Emergency 911 Act took place
in spring 2020.

Alberta 911 Standards

Alberta’s first-ever Alberta 911 standards came into force in June 2018, which included the
establishment of targets for how quickly 911 calls were answered and transferred. Public safety
answering points were required to comply with the Alberta 911 standards by June 2019. Program
staff conducted 10 site visits in 2019 to assist these locations with Alberta 911 standards
compliance, and staff will conduct another 10 site visits in 2020. Public safety answering points are
now developing common approaches for handling 911 calls and have measures in place to ensure
resiliency of the 911 system.
The Alberta 911 standards have been updated to address the Next Generation 911 requirements
mandated by the Canadian Radio-television Communications Commission. The new version of the
Alberta 911 standards will ensure the province keeps pace with Next Generation 911 developments
and meets the deadlines set out by the Canadian Radio-television Communications Commission.

Alberta Emergency Alert

Alberta’s emergency public warning system was created in 1992. It was the first rapid-warning
process of its kind in Canada to use media outlets to broadcast critical life-saving information
directly to the public. The system was updated and renamed Alberta Emergency Alert in 2011, and
a mobile application was released in 2014 to allow the public to receive critical notifications on
their handheld devices.
After wireless public alerting was added as a distribution method to Alberta Emergency Alert in
2018, so the most serious alerts can be received directly by compatible smart phones. This new
capacity is a significant improvement as it does not require people to download an application or
enroll in the service. This new alerting medium extends the reach of the provincial emergency
alerting system, which includes notifications on radio and TV broadcasts, social media, amateur
radio, government-wide email, a website (www.emergencyalert.alberta.ca), government and
private electronic billboards, partner websites, and the Alberta Emergency Alert mobile application.
In the 2019 calendar year, 69 alerts were issued for the
following categories (22 of which were critical):

•

wildfire (7)

•
•
•
•

tornado (7)

•

hazardous road conditions (1)

In 2019, 69 Alberta Emergency
Alerts were issued. Alberta
Emergency Alerts provide critical
information about disasters to
Albertans.

Amber Alert (4)
train accident (2)
overland flooding (1)

This was the largest number of critical alerts issued since 2013. Critical alerts were up 83 per cent
from the previous year due to an increase in serious wildfire and tornado activity.
By the end of 2019, there were 344,405 registered mobile application users, which is an increase of
25 per cent from last year. Alberta Emergency Alert is active on Twitter and Facebook, where the
number of social media followers also increased by four per cent from 237,208 to 246,836 in the
previous year.
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Alberta Emergency Alert allows emergency
management partners – including local
government officials – to issue alerts
directly. With more people receiving alerts
every year, ensuring users are aware of how
to use the system and create effective alert
messages remains a priority. To achieve this,
Alberta Emergency Alert authorized user
training sessions were held in locations
across the province, including Edmonton,
Calgary, Lethbridge, and Wainwright.
In 2018-19, the ministry updated the Alberta
Emergency Alert mobile application with
new features that include:

•

the ability to receive alerts while
travelling across Canada;

Alberta Emergency Alerts Issued

Critical
Alerts*
22

Informational
Alerts
47
*22 Critical Alerts included: 7 wildfire alerts, 7 tornado
alerts, 4 AMBER alerts, 2 train accident alerts, 1
overland flood alert, 1 hazardous road conditions alert

•

the ability to see weather radar overlay
on alert maps;

•
•

a new frequently asked questions feature; and
other technical improvements, including memory optimization.

The ministry also reviewed the Alberta Emergency Alert program, which resulted in a five-year
roadmap to ensure the sustainability and relevance of Alberta Emergency Alert in the future. The
ministry is exploring new ways to work with communities that issue alert messages, continuing to
work with radio and television broadcasters, and expanding alert delivery mechanisms.
At a national level, the ministry is the co-chair of the Public Alerting Awareness Working Group, a
sub-group of the Senior Officials Responsible for Emergency Management organization. This group
provides direct leadership and support to public safety collaboration and co-ordination across
Canada and is dedicated to advancing public
alerting across Canada. The working group
Alberta Emergency Alert
includes emergency management officials
Social Media Followers
from each Canadian province and territory,
as well as representation from Public Safety
Canada.
The Government of Alberta is working with
the federal government and other
jurisdictions to examine the future of public
alerting to address the increase in the
number and severity of emergency events
and associated dangers.

Facebook
116,000

Twitter
131,000

Alberta Emergency Alert is seeking new
options as the number of internetconnected devices and expectations for
timely public alerting increases. This could
include expanding the distribution of alerts
to new platforms such as:
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•
•

alerts received directly on computers in real-time;
alerts over digital
assistants like Alexa
and Google Home; and

•

leveraging other new
internet-connected
devices to convey
alerts.

Alberta Emergency Alert
Social Media Followers
300,000
237,355

200,000

191,803

Additionally, the content
of messages – including
107,050
length, specificity, context,
83,200
100,000
guidance, and the
supportive value of
graphics and linkedcontent – needs to be
examined to determine
0
how to best inform people
2018
2019
in imminent risk.
iOS Android
Researching the
effectiveness of alerts will
allow for improvements in public safety by making alerts more effective.
From a cross-border and geographic perspective, there are questions regarding how alerts are
distributed and/or received, and reaching geographically isolated or vulnerable populations. These
situations arise not only in Canada, but also in the cases of Canadians and Americans visiting their
cross-border neighbours.
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Outcome Five: Albertans receive fair, timely, and well-reasoned decisions from the
ministry’s quasi-judicial boards

Key Objectives
5.1

Deliver an efficient and impartial appeals process for land planning, compensation,
assessment, and other matters referred to the Boards.

When the rights of citizens are impacted by government decisions or where there is conflict
between the competing interests of individuals, industry, or municipalities, Alberta has provided a
process to protect the rights of all parties. In the case of Municipal Affairs, the ministry supports
four independent and impartial quasi-judicial tribunals that adjudicate on matters relating to land
rights and property ownership:

•

the Municipal Government Board;

•
•
•

the Surface Rights Board;
the Land Compensation Board; and
the New Home Buyer Protection Board.

The boards are bound by legislation, case law, and principles of natural justice, which ensures
decisions are fair and based on evidence presented in hearings or submitted by the parties.

Municipal Government Board

The jurisdiction of the Municipal Government Board applies to matters under the Municipal
Government Act, including:

•
•

annexation recommendations;

•
•

subdivision appeals where provincial interests are engaged;

•
•
•

composite assessment review board hearings for commercial and multi-residential properties;

•

ministerial referrals including disaster relief appeals.

intermunicipal disputes (where the planning bylaws of one municipality have a detrimental
effect on an adjacent municipality, the board can order the municipality to repeal or amend
their bylaws);
designated industrial property assessments, which include linear assessments, such as
pipelines, railway, and telecommunication lines, and non-linear assessments, such as major
industrial facilities;
equalized assessment appeal regarding provincial levies;
off-site levies; and

With the exception of subdivisions, statistical information regarding the work of the Municipal
Government Board is provided on the basis of a fiscal year.
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Performance Measure 5.a:
Percentage of parties to Municipal Government Board appeals who are satisfied or
neutral regarding the board’s performance of services in support of planning,
annexation, designated industrial property, and equalized assessment appeals
Prior Years’ Results
2016-17

89%

2017-18

88%

2019-20
Target

2019-20
Actual

2018-19

89%

88%

95%

The measure result of 95 per cent is seven percentage points above the target of 88 per cent. It is
six percentage points above last year's actual of 89 per cent.
The achieved result of 95 per cent exceeds the target and indicates stakeholders are very satisfied
with the board's appeal process. The survey focused on two general areas: 1) the hearing process,
and 2) timeliness of the written decision.
The board scored strongest on the hearing process component of the survey.
Parties were overwhelmingly satisfied that the board acted in a courteous manner (100 per cent),
they were provided an opportunity to present their case (100 per cent); the hearing process was
easy to understand (95 per cent); the hearing was conducted in a timely manner (95 per cent); and
the hearing process was fair, unbiased, and impartial (95 per cent).
The board scored weakest on the written decision component of the survey. Parties were generally
satisfied that the written decision was issued in a timely manner (86 per cent). The actual result of
86 per cent is 16 percentage points higher than the 2018-19 result of 70 per cent.
In recent years, the board has placed considerable emphasis on improving the timeliness of written
decisions. This was accomplished by introducing target timelines for issuing written decisions and
allocating additional resources for drafting decisions on behalf of the panels. This has resulted in a
significant increase of 16 per cent in the measured result for this area.
The current measure and survey have been determined to be the most effective method of
measuring the board's performance because it relies on anonymous feedback from independent
third parties who were directly involved and impacted by the hearing process and decision.
The difference between actual and targeted results is explained by the following:

•

The board expanded its training program in 2018-19 to include specific training for planning
appeals, which is the majority of board hearings. This approach, coupled with having a
dedicated case manager assigned to these appeals, is improving the overall hearing experience
for stakeholders.

•

The Municipal Government Board has put considerable effort into streamlining its internal
processes for drafting and issuing decisions.
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Annexations

In Alberta, the annexation process allows a municipality to acquire land for future development,
bring its municipal infrastructure within its boundary, or alter its borders to address some type of
physical change to the landscape. While Cabinet is the ultimate decision-maker, the Municipal
Government Board acts in an advisory capacity by providing a recommendation and drafting the
documents to implement the decision made by Cabinet. Persons and municipalities affected by a
proposed annexation have the right to file an objection with the Municipal Government Board. If an
objection is filed, the board must conduct one or more hearings. A hearing provides a fair
opportunity for affected parties to express their concerns prior to the board making its
recommendation to Cabinet.
While over 72 per cent of all the annexations approved in Alberta since 1995 have been amicable
(Table 1), transferring land between jurisdictions can create conflict for municipalities, other local
authorities, the affected landowners, and the public. Only 2.8 per cent of all annexations processed
by the Municipal Government Board were the result of municipalities not able to reach agreement.
Annexation Orders in Council
1995 to February 29, 2020
(Not including amending Orders in Council)
Objection source
N/A
(No
Objection)
207 (72.1%)

Landowner/
Public

72 (25.1%)

Other
Municipality

8 (2.8%)

Total

287

Annexations are usually high-profile hearings, often involving a significant amount of
intermunicipal compensation and affecting the assessment, taxation, and land use of hundreds of
properties for decades. Media coverage is almost certain, especially when the municipalities are
unable to reach agreement.
While the number of applications for annexation are quite small, the area of land under
consideration and the number of affected landowners can be considerable. For example, there were
12 municipalities involved in the six annexations approved during 2019-20, which resulted in the
transfer of 2,203 hectares (5,449 acres) of land, and involved 315 parties.
For contested applications, a three-member panel is assigned to the hearing; however, a fivemember panel can be assigned to more complex proceedings. Only the most experienced board
members are selected for these hearings, as the decision to approve an annexation will potentially
affect landowners for generations. Panels assigned to an annexation hearing will consider such
matters as intermunicipal collaboration, the consultation process, planning matters, infrastructure
issues, financial impacts, and landowner concerns.
A case manager is responsible for processing all applications, and this person assumes a greater
degree of delegated power than any other area of work of the Municipal Government Board. The
manager is the conduit for all communication between the parties and the board, and can
investigate, fact-find, and make inquiries to analyze the probable effect of the proposed annexation
on a municipality and its residents. The case manager also determines whether a public hearing is
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required for a proposed annexation (contested annexation) or if the application clearly
demonstrates all parties are in agreement (uncontested annexation).
The case manager can conduct meetings to narrow the issues in a dispute and provide information
to help parties resolve their differences. If the board is required to conduct a public hearing, the
case manager has the authority to direct the parties to provide disclosure and identify the issues in
a dispute.
Since most urban municipalities attempt to maintain a 30 to 50-year inventory of developable land
within their boundary, annexations are not something a municipality would undertake on a regular
basis. To assist elected officials, municipal administrators, affected landowners, and the public, the
Municipal Government Board provides information sessions throughout the province. In 2019-20,
the board made annexation presentations at three conferences, updated the Municipal Government
Board annexation webpage, published three annexation recommendations, and had numerous oneon-one conversations with affected parties.

Subdivision Appeals

When a municipal subdivision authority permits or rejects an application for subdivision of land,
property owners have a right of appeal to the Municipal Government Board in cases when the land
is within parameters defined in the Municipal Government Act. These parameters include proximity
to highways, bodies of water, historical sites, wastewater management facilities, and landfills.
Appeals with respect to land within what is described in legislation as the “Green Area” are also
directed to the board. Green Areas are predominately Crown lands in northern and western Alberta
and comprise approximately 60 per cent of the province.
The Municipal Government Board hears new evidence and makes the final decision about an
application; and the board’s decisions are binding, unless challenged in the Alberta Court of Appeal.
It is a matter of balancing the public interest with the rights of the individual. Land ownership does
not extend to complete control, and the owner’s right to use the land does not include the right to
develop or subdivide. Without appropriate approvals, the actions of one landowner can impact
neighbouring owners’ rights to use and enjoy their properties. For example, a new country
residential development may not be appropriate next to a confined feeding operation, heavy
industrial use, landfill, or sour gas well.
The board has an overriding duty to consider the public interest in safe and efficient land-use that
meets the planning vision established by municipal councils and applicable provincial legislation.
Significant risks of poor decision-making include fatalities on roads and highways, destruction of
property through slope failure and flooding, and health consequences associated with development
near features such as sour gas wells, landfills, or improper sewage treatment facilities. Less
dramatic but pervasive risks of bad decisions include traffic congestion, environmental
degradation, loss of agricultural land, and inefficient patterns of development, which increase costs
to both developers and municipalities.
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Each registered subdivision results in a permanent change in a community, since approvals have
permanent effects on land use and development. There about 40 to 50 subdivision appeals every
year, as reflected in the chart below:
Subdivision Appeals by Year
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In 2019, there were 40 subdivision appeals involving 20 different municipalities. In that same
period, the number of parties per file ranged from as few as 15 to well over 200.
Each subdivision panel consists of three provincial Municipal Government Board members who
have expertise in such disciplines as law, planning, and engineering. Only one case manager is
responsible for all subdivision appeals. The board’s procedure rules allow the case manager to hold
prehearing conferences and give directions about sufficiency of disclosure, dates for disclosure,
hearing dates and locations, and other procedural points as required. Each appeal has a minimum
of one case management call. The case manager is also available during and after hearings to
support members as they perform their duties independent decision-makers.
While there are general courses in administrative and planning law, none deal with the specific
training requirements of planning appeals under the Municipal Government Act. Even members who
have a professional planning background when appointed need further training to ensure they are
well prepared to adjudicate the unique issues that arise during subdivision appeals; therefore,
twice a year the Municipal Government Board provides specialized courses for members.
The board’s public education activities promote a broader understanding amongst landowners and
stakeholders on the board’s jurisdiction and its role in the planning process in Alberta. The board
publishes information bulletins and other educational information on its website, and makes
presentations to stakeholders, including government departments, regulators, and interest groups.
These initiatives improve access to the board’s services for affected persons and organizations, and
raise the quality of presentations at hearings to help members make good planning decisions.

Designated Industrial Property Appeals

Sharing the tax burden equitably requires an assessment of the value of property. Residential and
commercial properties use comparative market values as an approximation of value. Industrial
properties, on the other hand, are not bought and sold on a regular basis, so the value of such

Municipal Affairs | Annual Report 2019–2020

89

Results Analysis

properties is better captured by the value of the product being produced. To ensure some
predictability for industry, designated industrial properties are assessed based on strict formulas
established under legislation and ministerial guidelines.
Properties defined as designated industrial property include major plants regulated by the Alberta
Energy Regulator; the Alberta Utilities Commission and the National Energy Board; linear
properties including pipelines, railways, and electric power systems; and the land and
improvements associated with such properties.
The provincial assessor undertakes assessments, and property owners have a right to appeal to the
Municipal Government Board. Accordingly, for designated industrial property appeals, the Minister
of Municipal Affairs is a party to the proceedings.
The tax revenue from major industrial facilities is substantial. For smaller municipalities, this
revenue can represent a proportionately greater percentage of total tax income than for other
municipalities. For this reason, a municipality where the property under appeal is located may
apply for intervener status. In a recent case, the taxes flowing from one assessment appeal
represented one-fourth the municipality’s budget.
In 2017, the legislation was amended to fold the linear appeals into the expanded designated
industrial property category. In 2018-19, the first year under the new legislation, 11 appeals were
filed, and in 2019-20, there were 36 appeals filed representing over $12 billion in assessed
property values. Of the 352 municipalities in Alberta, appeals to the Municipal Government Board
in 2019-20 affected 103 different municipalities.
Hearings typically run from one to three weeks. Given the current number of files before the
Municipal Government Board, if all proceeded without settlement, more than 170 hearing days
would be required.
Only one case manager is responsible for acknowledging the appeal, attempting to clarify the issues
between the parties, acting as a mediator, and streamlining the issues as much as possible before
the hearing. The case manager attends the hearings, advises the panel on the file, and assists with
the writing of the decisions. Given the volume, it is critical that files that can be resolved are settled
prior to hearing.

Composite Assessment Review

For many years, property owners who wanted to challenge their annual assessment of the value of
their property had to struggle through two levels of appeal; 1) to the local assessment review
board, and 2) to the Municipal Government Board. Amendments to the Municipal Government Act in
2014 created a single board for appeals with respect to non-residential and multi-residential
property in Alberta called the Composite Assessment Review Board.
A panel consisting of two members from the local assessment review board and one member from
the Municipal Government Board, who by legislation is the designated chair of the proceedings,
now hears appeals. The mandate of the board is to ensure taxpayers are treated fairly and equally
and that municipalities have a fair and transparent process through which their assessments are
reviewed. Composite Assessment Review Board decisions cannot be appealed and can only be
challenged by applying for judicial review at the Court of Queen’s Bench.
Assessment decisions have a significant impact on property owners, as decisions can impact the
financial foundation of municipalities: the tax base.
The workload for the Composite Assessment Review Board is very demanding. In 2018-19, the
Municipal Government Board provided presiding officers for 1,297 hearings days at locations
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across the province, including Edmonton, Calgary, and Red Deer. These decisions represented
billions of dollars in property evaluations.
On top of the pressures created by the volume of files, there is significant pressure around the
timely release of board decisions. Under the legislation, the board must provide written decisions
within 30 days of the hearing. This stipulation reflects how important it is for municipalities to
make budget decisions based on known assessment values. The volume of the work in terms of
days of hearings and days required to provide written decisions is reflected below:
Composite Assessment Review Board Hearings Days 2019
750

587
500

477

233

250

0
Edmonton

Calgary

Other

Composite Assessment Review Board Writing
Days 2019
750

511
500

360

250

145

0
Edmonton

Calgary

Other

Surface Rights Board

The jurisdiction of the Surface Rights Board extends to matters under the Surface Rights Act,
including:

•

right of entry for resource activity and power transmission lines;

•
•

awarding compensation;
review of annual compensation under a surface lease or compensation order;
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•

damages related to disputes between operators and landowners/occupants who are parties to
a surface lease or right of entry order; and

•

recovery of compensation where money is payable under a compensation order or a surface
lease has not been paid and the due date for its payment has passed.

Statistical information on the Surface Rights Board is provided on the basis of a calendar year,
consistent with the reporting requirements under the Act.
Proceedings under this board are not appeals; they are applications for relief to the board from
landowners and occupants with property impacted principally by the oil and gas industry and from
operators who seek access to land or a review of compensation. The board may be called upon to
decide matters of access or compensation any time after a licence is issued by the Alberta Energy
Regulator or the Alberta Utilities Commission and continues until the site is reclaimed.
Where the parties cannot agree, the board will decide. Given the legitimate, but often competing
interests of landowners versus operators, hearings can be highly contentious. The Court of Appeal
has described this legislative regime as a legislative compromise made decades ago.
Common law gave mineral owners the unimpeded right to enter onto farmland even if the land was
destroyed or disturbed. Landowners and occupants of the land were essentially powerless. To
redress this inequity, the government passed legislation in 1947 giving landowners and occupants
the right to compensation for the loss of their land, while providing operators with a process that
ensures their right to enter upon the land. Because the taking of land for oil and gas development
was very much like an expropriation, compensation was based on how much land was lost as well
as the detrimental effects on the remaining property. In 1977, the Surface Rights Act was amended
to include jurisdiction over pipelines and power transmission lines.
Most landowners and operators are able to come to agreements regarding access, but when they
are not able to reach an agreement, the operator has the right to apply to the board for a right of
entry order under the Surface Rights Act. In 2019, there were 138 cases where operators applied to
the board for a right of entry order – an increase from 115 in 2017, and 123 in 2018. Landowners
and occupants have the right to file objections that will result in a hearing before the board. These
applications are particularly time-sensitive because operators have already gone through the
process of acquiring a licence from the Alberta Energy Regulator or the Alberta Utilities
Commission, and there are considerable pressures to complete work within the regular
construction season. For linear projects, lack of access to one property can hold up construction of
the entire line. In 2019, the board issued134 orders granting access. The highest percentage of
cases dealt with applications to access to wells, roads, pad-sites, and pipelines.
Whether access is by way of consent or a right of entry order, the landowner has a right to fair
compensation under the Surface Rights Act. The board is required to determine compensation
based on the factors enumerated in the Act and maintains an oversight function even in cases
where the parties agree. In 2019, 119 consent compensation orders were issued. Only two oral
hearings to determine compensation were required, which is a result directly attributable to the
board’s alternative dispute resolution processes.
Every five years, the parties have a right to a review the annual compensation component of surface
leases or compensation orders under the Act. In 2019, there were 258 new applications for review
and the board released 19 decisions affecting 31 separate applications.
Under the Surface Rights Act, landowners also have the right to claim additional compensation for
damage to land outside the area granted to the operator, as well as loss and damage to livestock or
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personal property. In 2019, there were 28 new applications for damages and the board issued
decisions in two cases.
The board also has the power to terminate a right of entry order either because the operator is not
using the land or when the land is reclaimed as evidenced by a reclamation certificate issued by
Alberta Environment and Parks. In 2019, there were 33 termination orders issued by the board.
Parties also have the option of requesting a review of any board decision, although there are
prerequisites to be met before a review is granted. In 2019, there were 26 new applications for
review and the board issued 10 decisions. Legislation allows the board to vary or amend
compensation orders when parties change.
The most time-consuming work of the Surface Rights Board revolves around applications by
landowners for recovery of compensation when operators default under Section 36 of the Surface
Rights Act. In the 1970s, the Government of Alberta introduced legislation to provide a safety net
for landowners should operators fail to pay annual compensation.
The board has no control over the type or number of applications it receives, and the volume will
vary dramatically depending upon the state of the economy and new infrastructure projects such as
power transmission lines. This means the board must be flexible enough to redirect resources to
where they are needed most at any given time. In addition, with the exception of right of entry
orders, new applications may not lead to decisions in the same calendar year. Disclosure,
prehearing conferences, and negotiation between the parties are processes that occur before a
matter is sent to the board for decision.
Board members also face challenges with respect to the length and complexity of written decisions.
In 2019, board members conducted a total of 44 written hearings regarding 72 separate
applications, and 21 oral hearings regarding 42 separate applications. In addition, there were 45
that might be described as special applications addressing such matters as jurisdiction challenges,
contested rescheduling, and costs.
Another challenge was that board members are located all across the province. To help address this
issue, in 2019 the board made use of existing technology that allowed for “virtual” meetings for
deliberation, legal consultation and training, as well as a series of telephone conferences to discuss
current issues and challenges. Virtual meetings have cut travel expenses, allowed for greater
participation, and are less burdensome to organize.
Senior staff also attend in-person community information sessions throughout the province,
including Edmonton, Athabasca, Whitecourt, Olds, Cayley, Camrose, Calgary, Vulcan, Warburg, and
Drayton Valley.

Land Compensation Board

The Land Compensation Board is the decision-making tribunal regarding expropriation.
Expropriation is the taking of land by government, without the consent of the owner, tenants, or
others who may have an interest in the land. The Supreme Court of Canada has described
expropriation as one of the ultimate exercises of governmental authority. Where the expropriating
authority is an agency other than the Government of Alberta or a municipality (such as an irrigation
district, wastewater commission, or utility company), the Land Compensation Board is the
authority that decides whether an expropriation should proceed. If there is an objection to
expropriation, the board will, after conducting an inquiry and providing its reasons in a report,
decide whether to approve the expropriation. The test to be applied is whether the expropriation
would be fair, sound, and reasonably necessary in achieving the objectives of the expropriating
authority.
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For all expropriations in Alberta, including those by the Government of Alberta or a municipality,
where the parties cannot agree on compensation, the Land Compensation Board is the tribunal with
the authority to determine compensation. Decisions of the board are final and are reviewable only
by the Court of Appeal.
The Expropriation Act codifies the common law right of the expropriated property owner to be fully
compensated and details the principles to be applied in determining compensation. The board must
take great care in assessing all economic consequences and impacts. The board is required to
separately assess and make separate awards of compensation for each item of consequential
damage – beyond the value of the land – arising out of the expropriation, including:

•
•
•
•

loss of value in the remaining land;

•
•
•
•

good will;

incidental damages;
business losses;
special difficulties in relocating a business;
relocating a residence;
replacing a commercial or residential lease; and
the cost of moving.

The amounts claimed will vary depending on the nature of the loss or damage, but there is no limit
on the amount of compensation that may be claimed. Multi-million dollar claims are not unusual
when business interests are concerned. The legislation also gives the board the authority to award
an owner reasonable legal and appraisal costs incurred in determining compensation. Claims for
costs in complex cases can exceed $1 million. Given the financial and personal interests property
owners have in their land, homes, and businesses, emotions can run high.
The volume of work increases for the Land Compensation Board when there is an increase in the
number of infrastructure projects, such as the building of roads, light rail transit, flood mitigation,
public parks, sports and entertainment complexes, community development, irrigation, or
wastewater systems. A single major project can generate hundreds of claims for compensation by
landowners and tenants, and a typical file will take months or even years before the parties are
ready for a hearing. A board file may remain active for several years after the compensation
application is filed before the parties request the board assist with case management to ensure all
expert reports and prehearing disclosure and questioning is completed prior to scheduling
mediation or a hearing. Currently, there are 237 active applications before the board.
In 2019, there were 11 new claims for compensation as the result of a public works project in
Calgary, light rail transit projects in both Edmonton and Calgary, and the construction and
operation of a drainage course and related improvements in Thorhild County. The total dollar value
claimed in the applications in these matters was in excess of $3.5 million before costs and interest.
Expropriation applications often require more than one hearing and multiple prehearing
conferences. Hearings before the Land Compensation Board vary in length from a day to several
weeks, depending on the complexity of the issues. Preliminary applications typically are assigned to
a single panel member; for complex compensation hearings, a three-member panel will be assigned
in most cases. Decisions on complex files can be hundreds of pages. Six decisions were completed in
2019, including an expropriation by Sylvan Lake Regional Wastewater Commission for construction
and installation of a sanitary pipeline.
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Given the highly specialized nature of expropriation proceedings, the board comprises experts in
administrative law, planning, appraisal, engineering, and business valuation. Board members
require an understanding of the rules of natural justice and fairness as well as the Rules of Court.
Legal counsel and the case co-ordinator also provide specialized training for board members on an
annual basis.
In 2019, the Land Compensation Board instituted new policies that resulted in efficiencies and
considerable savings:

•

The board made a considerable investment in prehearing conferences.

•

Parties are actively encouraged to participate in written hearings for preliminary matters. This
allows a matter to be dealt with more expeditiously and results in large savings for the parties,
and the board.

•

The board will no longer set hearing dates until the board member handling prehearing matters
is confident the parties are ready and full disclosure has been made.

Part of the mandate of the board is public outreach. In October 2019, the board’s director of
operations spoke to stakeholders at the annual Alberta Expropriation Association Conference,
providing key information for an audience of academics, professionals, and experts from across
Canada to discuss developments and expropriation in Alberta.
The board completed a major upgrade of its website in 2019. The website now offers key
information for those appearing before the board and provides facts on expropriation procedures,
key legislation, and the board processes.

New Home Buyer Protection Board

The mandate of the New Home Buyer Protection Board is to adjudicate on appeals launched under
the New Home Buyer Protection Act, including:

•

applications for owner-builder authorizations where the authorization was refused, suspended,
or cancelled, or where terms and conditions were imposed;

•
•
•

refusal or application for exemption based on undue hardship;

•

building status determinations.

compliance orders;
administrative penalties; and

The board shares resources and members with the Municipal Government Board.
There were no appeals to the New Home Buyer Protection Board in 2019-20. As with all
applications before an adjudicative tribunal, whether appeals are launched is not within the control
of the board. External factors, such as the state of the economy and the success of the regulatory
agency in achieving compliance, will affect the number of appeals filed in a given year.
5.2

Assist parties with resolving their disputes by providing effective alternative dispute
resolution and mediation services.

There is a spectrum of dispute resolution processes known as alternative dispute resolution used
by all the boards to encourage efficient hearings and, potentially, settlement. When the parties can
agree, the solutions are typically quicker, less expensive, more creative, confidential, less stressful,
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and less uncertain. There is no downside to mediation, as the parties can always back out of
alternative dispute resolution and proceed to a hearing.
Different processes are effective for different matters.
The most informal alternative dispute resolution process is case management, which involves staff
contacting the parties separately, setting dates for exchange of information (which is not mandated
by legislation), and identifying the key issues as between the parties.
The next step is the prehearing conference, also known as the dispute resolution conference, with
both parties. This is a more formal process in which board staff or a board member encourages the
parties to find common ground and to resolve the dispute. Failing resolution, the parties are
encouraged to work toward a more efficient and effective hearing by:

•
•

agreeing to hearing dates;

•
•

preparing an agreed statement of facts and common exhibit book; and

identifying the issues in dispute;
exchanging witness lists and summaries of the evidence.

Of the four boards, alternative dispute resolution is best suited to the work of the Surface Rights
Board. As the relationship between landowners and operators may last for decades, agreement
between the parties is the best option. The exception to this is the Section 36 application when
operators default on payments. These do not lend themselves easily to a mediated settlement as the
very reason the matter is before the board is because the operator is insolvent.
Since 2016, the Surface Rights Board has placed considerable emphasis on proactively encouraging
resolution. Dispute resolution conferences have been particularly successful in reducing the
number of files proceeding to hearing. The investment in time is considerable, with 317 separate
dispute resolution conferences scheduled in 2019 involving 973 separate applications. Of those,
217 conferences did proceed, involving 736 separate files. With the assistance of the board, 90 per
cent of these files were resolved without a hearing. In fact, only 21 oral hearings proceeded in 2019.
For 11 cases that did proceed to an oral hearing, this was the only option because the operator was
defunct and there was no opportunity for settlement. In cases where the operator did participate,
only 10 matters proceeded to oral hearing; of these, two dealt only with the question of costs, with
the matter of compensation already resolved.
Given the fiscal restraints in place and the limited number of board members who could be
assigned, limiting the time and expense of an oral hearing represents savings in the thousands of
dollars for the parties and the board.
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Case management and prehearing conferences have also been hugely successful in the work of the
Land Compensation Board. In 2019, there were 86 prehearing conferences before a single board
member. This is a 72 per cent increase over the number of dispute resolution conferences
conducted in 2018 as illustrated in the chart below:
Total Surface Rights Board Oral Hearings with Operator
50

39

31
25
25

10

0

2016

2017

2018

2019

This investment of time has had positive results. Of the 148 hearing days scheduled for 2019, the
Land Compensation Board facilitated settlements in 12 cases. The dollar amount in those 12 cases
exceeded $155 million, not including interest and costs. This also resulted in the release of 80 days
of hearing time which represents a savings to Albertans of more than $250,000.
Formal mediation has also been highly successful for both the Surface Rights Board and the Land
Compensation Board. In the mediations conducted by the director of dispute resolution for Surface
Rights Board files, there was a 96 per cent success rate in 2019. The Land Compensation Board also
provides parties with the option of mediation conducted by an expert in the area with extensive
mediation experience. The number of requests for formal mediation doubled in 2019, and the
mediator assisted the parties in reaching a settlement in all but one matter.
Designated industrial property appeals have also benefited from the case management conferences.
The case manager chaired 39 case management conferences in 2019, resulting in a 54 per cent
settlement rate.
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Land Compensation Board Summary of Proceedings
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For annexations and subdivisions, the more appropriate alternative dispute resolution process is
informal case management, which focuses more on the efficiency of the hearing, as opposed to
settlement. Given the number of parties and the overriding consideration of the public interest,
formal mediation is not usually a practical solution. In case of annexations, the Municipal
Government Board acts in an advisory capacity. For subdivisions, there are considerable time
constraints imposed by the legislation (hearings must be held within 60 days of the application
being received) that do not allow for a more formal alternative dispute resolution process.
For Composite Assessment Review Board hearings, alternative dispute resolution has not been a
tool used in Alberta, although British Columbia has been very successful in reducing the number of
hearings through a combination of case management and prehearing conferences. The Municipal
Government Board is embarking upon a pilot project in Red Deer to test whether the approach used
in British Columbia might be helpful in Alberta.
5.3

Provide certification training and support to municipal Assessment Review Boards.

The Municipal Government Board oversees all Composite Assessment Review Board hearings by
providing a provincial representative to act as the presiding officer, as well as training and support
for all assessment review board members and clerks throughout the province. This training gives
municipalities the knowledge and tools to process assessment complaints fairly and in accordance
with all applicable legislation. The course curriculum covers principles of property assessment and
administrative law.
As part of a red tape reduction project, member training has been shortened from four to three
days, with a greater emphasis on the role of board members and quasi-judicial decision-makers.
The board is also actively encouraging regional boards so that the investment in training is reduced
for smaller municipalities and the members who are trained benefit from greater exposure to board
work. In 2019-20, 211 participants attended 15 training sessions resulting in certification for 74
new board members, 82 new clerks, and mandatory refresher training for 55 returning board
members.
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The board has also taken on responsibility for providing training to clerks and members of the local
subdivision and development appeal boards across the province. This new training initiative was
announced in 2019. Six courses for new members and clerks are scheduled in 2020.
Performance Indicator 5.b:
Percentage satisfied or neutral regarding Municipal Government Board support to
Municipal Composite Assessment Review Boards
Prior Years’ Results
2014-15

99%

2015-16

100%

2016-17

100%

2019-20
2017-18

99%

2018-19

96%

99%

The board achieved a result of 99 per cent in 2019-20, which is three percentage points above the
2018-19 result of 96 per cent.
The results show that the municipal composite assessment review boards’ clerks were satisfied
with the performance of the members sent to their municipality. The results bring the Municipal
Government Board back to historical results of 99 to100 per cent.
The only negative comment received was regarding a preliminary hearing, suggesting the board
was inexperienced with providing advice. All remaining comments were either positive, or
recommendations for other services. The board continues to focus on the training and development
of its members through workshops and other learning events, such as monthly teleconferences for
members to discuss trends and issues.
The indicator result is relatively stable from one year to the next. The Municipal Government Board
consistently receives results of 99 to100 per cent, indicating the municipal boards are very satisfied
with the quality of services provided by the board and its members.
Given that the Municipal Government Board provides a consistent and ongoing assessment training
program for its members, it is reasonable to expect the services and underlying results would not
vary significantly.
5.4

Strengthen the rights of landowners and operators to fair and timely decisions on
surface rights matters by streamlining internal processes and reducing timelines for
issuing decisions.

The highest priority for the four boards is a relatively new
problem: the backlog in Section 36 applications.

In an office of 42 employees,
sixteen are dedicated exclusively
to processing Section 36
applications.

Section 36 applications occur when an operator defaults on a
compensation payment. The landowner has the right to apply
to the board for relief. Upon proof that the operator has failed
to honour its obligations to the landowner, the board may suspend and then terminate the right of
the operator to profit from the land.
Based on evidence establishing that the landowner is party entitled to payment and that there is an
ongoing disturbance to the land, the board may direct payment from the Government of Alberta,
which becomes a debt owed from the operator to the government. The board has a duty of fairness
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to operators, and because a successful application results in a government expenditure, the board
has an overriding duty of care to the taxpayers to exhaust any chance that the operator might be
encouraged to pay and to ensure the right party receives the right amount.
With low commodity prices in the oil and gas sectors, there has been an exponential increase in
these applications. Historically, an average of 300 applications were received a year. In 2016, there
were over 2,500 applications, representing almost an 800 per cent increase in volume. Application
volumes continue to rise. In 2019, the board received 3,678 new applications, up from 2,360 in
2018 and 1,934 in 2017. Despite the extraordinary increase in activity, the board has managed to
issue decisions in 534 cases that resolved 1,511 separate applications, resulting in more than $8
million paid to Alberta landowners and occupants in 2019. The chart below illustrates the increase
in workload:
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All decisions of the board are final unless overturned by the Court of Queen’s Bench, either by
appeal or judicial review. In 2019, there were three appeals of decisions of the board: in all cases,
the decision of the board was upheld. In the same period, two new applications for judicial review
were made, but were not heard by the Court. However, the Court did release a decision in 2019
arising from an earlier case in which the board’s decision to award full payment for compensation
to landowners under the Act was challenged by the operator. The Court’s decision was sent back to
the board for reconsideration.
The increase in Section 36 applications has indirectly created pressure for the five-year rental
review applications. Many landowners did not pursue their right for review when annual
compensation was being paid. With the prospect of a Section 36 application, landowners are now
exercising their right for review.
In an attempt to manage the backlog, in 2019, the Surface Rights Board reallocated employees and
other resources and redistributed the work from the other parts of the office to free up staff to
work on Section 36 files. One staff member has been assigned, on a rotating basis, to handle the
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hundreds of phone calls and emails (each month) from landowners looking for help in filling out the
application form and for updates on the status of their applications.
Specialists have been identified from among the board members for both the high-volume routine
files and the more complex applications. With these innovations, the boards have been able to
process more than 1,500 applications a year. Other solutions
to the overwhelming board workload include additional staff,
Staff at the four boards are able
more board members, legislative amendments, and needed IT
to help applicants in eight
enhancements.
different languages (French,
Spanish, Japanese, Punjabi,
Hindi, Newari, Mandarin, and
Napali) and there are Municipal
Government Board members
who can conduct hearings in
French and German.

A lack of experienced board members is also a factor in the
late release of decisions. The problem reached a critical point
in 2019, when only five of the original 15 Surface Rights
Board members could be assigned on a regular basis. In a
further attempt to improve the timelines of decisions being
made, the board developed a rigorous tracking system that
follows the process of a file from hearing to the final decision.
The tracker is released every week so members and staff know exactly where a file is in the process.
The board also established targets for completion of a decision.
Six new Surface Rights Board members will also be appointed in 2020 and three experienced
members will shift from part-time to full-time status. This will translate into a significant increase
in capacity for both the more routine, and complex, Section 36 applications.
The increase in the number of board members means members are available to do the other work
of the Surface Rights Board – in particular, right of entry applications that protect the rights of
operators.
It is expected that the current economic climate caused by the COVID-19 pandemic and the collapse
in oil prices will exacerbate this problem and there will be a marked increase in section 36
applications in the coming year.
5.5

Legislatively amalgamate the Municipal Government Board, the New Home Buyer
Protection Board, the Surface Rights Board, and the Land Compensation Board into a
single board, to further reduce duplication and ensure efficiency.

Following a government-wide review of agencies, boards, and commissions, direction was given to
amalgamate the four boards – based on their similar mandates and operations.
The administrative amalgamation, completed in 2017, has realized positive results, including
reducing duplication, centralizing administrative support, and reducing oversight of all board
operations to a single chair.
In fall 2019, the minister announced the legislative
amalgamation of the boards would proceed. While the new
board will have the same jurisdiction and responsibilities
currently assigned to each individual board, there will be a
consolidated framework which will include:

•

a new name for the board;

•

cross-appointments for members;

•

streamlined procedures;
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The net costs savings that
resulted from administratively
amalgamating the boards is
more than $615,000, annually.
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•
•

ability to retain our most experienced members; and
greater efficiency in training programs.

The proposed legislative changes will have no impact on the rights of Albertans, but will translate to
savings in training, recruitment, and administration.

102

Municipal Affairs | Annual Report 2019–2020

Results Analysis

Performance Measure and Indicator Methodology
Performance Measure 1.a:
Percentage of municipalities deemed to be not at risk based on financial and
governance risk indicators
Prior Years’ Results
2015-16

Not
Available

2017-18
(2016)

2016-17

Not
Available

91%

2018-19
(2017)

93%

2019-20
Target
(2018)

2019-20
Actual
(2018)

90%

94%

Methodology

The percentage of municipalities deemed to be not at risk is modelled by a set of calculated risk
indicators, based on information collected from audited financial statements, municipal financial
information returns, local government election records in the Elections Database, and ministerial
actions tracked in the Action Request Tracking System.
The model assesses each municipality’s risk based on 13 indicators derived from the source data
for each municipality. Each indicator has a defined trigger level; a municipality would either trigger
or not trigger each indicator. The outcomes of all indicators are entered into the risk model. A
municipality is deemed at risk if it triggers one of the two critical indicators, or three or more of the
11 non-critical indicators.
The two critical indicators are: 1) legislatively permitted ministerial interventions, and 2) audit
outcomes.
Ministerial Interventions
Ministerial interventions are triggered if any of the legislated ministerial actions, such as
appointment of an official administrator, settlement of intermunicipal disputes, or initiation of a
viability review, occurred in the given calendar year, or if a municipality is part of a multi-year
ministerial process, such as the minister setting the budget for a municipality due to a budget
deficiency. This is confirmed through documentation found in the Action Request Tracking System.
Audit Outcome Indicators
An audit outcome indicator is triggered if either a “going concern” or a “denial of opinion” is found
in the municipality’s audited financial statements.
The non-critical indicators include:

•
•

eight financial indicators calculated from the financial information provided by municipalities;

•

interest in municipal office, calculated from records within the Elections Database; and

•

on-time financial reporting, which is derived from the administrative tracking tables in the
Municipal Financial Information System.

population change, based on the ministry’s annual population lists;
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A list of these indicators, the indicator descriptions, data sources, and calculations are detailed in a
data dictionary.
The percentage of municipalities deemed to be not at risk is the number of not-at-risk
municipalities (“total number of municipalities included in the analysis” minus “the number of
triggered municipalities”) divided by the total number of municipalities (included in the analysis)
multiplied by 100.
Calculation:
%=

(𝐓𝐨𝐭𝐚𝐥 𝐍𝐮𝐦𝐛𝐞𝐫 𝐨𝐟 𝐌𝐮𝐧𝐢𝐜𝐢𝐩𝐚𝐥𝐢𝐭𝐢𝐞𝐬 − 𝐍𝐮𝐦𝐛𝐞𝐫 𝐨𝐟 𝐓𝐫𝐢𝐠𝐠𝐞𝐫𝐞𝐝 𝐌𝐮𝐧𝐢𝐜𝐢𝐩𝐚𝐥𝐢𝐭𝐢𝐞𝐬)
× 𝟏𝟎𝟎
𝐓𝐨𝐭𝐚𝐥 𝐍𝐮𝐦𝐛𝐞𝐫 𝐨𝐟 𝐌𝐮𝐧𝐢𝐜𝐢𝐩𝐚𝐥𝐢𝐭𝐢𝐞𝐬

As municipalities gather and report their information on a calendar year basis and this information
is not provided to the department until after the end of the Government of Alberta’s fiscal year,
results are for the calendar year, with a one-year delay. For example, results for 2019-20 reflect the
2018 calendar year.

Source

Data Collection Processes
The Municipal Government Act requires each municipality to prepare and submit annual audited
financial statements and a financial information return to Municipal Affairs by May 1 of each year
for the previous financial (calendar) year. This deadline was extended to October 1, 2020, in
recognition of the challenges municipalities were facing in spring 2020 due to the public health
emergency related to the COVID-19 pandemic. An independent auditor contracted by the
municipality audits the financial statements. The financial statements are certified by the auditors
and approved by the municipal council before submission to Municipal Affairs. The audit outcome
indicator is based on the audit opinions given to the municipality by the municipality’s auditor. The
audit opinion is part of the audited financial statements that municipalities are required to submit
to the ministry annually.
The financial information return is a standard set of year-end reports that capture detailed financial
information for each municipality. Municipal Affairs provides a financial information return form
for municipalities as a means to simplify data submission. The financial information return form
must be certified by the organization’s signing authorities before the information is accepted by
Municipal Affairs. The data from the forms is loaded into the ministry’s Municipal Financial
Information System and populates the relevant tables in the system’s Oracle database.
Municipal financial information returns use the Municipal Financial Information System, and data is
gathered from the audited financial information returns received from all municipalities. The
reporting period is a calendar year, and information is collected once a year (May-July), and
reported annually.
A set of manual and automated processes in the Municipal Financial Information System ensures
the data is verified and validated; administrative dates are tracked; and a municipality’s financial
reporting progress is monitored. Municipalities flagged with data anomalies receive followup
phone calls and/or emails from Municipal Affairs staff, and the municipality may be asked to
provide additional supporting documents and/or data corrections.
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The Elections Database is an online tool for municipalities to report candidate information, election
results, and elected official information to Municipal Affairs. For each municipal election, the
municipality is required to report the election information according to the specified timelines
found in the Local Authorities Election Act. Municipalities have the choice of entering the election
information directly to the Elections Database or uploading the election information to the
Elections Database by using pre-programmed loadable forms. The indicator – election candidates to
positions ratio – is calculated based on the election information reported by the municipalities and
stored in the Elections Database.
Local government election records are collected from the Elections Database, which contains
details from all municipalities in Alberta. Information is gathered every four years (for municipal
general elections/summer village elections) and ongoing for by-elections. Data is updated after
every election but compiled annually (January).
The Action Request Tracking System is an internal database that tracks formal correspondence
entering and leaving the Government of Alberta. This database is updated on a daily basis as
correspondence is received or ministry action is required. This review process and the outcomes
are tracked utilizing the system software. Should the minister issue a Ministerial Order or initiate a
process authorized under the Municipal Government Act, an approval document must be created. In
addition to searching the Action Request Tracking System, the business unit performs a keyword
search on the Ministerial Order listing document, which is maintained by the ministry’s Information
Management, Legislative and Administrative Services branch. If a signed approval document
authorizing ministerial action against a municipality is found in the Action Request Tracking
System or in the list maintained by the ministry for that year, the municipality is deemed to have
triggered this indicator. Information on ministerial interventions are gathered from the Action
Request Tracking System – specifically from ministerial correspondence provided to municipalities,
where the minister was required to take action. This information is gathered and reported on
annually.
Each year Municipal Affairs publishes a population list of all Alberta municipalities based on the
most recent municipal census or latest federal census. The list contains municipal census
population figures submitted to the ministry as of September 1 of the reporting year, in accordance
with the Municipal Government Act and the Determination of Population Regulation (Alberta
Regulation 63/2001). Conducting a municipal census is at the discretion of the municipality. Most
municipalities rely on the information provided by the federal census prepared by Statistics Canada
once every five years. Municipalities completing their own census must follow mandatory
requirements as specified in the Determination of Population Regulation and the Municipal Census
Manual. In most instances where a municipal census was conducted, the municipal census count
would supersede the federal census count.
The Municipal Affairs Population List is gathered from population counts received from federal
census or municipal census. Information is collected each November and reported annually by
municipalities that complete a municipal census.
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Performance Measure 2.a:
Number of regulatory requirements reduced across the ministry
2019-20
Target

2019-20
Actual

5%

11.1%

Methodology

A baseline count of regulatory requirements in the Government of Alberta’s statutes, regulations,
policies and forms as of May 1, 2019, was completed in February 2020. The baseline count
represents the benchmark used to measure annual reduction targets and the final one-third
reduction.
Counters followed a common count methodology and guidelines developed by Treasury Board and
Finance. Training and ongoing guidance were provided to ensure consistency in methodology
across departments and agencies. The methodology identifies which types of regulatory
requirements are in and out of scope, as well as specific instructions on how to count different
kinds of in-scope requirements as they appear in different regulatory instruments.
As regulatory instruments are revised, added, or repealed, departments and agencies are required
to update the count of regulatory requirements by counting and entering resulting net changes to
the count of regulatory requirements in that instrument.

Source

Regulatory requirements are counted in each regulatory instrument, including legislation,
regulations, policies, and forms.
Regulatory items are collected and counted by each Municipal Affairs program area and agency
(specifically, those agencies subject to the Alberta Public Agencies Governance Act) to create a
baseline count of regulatory requirements. The collected data are entered into the Regulatory
Count Tracking Database, maintained by Treasury Board and Finance. This database is the official
repository of regulatory count data. Departments are required to enter ongoing updates into the
Regulatory Count Tracking Database as their counts change.
Performance Measure 3.a:
Number of injuries and fatalities caused by structural or mechanical failure of
buildings and associated systems per 100,000 population in Alberta
Prior Years’ Results
2015-16

Not
Available
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2016-17

Not
Available

2017-18

Not
Available

2019-20
Target

2019-20
Actual

2018-19

Not
Available

0.91

0.80
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Methodology

Ministry staff review incident reports with injuries and/or fatalities identified, and determine
which were caused by structural or mechanical failure. This rationale for each safety discipline is
documented in detail to ensure consistency across disciplines and so that it can be replicated in
future years.
Ministry staff multiply the number of injuries and fatalities by 100,000, then divide that product by
the total provincial population reported by Municipal Affairs, in compliance with the Determination
of Population Regulation 63/2001.
𝐧𝐮𝐦𝐛𝐞𝐫 𝐨𝐟 𝐢𝐧𝐣𝐮𝐫𝐢𝐞𝐬 𝐚𝐧𝐝 𝐟𝐚𝐭𝐚𝐥𝐢𝐭𝐢𝐞𝐬 𝐗 𝟏𝟎𝟎, 𝟎𝟎𝟎
𝐩𝐫𝐨𝐯𝐢𝐧𝐜𝐢𝐚𝐥 𝐩𝐨𝐩𝐮𝐥𝐚𝐭𝐢𝐨𝐧

Source

Data for this measure comes from a combination of the following:

•

Incident reports from incidents reported by safety codes officers to the administrators for each
discipline.

•

Population data from Municipal Affairs.

Incident reports
Under the Administrative Items Regulation of the Safety Codes Act, safety codes officers are
required to report incidents to their respective discipline’s technical administrator, including
events that result in injuries or fatalities.
Population data
Population figures are based on the latest municipal or federal census counts reported to the
minister as of September 1 (of the calendar year) in compliance with the Determination of
Population Regulation 63/2001.
Performance Indicator 3.b:
Number of injuries and fatalities involving buildings or associated systems not caused
by structural or mechanical failure per 100,000 population in Alberta
Prior Years’ Results
2015

6.03

2016

6.20

2017

7.11

2019
2018

5.12

4.05

Methodology

Ministry staff review incident reports with injuries and/or fatalities identified, and determine
which were not caused by structural or mechanical failure. This rationale for each safety discipline
is documented in detail to ensure consistency across disciplines and so that it can be replicated in
future years.
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Ministry staff multiply the number of injuries and fatalities by 100,000, then divide that product by
the total provincial population reported by Municipal Affairs, in compliance with the Determination
of Population Regulation 63/2001.
𝐧𝐮𝐦𝐛𝐞𝐫 𝐨𝐟 𝐢𝐧𝐣𝐮𝐫𝐢𝐞𝐬 𝐚𝐧𝐝 𝐟𝐚𝐭𝐚𝐥𝐢𝐭𝐢𝐞𝐬 𝐗 𝟏𝟎𝟎, 𝟎𝟎𝟎
𝐩𝐫𝐨𝐯𝐢𝐧𝐜𝐢𝐚𝐥 𝐩𝐨𝐩𝐮𝐥𝐚𝐭𝐢𝐨𝐧

Source

Data for this measure comes from a combination of the following:

•

Incident reports from incidents reported by safety codes officers to the administrators for each
discipline.

•

Population data from Municipal Affairs.

Incident reports
Under the Administrative Items Regulation of the Safety Codes Act, safety codes officers are
required to report incidents to their respective discipline’s technical administrator, including
events that result in injuries or fatalities.
Population data
Population figures are based on the latest municipal or federal census counts reported to the
minister as of September 1 (of the calendar year) in compliance with the Determination of
Population Regulation 63/2001.
Performance Indicator 3.c:
Number of fire reports not caused by structural or mechanical failure of buildings and
associated systems, per 100,000 population in Alberta
Prior Years’ Results
2015

124.09

2016

404.51*

2019

2017

2018

104.04

116.63

87.83

*The 2016 fire number includes the Fort McMurray wildfires. When the wildfires are excluded, the number of fire
reports per 100,000 population is 103.11.

Methodology

Ministry staff determine the count of all fire reports entered in the Fire Electronic Reporting
System. Fires where the “act or omission” is coded as being related to a mechanical or system
failure are excluded from the total.
Ministry staff multiply the number of fire reports by 100,000, then divide that product by the total
provincial population reported by Municipal Affairs, in compliance with the Determination of
Population Regulation 63/2001.
𝐧𝐮𝐦𝐛𝐞𝐫 𝐨𝐟 𝐟𝐢𝐫𝐞 𝐫𝐞𝐩𝐨𝐫𝐭𝐬 𝐗 𝟏𝟎𝟎, 𝟎𝟎𝟎
𝐩𝐫𝐨𝐯𝐢𝐧𝐜𝐢𝐚𝐥 𝐩𝐨𝐩𝐮𝐥𝐚𝐭𝐢𝐨𝐧
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Source
Fire Reports
The source of this data is the Fire Electronic Reporting System. Under sections 8 and 9 of the
Administrative Items Regulation, accredited municipalities are legislated to investigate and report
all dollar loss and casualty fires to the fire commissioner; these reports are completed by safety
codes officers in the fire discipline. The system also receives fire reports from insurance adjusters.
Where an unaccredited municipality has a loss or casualty fire, the department is the responsible
entity for the fire investigation and subsequent report.
Excerpt from Section 8 of the Administrative Items Regulation:
Reporting and investigating fires
8(1). Subject to subsection (2), if the responding officer of a fire department knows of a fire
within the department’s jurisdiction in which a person dies or suffers an injury that
requires professional medical attention or in which property is damaged or destroyed, the
reporting officer must report the fire to a safety codes officer for the fire discipline.
8(2). A safety codes officer for the fire discipline must investigate the cause, origin, and
circumstances of every fire within the safety codes officer’s jurisdiction in which a person
dies or suffers injury that requires professional medical attention or in which property is
damaged or destroyed.
8(3). This section does not apply to forest fires.
While forest fires are exempt from investigation and reporting under the Administrative Items
Regulation, property loss suffered as a result of a forest fire is reported to the ministry’s fire
commissioner.
Population data
Population figures are based on the latest municipal or federal census counts reported to the
Minister as of September 1 (of the calendar year) in compliance with the Determination of
Population Regulation 63/2001.
Performance Measure 4.a:
Percentage of communities (municipalities, First Nations, and Metis Settlements) that
have been visited by an Alberta Emergency Management Agency field officer and had
their Community Emergency Management Plan reviewed annually
Prior Years’ Results
2017-18

96%

2019-20
Target

2019-20
Actual

90%

N/A*

2018-19

90%
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* Due to the ministry’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic, results for 2019-20 were not available
at the time of publication. Results will be reported in the ministry’s 2020-21 annual report.

Methodology
Field officers develop and maintain relationships with all communities in their region. Their
responsibilities include the review of community emergency management plans and routine visits
to the communities to engage stakeholders and ensure local authorities have the requisite tools
available to develop robust emergency management programs.
Field officers review community emergency management plans using one of the following two
methods:

1. Communities participating in Community Emergency Management Program: For communities

using this tool, field officers will use a continual improvement approach by reviewing and
providing feedback to the communities. Once satisfied that a community is ready for a final
review, field officers will schedule a visit to review the plan in-person with the community’s
director of emergency management or another appropriate representative. Following the inperson review, the field officer will track and address management of outstanding issues or
concerns.
2. Communities not participating in Community Emergency Management Program: For
communities that are not program users, the field officer will conduct an in-person review with
a representative from the local authority, preferably the director of emergency management.
The following equation is used to process the data collected in Community Emergency Management
Program:
Number of communities visited by
Alberta Emergency Management Agency field officers
and had their
Community Emergency Management Plan reviewed
%=
x 100
Total number of communities in Alberta
This performance measure is calculated by comparing the communities that have been visited by
an Alberta Emergency Management Agency field officer and had their community emergency
management plan reviewed, to the total number of communities in Alberta. The resulting ratio is
expressed as a percentage. A confidence interval is not applicable, since a representative sample is
not used for statistical inference.
The data analysis for this performance measure only includes the communities that have been
visited by an Alberta Emergency Management Agency field officer and had their community
emergency management plan reviewed, either remotely or in-person. With the continued
implementation of the Community Emergency Management Program tool, field officers now have
the ability to conduct plan reviews remotely. Communities that have had their community
emergency management plans reviewed remotely, but an in-person visit has not yet taken place,
are excluded from this performance measure.
For communities that have adopted a regional approach for developing emergency management
plans, Alberta Emergency Management Agency field officers review the regional plan and meet with
the appropriate municipal representative for the region. Review of an emergency management plan
for a region, and subsequent field visits, count as a review and visit for all constituent communities.
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Each constituent community of a regional community emergency management plan is counted
separately for this performance measure, rather than just counting one review and field visit.

Source

Data and information regarding field visits and reviews of community emergency management
plans (those completed both in-person and remotely) is recorded in the Community Emergency
Management Program, even if a community is not a participating program user.
The Community Emergency Management Program tool is administered by a dedicated co-ordinator,
with full access rights to the database. The data is stored and maintained in the program and
provides workflow management functionality for tracking corrective actions taken by a
municipality. Field officers retain records from the review process to supplement the data and
information entered into the program.
The Alberta Emergency Management Agency endeavours to update data in the Community
Emergency Management Program as work occurs, or at least once a month. Ideally, data is entered
at the time of the review, but it is often not feasible due to reasons that are manifold. Senior
management in the Provincial Operations branch of Alberta Emergency Management Agency has
the ability to conduct quality assurance checks to ensure data entered into the Community
Emergency Management Program tool is accurate.
Performance Measure 4.b:
Performance Measure: Percentage of residential disaster financial assistance files that
have received 90 per cent of its estimated funding within 90 days of being determined
eligible for disaster financial assistance
Prior Years’ Results
2017-18

100%

2019-20
Target

2019-20
Actual

90%

78%

2018-19

94%

Methodology

When Alberta Emergency Management Agency receives a residential application for disaster
financial assistance, a record is created and a data entry specialist enters the data into the disaster
recovery program database (for this performance measure, residential applications include all
homeowner and tenant applicants). A case manager works with applicants to ensure all required
documents are submitted and applicants are determined to be eligible for funding assistance
following this review. The 90-day period for this measure begins once an applicant is determined to
be eligible for the disaster recovery program.
Once an applicant is determined to be eligible for the disaster recovery program, the eligibility date
is recorded in a centralized spreadsheet, and an evaluator is assigned to the file to assess the
damage. Case managers then contact the applicant to confirm eligibility and eligible funding, and to
provide information regarding the next steps. Eligible funding estimates are determined based on
damage assessments conducted by evaluators and are reviewed and approved before a payment is
generated.
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In order to track when an eligible applicant receives 90 per cent of the estimated funding, a manual
calculation is required. The data from the disaster recovery program database and the centralized
spreadsheets is processed manually. The following data sets are used for reporting:

•
•
•

applicant eligibility dates;
verified payment dates; and
cumulative payments received by applicants.

Using the data sets identified above, the percentage of eligible applicants who receive 90 per cent of
estimated disaster recovery program funding within 90 calendar days of being determined eligible
is manually calculated. The following equation is used to calculate the percentage:

%=

Number of eligible residential applicants
who receive 90% of estimated funding within
90 days of being determined to be eligible x
Total eligible residential
applicants in fiscal year

100

The timeframe for administering a disaster recovery program can be as long as five years,
depending on the size and the scale of a disaster. A disaster recovery program that is not concluded
within the same fiscal year it is established may result in eligible files that span two fiscal years.
These files are tracked and included in the performance measure reporting for the next fiscal year.
Therefore, all eligible files that have received 90 per cent of their estimated disaster financial
assistance in the current fiscal year and the 90-day processing time extends into the next fiscal year
will be reported in the next fiscal year.

Source

The ministry maintains separate files for every application within each disaster recovery program,
and case managers and data entry specialists enter the information in these records into the
disaster recovery program database.
The disaster recovery program database is a proprietary case management tool used to track
various stages of file processing, including payments.
In addition, three data sets (eligibility date, the 90-day period from the eligibility date, and the
percentage of estimated funding received by an applicant in the 90-day period after the eligibility
date) are collected and tracked in centralized spreadsheets.
Performance Measure 5.a:
Percentage of parties to Municipal Government Board appeals who are satisfied or
neutral regarding the board’s performance of services in support of planning,
annexation, designated industrial property, and equalized assessment appeals
Prior Years’ Results
2016-17

89%
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2017-18

88%

2019-20
Target

2019-20
Actual

2018-19

89%

88%

95%
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Methodology

This measure uses a survey each spring of participants who appeared before the board in the
preceding fiscal year. The year for the target/results reports on the actual results for hearings that
took place during the previous fiscal year (e.g., the 2018-19 results reflect hearings that took place
from April 1, 2017 to March 31, 2018). A survey is completed using Opinio software, which has
settings that protect the anonymity of the participants in the survey.
Lists of participants who attended Municipal Government Board hearings are tracked in Municipal
Government Board databases, and parties are asked to complete an online survey.
A five-point, anchored scale asks respondents to assess their satisfaction using the following
options: strongly agree; somewhat agree; neither agree nor disagree; somewhat disagree; or
strongly disagree.
A neutral response is interpreted as satisfied, given that one-half of the parties appearing before the
Municipal Government Board are unsuccessful.
For the survey sent in spring 2019, 209 survey requests were sent and 75 responded – for a
response rate of 36 per cent.

Source

Parties participating in the appeal process and directly affected by Municipal Government Board
decisions are in the best position to judge the board's performance. The parties that appeared
before the Municipal Government Board between April 1, 2018, and March 31, 2019, are surveyed
in 2019, and their responses are used to calculate the measure’s results.
The measure recognizes the expectation that the Municipal Government Board achieves efficiency
in hearing and deciding appeals. One question is about the timeliness of hearings. Five questions
are about the fairness of the hearing process.
Performance Indicator 5.b:
Percentage satisfied or neutral regarding Municipal Government Board support to
Municipal Composite Assessment Review Boards
Prior Years’ Results
2014-15

99%

2015-16

100%

2016-17

100%

2019-20
2017-18

99%

2018-19

96%

99%

Methodology

The listing of clerks who requested information or required a member from January 1 to December
31 of the previous year are compiled from the Legal Files database and emails exchanged during
the year. Each May, an email requesting the survey be completed is sent to all clerks who contacted
the Municipal Government Board. Two weeks after the first email, a reminder is sent to all
Assessment Review Board clerks who did not respond.
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A five-point, anchored satisfaction scale asks respondents to respond to the following options:
strongly agree; somewhat agree; neither agree nor disagree; somewhat disagree; or strongly
disagree. Those clerks that requested Municipal Government Board members for hearings or
required support during the year complete the survey to determine if the Municipal Government
Board is fulfilling Assessment Review Board and legislation requirements and needs.
A neutral response is interpreted as satisfied, given that some hearings are cancelled and clerks
may have no further comments to make.

Source

Assessment review board clerk information is maintained on a contact spreadsheet, and hearing
information is gathered from the Municipal Government Board’s legal files database. The board
used Opinio survey software to collect data anonymously and produces reports from the survey
responses; the reports are stored on the Government of Alberta server.
The indicator uses a survey that takes place in May and is completed in June to capture all clerks
who, during the preceding calendar year, requested board members as presiding officers, or
information on hearing procedures or legislation (e.g., the 2018 results reflect hearings that took
place from January 2017 to December 2018).
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Ministry of Municipal Affairs
Reporting Entity and Method of Consolidation
The financial information is prepared in accordance with the government’s stated accounting
policies, which are based on Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards.
The reporting entity is the Ministry of Municipal Affairs for which the Minister of Municipal Affairs
is accountable. The Government Organization Act defines a ministry as including the department
and any provincial agency and crown-controlled organization for which the minister is responsible.
The accounts of the ministry, which includes the Department of Municipal Affairs (Government
Organization Act) and the Safety Codes Council (Safety Codes Act) are fully consolidated using the
line-by-line method.
Under this method, accounting policies of the consolidated entities are adjusted to conform to
government accounting policies and the results of each line item in their financial statements
(revenue, expenses, assets, and liabilities) are included in government’s results. Revenue and
expense, capital, investing and financing transactions and related asset and liability balances
between the consolidated entities have been eliminated.
The audited financial statements for the Safety Codes Council are included in the ministry’s annual
report as per requirement of the Safety Codes Act.
The ministry is also responsible for the Improvement Districts’ Trust Account and Special Areas
Trust Account; however, these entities’ activities are not consolidated in the financial information
for the ministry. The statement of revenues and expenses of the Improvement Districts’ Trust
Account are included separately in the ministry’s annual report as per requirement of the Municipal
Government Act. The audited financial statements of the Special Areas Trust Account are also
included in the ministry’s annual report as per requirement of the Special Areas Act.
A list of the individual entities making up the ministry are shown on the “Management’s
Responsibility for Reporting” statement included in this annual report.
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Ministry Financial Highlights
Ministry of Municipal Affairs
Consolidated Statement of Revenues and Expenses (unaudited)
Year ended March 31, 2020
(in thousands)
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Ministry of Municipal Affairs
Consolidated Revenues and Expenses Highlights
(unaudited)
Year ended March 31, 2020
(in thousands)

Revenues

Total revenue in 2019-20 was $619,666, an increase of $237,582 from 2018-19, and $84,628 more
than budget; mostly as a result of a one-time Federal Gas Tax Fund top-up funding of $229,515 from
the Government of Canada in 2019-20.
In 2019-20, Disaster Financial Assistance Arrangement revenue was $26,329 as compared to
$31,129 in 2018-19, a variance of ($4,800). This variance was due to adjustments that were made
to the estimated expenditures of several Disaster Recovery Programs. Due to uncertain nature of
disaster events these amounts are not budgeted.

Expenses

In 2019-20, total expenses were $1,503,625, an increase of $273,714 from 2018-19; however,
($17,140) less than budgeted.
The majority of the variance from prior year pertains to the one-time Federal Gas Tax Fund top-up
funding of $229,515 from the Government of Canada in 2019-20.
Due to the uncertain nature of disaster events, the variance in Alberta Emergency Management
Agency and 2019 Northwest Alberta Wildfires expenses is largely due to new Disaster Recovery
Programs. In 2019-20, there were 13 new Disaster Recovery Program events, totaling $150,793
compared to eight new events in 2018-19 totaling $76,039, a variance of $74,754.
The Municipal Cannabis Transition Program variance of ($11,150) is due to this being a one-time
program in 2018-19.
The Grants in Place of Taxes variance of ($11,808) is due to a 25 per cent program budget reduction
introduced in Budget 2019 for 2019-20.
The Alberta Community Partnership variance of ($9,505) is mostly due to $7,500 in funding for the
Edmonton and Calgary Metropolitan Region Boards for 2019-21, which had been committed and
expensed in 2018-19; plus $3,000 due to a one-time capital grant in 2018-19 provided to the
Municipal District of Greenview.
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Ministry of Municipal Affairs
Breakdown of Consolidated Revenues (actual)
For the Year Ended March 31, 2020
(unaudited)
(in thousands)

The following information presents detailed revenues of the ministry. The objective of detailed
revenues disclosure is to provide information that is useful in understanding and assessing the
financial impact of government's revenue raising and for enhancing legislative control.
$478,056

$26,329
Federal Grant
Programs

Disaster Financial
Assistance
Arrangements

$39,074

$61,639

Premiums, Licenses &
Prior Year
Fees
Expenditure Refunds

$14,568
Other

Federal Grant Programs
•

Federal Grant Programs were the largest source of Ministry revenue. These programs
consisted of the Federal Gas Tax Fund of $473,670 and Small Communities Fund of
$4,355.

Disaster Financial Assistance Arrangements
•

The Ministry recognizes Disaster Financial Assistance Arrangements (DFAA) revenue
when the Government of Canada issues an Order in Council declaring the Alberta disaster
to be of a concern to the Government of Canada. Because the accounts receivable from
the Government of Canada for DFAA is based on an estimate, subsequent adjustments to
the accounts receivable are reflected in the current year revenue. In 2019-20, DFAA
includes an adjustment of $26,329 as a result of changes in estimated future DRP costs.

Premiums, Fees and Licences
•

The most significant sources of revenue in Premiums, Fees and Licences are from the 911 Call
Centre Program and from the Safety Codes Council.
o

The Emergency 911 Act established a provincial monthly 911 levy on cellphones on April 1,
2014 ($0.44 fee per phone number per month). In 2019-20 these levies totaled $20,869.

o

The Safety Codes Council collects operating fees from municipalities, agencies and
corporations as well as certification, accreditation, appeals, and course fees. In 2019-20,
fees totaled $14,200.

Prior Year Expenditure Refunds (PYER)
•

In 2019-20 the Ministry recorded $34,826 in PYER revenue for 2013 Southern Alberta Flooding
DRP as a result of reduced projected DRP expenditures. Other DRPs were reduced $26,813 for a
total DRP change of $61,639.
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Ministry of Municipal Affairs
Consolidated Expenses – Directly Incurred by Object (actual)
For the Year Ended March 31, 2020
(unaudited)
(in thousands)

The following information presents expenses of the ministry that were directly incurred by object.
The objective of disclosure of expenses by object is to provide information that is useful in
evaluating the economic impact of government acquiring or consuming various types of resources.
Ministry expenses directly incurred by object
Salaries, Wages and
Employee Benefits
5% -- $77,894

Supplies and Services
and Other
3% -- $41,471

Grants
92% -$1,384,260

The Ministry's largest operating expense was grants which totalled 92% of operating expense.
The largest grant programs were as follows:
Municipal Sustainability Initiative and Basic Municipal Transportation Grant
Federal Gas Tax fund
Disaster Recovery
Grants in Place of Taxes
Library Services
Other
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$

670,773
473,670
128,981
41,184
31,161
38,491
$ 1,384,260
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Supplemental Financial Information
Department of Municipal Affairs
Lapse/Encumbrance (unaudited)
Year ended March 31, 2020
(in thousands)

Municipal Affairs | Annual Report 2019–2020

121

Financial Information

Department of Municipal Affairs
Schedule to Financial Statements

(Cont’d)

Lapse/Encumbrance (unaudited)
Year ended March 31, 2020
(in thousands)
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Department of Municipal Affairs
Schedule to Financial Statements
Lapse/Encumbrance (unaudited)

(Cont’d)

Year ended March 31, 2020
(in thousands)
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Ministry of Municipal Affairs
Payments Based on Agreements (unaudited)
For the Year ended March 31, 2020
(in thousands)

The following has been prepared pursuant to Section 25(3) of the Financial Administration Act.
The ministry has entered into agreements to deliver programs and services that are fully funded by
Aboriginal Affairs and Northern Development Canada to deliver the Alberta First Nations
Emergency Management Support Program.
Costs based on these agreements are incurred by the ministry under authority of Section 25 of the
Financial Administration Act. Accounts receivable includes $1,119 (2019 - $904) and accounts
payable includes $34 (2019 - $54) relating to payments based on agreement.
Amounts paid and payable based on agreements with program sponsors are as follows:

First Nations Emergency Management Support Program
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2020

2019

$ 962

$ 1,843
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Ministry of Municipal Affairs
Disaster Recovery Program (unaudited)
For the Year ended March 31, 2020
(in thousands)
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Ministry of Municipal Affairs
Trust and Other Funds Under Administration
For the Year ended March 31, 2020
(unaudited)
(in thousands)

The ministry administers trust funds that are regulated funds consisting of public money
over which the Legislature has no power of appropriation. As the ministry has no equity in
the funds and administers them for the purpose of various trusts, they are not included in
the ministry’s consolidated financial statements.
The financial statements of the following trust funds are prepared on a calendar year
basis and the net assets as disclosed in the audited financial statements of the trust funds
for December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 are as follows:
Special Areas Trust Account
Improvement Districts’ Trust Account

126

2019

2018

$ 313,746
51,822
$ 365,568

$ 306,049
29,301
$ 335,350
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Financial Information of Other Reporting Entities
Summary of Improvement Districts (unaudited)*
For the year ended December 31, 2019

Table of Contents
Summary Statement of Revenue and Expenditures (unaudited) .................................... 128
Detailed Statement of Revenue and Expenditures (unaudited) ...................................... 129

*NOTE: The unaudited financial information being
presented here was derived from the December 31, 2019
financial statements of each Improvement District.
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For the year ended December 31, 2019

Improvement Districts' Trust Account
Summary Statement of Revenue
and Expenditures (unaudited)

Financial Information | Improvement Districts’ Trust Account
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Improvement Districts' Trust Account
Detailed Statement of Revenue and Expenditures (unaudited)

Financial Information | Improvement Districts’ Trust Account
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Special Areas Trust Account
Financial Statements (audited)
For the year ended December 31, 2019
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Letter from Management

[Original signed by]

[Original signed by]

Chair, Special Areas Board

Director of Finance and Administration
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[Original signed by W. Doug Wylie FCPA, FCMA, ICD.D]
Auditor General
April 22, 2020
Edmonton, Alberta
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Statement of Financial Position

134

Municipal Affairs | Annual Report 2019–2020

Financial Information | Special Areas Trust Account

Statement of Operations
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Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets
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Statement of Cash Flows
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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Schedule of Salaries and Benefits
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Schedule of Segment Revenue and Expense Disclosure by Object
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Safety Codes Council
Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2019

Table of Contents
Independent Auditor`s Report ........................................................................................................ 162
Statement of Financial Position ...................................................................................................... 165
Statement of Operations .................................................................................................................... 166
Statement of Changes in Net Assets ............................................................................................. 167
Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses .................................................................... 167
Statement of Cash Flow...................................................................................................................... 168
Notes to Financial Statements......................................................................................................... 169

Municipal Affairs | Annual Report 2019–2020

161

Financial Information | Safety Codes Council Financial Statements

Independent Auditor`s Report

162

Municipal Affairs | Annual Report 2019–2020

Financial Information | Safety Codes Council Financial Statements

Municipal Affairs | Annual Report 2019–2020

163

Financial Information | Safety Codes Council Financial Statements

[Original signed by KMG LLP]

164

Municipal Affairs | Annual Report 2019–2020

Financial Information | Safety Codes Council Financial Statements

Statement of Financial Position

Municipal Affairs | Annual Report 2019–2020

165

Financial Information | Safety Codes Council Financial Statements

Statement of Operations

166

Municipal Affairs | Annual Report 2019–2020

Financial Information | Safety Codes Council Financial Statements

Statement of Changes in Net Assets
Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses

Municipal Affairs | Annual Report 2019–2020

167

Financial Information | Safety Codes Council Financial Statements

Statement of Cash Flow

168

Municipal Affairs | Annual Report 2019–2020

Financial Information | Safety Codes Council Financial Statements

Notes to Financial Statements

Municipal Affairs | Annual Report 2019–2020

169

Financial Information | Safety Codes Council Financial Statements

170

Municipal Affairs | Annual Report 2019–2020

Financial Information | Safety Codes Council Financial Statements

Municipal Affairs | Annual Report 2019–2020

171

Financial Information | Safety Codes Council Financial Statements

172

Municipal Affairs | Annual Report 2019–2020

Financial Information | Safety Codes Council Financial Statements

Municipal Affairs | Annual Report 2019–2020

173

Financial Information | Safety Codes Council Financial Statements

174

Municipal Affairs | Annual Report 2019–2020

Financial Information | Safety Codes Council Financial Statements

Municipal Affairs | Annual Report 2019–2020

175

Financial Information | Safety Codes Council Financial Statements

176

Municipal Affairs | Annual Report 2019–2020

Financial Information | Safety Codes Council Financial Statements

Municipal Affairs | Annual Report 2019–2020

177

Financial Information | Safety Codes Council Financial Statements

178

Municipal Affairs | Annual Report 2019–2020

Financial Information | Safety Codes Council Financial Statements

Municipal Affairs | Annual Report 2019–2020

179

Annual Report Extracts and Other Statutory Reports

Annual Report Extracts and Other Statutory Reports
Statement Regarding the Public Interest Disclosure Act

Section 32 of the Public Interest Disclosure (Whistleblower Protection) Act reads:
32(1) Every chief officer must prepare a report annually on all disclosures that have been
made to the designated officer of the department, public entity or office of the
Legislature for which the chief officer is responsible.
(2) The report under subsection (1) must include the following information:
(a) the number of disclosures received by the designated officer, the number of
disclosures acted on and the number of disclosures not acted on by the
designated officer;
(b) the number of investigations commenced by the designated officer as a result of
disclosures;
(c) in the case of an investigation that results in a finding of wrongdoing, a
description of the wrongdoing and any recommendations made or corrective
measures taken in relation to the wrongdoing or the reasons why no corrective
measure was taken.
(3) The report under subsection (1) must be included in the annual report of the
department, public entity or office of the Legislature if the annual report is made
publicly available.
Below is a summary of the activity in the Public Interest Disclosure Office pertaining to the
Department of Municipal Affairs from April 1, 2019 to March 31, 2020:
0 – Disclosures;
0 – Investigation;
0 – Investigations resulting in a finding of wrongdoing.
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